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VISION AND MISSION
BEREw

POWERING THE eWORLD
EEN ) ERR

1
A To be a manufacturer of world-class
standard in power electronics
HRBKENTIXEFEREED
v 2
To capture global demand in innovative
VIS'gN products in the new smart economy
B iR HRESRENHAHERNER
3

To be socially and environmentally
responsible to all stakeholders

EHERBRESTHOQFNERR

assion to improve & innovate
LEH AR KA

bligation to stakeholders
EEREYFE0E

MISSION
{E on

orld class standards & quality
AR A E Rk E

xcellence in operations
EHNEE

esponsibility to develop our people
BEAEEBAT

@D@HEHOG
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
REIER

Founded in 1983, Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) is
a leading electronics manufacturing services (‘EMS”) provider,
specialising in the manufacturing and sale of customised
industrial electronic components and products. With the
headquarter in Hong Kong and production facilities in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), Thailand, and the
Republic of Ireland (“Ireland”), the Group has established a
strong global presence.

The Group’s principal subsidiary, Trio Engineering Company
Limited (“Trio Engineering”), is a pioneer in industrial
electronics and was the first in Hong Kong to achieve Industry
4.0 Level 1 certification.

“Powering the eWorld” is the Group’s corporate vision. We
provide tailored engineering and contract manufacturing
services to a broad range of industries, offering advanced
solutions and innovative products to meet diverse business
needs. Our product portfolio includes electro-mechanical
products, switch-mode power supplies, smart chargers,
and smart vending systems, which are widely used across
gaming and entertainment, medical and healthcare,
telecommunications, commercial freight, security control, and
the rapidly growing new energy sector.

In line with global sustainability initiatives and the PRC’s “Belt
and Road” strategy, the Group is actively expanding its new
energy business in Kazakhstan, Central Asia, positioning it as
a key regional hub. We have established three model electric
vehicle (‘EV”) charging stations in Almaty, featuring Deltrix-
branded chargers, energy storage systems, digital advertising
screens, and intelligent car wash facilities, providing a
comprehensive service ecosystem.

Looking ahead, the Group is driving the development of a
“Greater Asia New Energy Business Circle”, a strategic initiative
aimed at integrating EV charging infrastructure, energy storage,
digital advertising, and intelligent service solutions across
multiple regions. This expansion underscores the Group’s long-
term commitment to sustainability, technological innovation,
and value creation for stakeholders.

ABOUT THE GROUP
FARAEE
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEEF

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Sze Chai (Chairman)

Mr. Tai Leung Lam

Mr. Lo Ka Kei Jun

Ms. Liu Yun (appointed with effect from 28 October 2024)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Kan Pak Cheong (appointed with effect from 28 May 2024)

Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen (appointed with effect from
28 August 2024)
Mr. Yip Wa Ming (appointed with effect from 28 October 2024)

Mr. Fung Chun Chung (retired with effect from 28 May 2024)
Mr. Hau Siu Laam (resigned with effect from 28 August 2024)
Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise (resigned with effect from

28 October 2024)

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Ms. Zhang Jingjing (appointed with effect from 2 July 2024 and
resigned with effect from 28 March 2025)
Mr. Kwan Chan Kwong (resigned with effect from 2 July 2024)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Yip Wa Ming (Chairman) (appointed with effect from

28 October 2024)
Mr. Kan Pak Cheong (appointed with effect from

28 May 2024)
Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen (appointed with effect from

28 August 2024)
Mr. Fung Chun Chung (retired with effect from 28 May 2024)
Mr. Hau Siu Laam (resigned with effect from 28 August 2024)
Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise (resigned with effect from

28 October 2024)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen (Chairman) (appointed
with effect from 28 August 2024)
Mr. Wong Sze Chai
Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley
Mr. Kan Pak Cheong (appointed with effect from
28 May 2024)
Mr. Yip Wa Ming (appointed with effect from 28 October 2024)

Mr. Fung Chun Chung (resigned with effect from 28 May 2024)
Mr. Hau Siu Laam (resigned with effect from 28 August 2024)
Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise (resigned with effect from

28 October 2024)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
RAEF

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Kan Pak Cheong (Chairman) (appointed with effect from
28 May 2024)

Mr. Wong Sze Chai

Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen (appointed with effect from
28 August 2024)

Ms. Liu Yun (appointed with effect from 28 October 2024)

Mr. Yip Wa Ming (appointed with effect from 28 October 2024)

Mr. Tai Leung Lam (resigned as a member with effect from

28 October 2024)
Mr. Fung Chun Chung (resigned with effect from 28 May 2024)
Mr. Hau Siu Laam (resigned with effect from 28 August 2024)
Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise (resigned with effect from

28 October 2024)

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Sze Chai (Chairman)
Mr. Kan Pak Cheong (appointed with effect from 28 May 2024)

Mr. Yip Wa Ming (appointed with effect from 28 October 2024)

Mr. Fung Chun Chung (retired with effect from 28 May 2024)
Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise (resigned with effect from
28 October 2024)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Cheung Yu Man

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Wong Sze Chai
Mr. Tai Leung Lam

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22nd Floor Prince’s Building

Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

LEGAL ADVISOR

Howse Williams
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INFORMATION FOR OUR INVESTORS

REZESZER

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Financial year end
Announcement of annual results

Annual report and sustainability report available online

31 December 2024
28 March 2025
28 April 2025

e Company website: http://www.trio-ieg.com (“Investor Relations” section)

e Hong Kong Stock Exchange website: www.hkexnews.hk

Annual report dispatch date
Annual general meeting
Ex-dividend date

Latest time for lodging share transfer documents for registration to

entitle the final dividend
Record date
Payment of final dividend

SHARE INFORMATION

Stock code
Board lot
Market capitalisation as at 31 December 2024

SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited

28 April 2025

27 May 2025

23 June 2025

24 June 2025

(Not later than 4:30 p.m.)
27 June 2025

14 July 2025

1710
4,000 shares
HK$133 million

Address:  17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2980 1333
Facsimile: (852) 2810 8185
Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
HBRE
2024 2023
—E-_ME =
HK$’000 HK$’000 Changes
FET FET o
(Restated)
(#€E2)
Revenue Wz 1,007,545 1,160,211 -13.2%
Gross profit E 5 187,485 229,790 -18.4%
Profit before income tax B P45 35 Al A1) 7,347 57,445 -87.2%
Profit for the year F N 8,558 47,149 -81.8%
Earnings per share (in HK cents) FRRAF) (L)
— Basic and diluted —HEARREE 0.86 4.71 -81.7%
Dividends per share (in HK cents) B S GBL)
— Final (Note) —REA (B172) 1.2 -
— Interim — R R - 0.8
1.2 0.8
Note: The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the shareholders ~ Mfit - ¥R KRR EBHFARAIRE ([BRR ) AREARAFR
of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at the annual general meeting of “ECRFRAASTEARTHRERFERS LHE
the Company to be held on 27 May 2025. % FA{EE -
Sales by product category for the years Sales by region for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 ended 31 December 2024 and 2023
BE_ZE-_NMER-FB-_=F+-A=+—HLFE BE-—E_NER-_ZE-_=F+-A=+—HILEE
NERTENHEER DB ESEWHESE
0.7%
0.5%
25.6% |y
32.8%
= 87.9%
ari% 89.1%
2024
2023
19.1%
11.6%
31.8%
35.2%
Electrosmechanical products Smart vending systems Europe North America The PRC (including Hong Kong)
O wezs O siemzs O mn O i E (B EES)
Smart chargers Switch-mode power supplies _ i
O sires R QO FhcestAsa o "

O Others
A
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBHE

Sales per capita™ (US$)
AGHEREN(ET)
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(1)  “Sales per capita” represents average sales per person, which is (1) [ABHER IEGAFHHEER - DUX KD
calculated by dividing total sales for a particular period by the number of EHERAR YIRS ABGE -

employees in the same period.

Sales, gross profit, and profit/(loss) for the years (HK$’000)
HEHE - EFNRFREF(BR) (FET)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBEE

Gross profit margin and net profit/(loss) margin
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Gross profit margin o et profit/(loss) margin
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Current ratio and quick ratio (times)
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERRE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group” or
“Trio Group”), | am pleased to present the annual report for
the financial year ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024”).

| am honoured to share that Trio Group has received the
“Standard Chartered Corporate Achievement Award -
Cross-border Corporate Outstanding Award” this year. With
over 40 years of industry experience, we have established
ourselves as a leading EMS provider, specialising in the
manufacturing and sale of industrial electronic components
and products to the European and US markets. Despite global
economic fluctuations, we have remained resilient, reflecting
the determination of our founders as Hong Kong industrialists.

OQur diverse product portfolio includes electro-mechanical
products, smart chargers, switch-mode power supplies,
and smart vending systems, which serve industries such
as gaming and entertainment, medical and healthcare,
telecommunications, commercial freight, security control, and
the fast-growing new energy sector.

In FY2024, economic conditions in Europe and North America
remained challenging, as customers in these regions adjusted
procurement strategies and managed excess inventories.
This led to a decline in orders, particularly for smart vending
systems and switch-mode power supplies.

To mitigate these challenges, the Group has strategically
expanded into the new energy sector and developed its
renowned self-owned “Deltrix” brand. In alignment with
global sustainability initiatives and the PRC’s “Belt and Road”
strategy, we are actively growing our new energy business
in Kazakhstan, positioning it as a key regional hub. Through
our partnership with Sinooil (China National Petroleum), we
are rolling out EV charging and digital advertising facilities
at approximately 140 Sinooil petrol stations across the
country. Three model EV charging stations have already been
established in Almaty, integrating Deltrix-branded EV chargers,
energy storage systems, digital advertising screens, and
intelligent car wash facilities.

RAERRBETIEXEFEEERAA([FL
ADLENMBAR (SHE[AEEIRHEE
BE=(Es)dERzE=e ((EB8])
RAREAEEEE_T_NF+_-_A=+—
BEFE((Z2-OMBRFEDZFERS °

AANRREZWNDZREEESFRENEITEE
AR - BREEAHE] - BREI0ZFNTT
&R BRMEKAELTHEFRERBKHE
B BFRENABRNEXBHSHETRE
FEHRER BEEHRKERS - HADA
RN - RBRTHEMABBAEREBEER
HYR A

HAZHAENERECBSREEM Bt

B FHHERREREERS  BARER
MiR%E - BERRE  BM BAXEE RLE

BIARRIEEREAFBEIRITE

RB- M EHERE - BONRALEOEERR
MATRNE - 1 To AR KB P R
SRR RETBRET - AT ERMRD - £
HRBLEHRARENER -

BIRRZENSE  AEBEEREEERE
BRITHLERAEZERXRBE MM Deltrix] o B2
EERAFEERBERPE —&F—K &
B RMEEGARERERMBAERE
% BEEMAEE GRS - BBESINoOI
(FEARAARER) NS ERHEER - &M
1E £ 15 B 72 H 38 491 40 @ Sinooil i M Uk 6 5% &
FREREREEESERE - —EAR&SES T
B BIE R R KB ZEY + A Deltrix g
BEHTERER  FHEES  BBEEERLE
BEVEE RN BN — B8 o
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
BRFIMBER

Looking ahead, we remain cautiously optimistic about our
EMS business, anticipating a gradual recovery in demand from
long-standing customers as economic conditions stabilise and
global interest rates ease.

The Group is also committed to enhancing its charging
infrastructure by deploying smart charging stations that
integrate solar power and energy storage systems.
These stations will support EV charging while creating a
comprehensive ecosystem incorporating digital advertising,
intelligent e-commerce, automated car wash services, and
convenience retail stores. Our integrated advertising platform
will enable Chinese enterprises to expand their market
presence in Central Asia, reinforcing our position as a leading
outdoor media provider in Kazakhstan.

Beyond Kazakhstan, we are expanding our new energy
operations into Uzbekistan, with plans to establish smart
charging stations and develop electric driverless heavy-duty
truck manufacturing facilities to support the country’s transition
towards sustainable transportation. This strategic initiative
underscores our commitment to advancing the clean energy
transition in Central Asia.

In addition, the Group is entering the Hong Kong and South-
east Asian markets, with an initial focus on Thailand and
Indonesia. By leveraging our expertise in new energy solutions,
we aim to establish a strong presence in these high-growth
regions.

Through these initiatives, the Group is advancing the
development of the “Greater Asia New Energy Business Circle”,
a strategic network that integrates EV charging infrastructure,
energy storage, digital advertising, and intelligent service
solutions across multiple regions. This expansion aligns with
our long-term commitment to sustainability, technological
innovation, and value creation for stakeholders.

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EFRBE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
FR®|E

| would like to express my sincere gratitude to our Board AAEABEMANEESHKE  BSEEKKLES
members, management team, and employees for their HLUERYIMHE @ BOBM AN ERBENE
dedication and contributions. | also extend my appreciation to Bt c N A NZ I BERHS R P EHNESSEE
our business partners, customers, suppliers, and Shareholders £+ &F - R MR ENEE ST R -
for their continued trust and support. Together, we will drive R {FISHEEK THBAIF - G248 - XA
innovation, maintain excellence, and create lasting value for all B#HHELIEREANEE -

stakeholders.

Wong Sze Chai =EE
Chairman and Executive Director FERHTEE
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025 &8 —E2-_AF=A=+N\H
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
BRFIMBER

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Sze Chai (E2 %), aged 63, joined the Group in
November 2022 and was appointed as the deputy chairman
and an executive director of the Company with effect from 16
December 2022. He was re-designated as the chairman of
the Board (“Chairman”) with effect from 31 January 2023 and
is responsible for the corporate and strategic development of
the Group. He is also the chairman of the risk management
committee (the “Risk Management Committee”), member of
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)
and the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
of the Company. He was appointed as the chairman of Panyu
Trio Microtronics Co. Ltd., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company incorporated in the PRC with effect from 24
September 2024. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group. Mr. Wong has extensive experience in corporate
management, business strategy, banking, corporate finance,
investment and accountancy. He also has wide experience
in businesses including investment banking, fintech and
manufacturing sectors.

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Financial Services degree
from University College Dublin, the National University of
Ireland in October 1995, a Master of Business Administration
degree from the University of South Australia in April 2000,
and a Master of Practising Accounting degree from the
Monash University in Australia in March 2006. Mr. Wong is
a fellow member of CPA Australia and Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants, respectively, and a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Bankers.

Mr. Wong has over 20 years of experience in the banking
field. Mr. Wong was a senior manager at the investment
banking department of The Sumitomo Bank Hong Kong
Branch, a senior vice president at the corporate banking and
structured finance department of China Construction Bank
Hong Kong Branch, the head of corporate and institutional
banking of Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Ltd., Hong
Kong Branch, and the head of corporate finance of corporate
banking, financial institutions and project management
at Bank of China (Hong Kong) Ltd. Moreover, he was a
managing director and the chief financial officer of China
Wealth Investments Ltd. from September 2008 to February
2015. He was also the head of corporate finance of Binhai
Investment Company Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”), stock code: 2886) from October 2010 to
April 2012, the group chief financial officer of Formax Capital
Market Limited (“Formax”) from March 2015 to July 2017, an
executive director and the chief executive officer of Perfectech
International Holdings Limited (“Perfectech”) (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
765) from December 2018 to February 2019. He was also an
executive director and the chief financial officer of China Shine
Capital Limited (formerly known as China Bravery Capital Ltd.)
from August 2017 to October 2022.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEERE

Mr. Tai Leung Lam (& R #), aged 77, is an executive Director
and the director of manufacturing of the Group. He resigned as
the chief executive officer of the Company (“Chief Executive
Officer”) on 1 September 2022. Mr. Tai joined the Group since
October 1985 and was appointed as a Director on 15 April
2016. He is responsible for the management, strategic planning
and development of the manufacturing division. Mr. Tai was a
director of Trio Engineering from October 1985 to July 1987,
and has been serving in the same position from July 1990 until
present. He is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
Mr. Tai has over 45 years of experience in the electronics
industry, and specialises in the establishment and management
of production plants for electronics manufacturing.

Mr. Tai obtained a Diploma in Wireless Mechanical Maintenance
without Wireless Telegraph Communication in The World
Electric Engineering College (B/HHAEH TIZE4R) in March
1965. During the period from October 1976 to 1983, Mr. Tai
held various positions in Timco Manufacturing Co. Limited
(“Timco”), a limited liability company incorporated in Hong
Kong and principally engaged in electronics manufacturing.
Timco was dissolved in December 1991 as a result of creditor’s
winding up.

Ms. Liu Yun (Z8|E), aged 42, has been appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 28 October 2024. Prior to
that, Ms. Liu was the general manager, capital markets of the
Company with effect from 16 October 2023. Ms. Liu is primarily
responsible for business promotion in the overseas markets,
handling of capital markets transactions and related legal
documentation. Ms. Liu obtained a degree of Bachelor of Law
from People’s Public Security University of China in July 2004
and a degree of Executive Master of Business Administration
from Renmin University of China in July 2014.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Liu worked in PRC’s
Intermediate People’s Court and served as the manager of
business development department and legal and compliance
department of a subsidiary of a listed company, Shenzhen
United Financial Microloan Joint Stock Co., Ltd,. She was also
the legal director of Formax and a lawyer at Beijing Gaopeng
(Shenzhen) Law Firm. Ms. Liu has nearly 20 years of experience
in financial, capital markets, and legal fields, and has engaged
in strategic business development, investment and merger and
acquisitions, joint venture management, legal risk control, and
regulatory compliance.
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Mr. Lo Ka Kei Jun (BZ#), aged 46, was appointed as an
executive Director on 1 September 2022 and is the director
of the marketing division. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Lo is responsible for the
management and supervision of the Group’s marketing, as
well as the supervision of factory production and operations,
management of communication with suppliers, internal control
and operation matters. He has over 20 years of experience
in international marketing and business development in the
electronics industry.

Mr. Lo obtained a higher national Diploma in Business
and Marketing in July 2001 and a bachelor of arts degree
in business management in September 2002 from the
Southampton Institute in the United Kingdom. He obtained
a master degree in management and a master degree in
business administration from Macquarie University in Australia
in November 2013 and December 2014, respectively.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley (E8#%), aged 70, was
appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 1
September 2022. He is one of the founders of the Group and
was the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer,
an executive Director of the Company, director of marketing,
member of the Remuneration Committee, chairman of the
Nomination Committee and chairman of the Risk Management
Committee before he retired on 25 May 2018. He obtained a
Diploma in Management Studies in the Hong Kong Polytechnic
(now known as Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in
September 1993 and has over 30 years of experience in the
electronics industry, in particular plastic injection moulding and
electronic assembly services.
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EERGREEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kan Pak Cheong (18 &), aged 62, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from
28 May 2024. Mr. Kan has over 35 years of experience in
real estate finance, retail, investment and fund management
sectors. He is currently the chief executive officer of Hillwell
Inc Limited, a professional firm providing investment advisory
and merger & acquisition services. Prior to that, Mr. Kan was
the director, head of retail commercial properties of Hong
Kong Land Holdings Limited (“‘Hong Kong Land”) responsible
for running top luxury retail malls within the group including
Landmark in Hong Kong.

Prior to joining Hong Kong Land, Mr. Kan was the head of real
estate — Greater China with Aberdeen Standard Investments
(Hong Kong) Limited and was the partner of Orion Partners
Holdings Limited responsible for China real estate business
investing and asset managing a number of shopping malls in
China. He also held senior positions with renowned property
developers and luxury brands including the general manager
at Shui On Land Limited (“Shui On Land”), a company whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 272),
senior corporate finance manager at Hang Lung Group Limited,
a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 10), managing director at China of Burberry
Asia Ltd. and the vice president (finance and operations) at
Lane Crawford. He successfully led the initial public offering
for Shui On Land on the Stock Exchange in 2006. Mr. Kan
earned a Master of Business Administration from University
of Strathclyde and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and Hong Kong Securities
and Investment Institute. He is also an associate member of
both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The
Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom.
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Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen (EEI#), aged 69, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 28
August 2024. Mr. Wong has twenty-eight years of banking
experience specialising in credit, marketing and general
management functions in Hong Kong, Macao and Mainland
China and fifteen years of investment and asset management
experience in Hong Kong, Macao, Mainland China and London,
the United Kingdom. He holds the degree of Master of Business
Administration from Bangor University (formerly known as
University College of North Wales (Bangor)), the United
Kingdom in cooperation with Alliance Manchester Business
School (formerly known as The Manchester Business School),
the United Kingdom. He is an associate of The London Institute
of Banking & Finance (formerly known as the Institute of
Bankers), the Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known
as the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators)
and the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries (formerly
known as the Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries)
respectively and was awarded the Chartered Governance
Professional qualification. Mr. Wong is also a fellow of the
Institute of Financial Accountants and the Institute of Public
Accountants and a certified management accountant of the
Institute of Certified Management Accountants, Australia. Mr.
Wong has been an independent non-executive director of
Vodatel Networks Holdings Limited, a company whose shares
are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8033),
since March 2020.

Mr. Yip Wa Ming (¥#8), aged 50, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from
28 October 2024. Mr. Yip is a founding member and director
of YECO Consulting Limited and a member of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference in Dongguan
City. He has worked at a “Big Four” international accounting
firm for more than 26 years, including the last 9 years as a
partner providing financial advisory services, with a focus on
restructuring and value creation services, in mainland China
and Hong Kong. Mr. Yip is a director of the GBA Youth
Innovation Entrepreneurship Foundation Limited, a charitable
organization in Hong Kong, and a director of Federation of
Hong Kong Foshan Associations. He is also a member of the
District Fire Safety Committee (Sai Kung District) of Home
Affairs Department of the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region. Mr. Yip graduated from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1997 with a degree of
Bachelor in Business Administration (major in professional
accountancy) and is a fellow member of both the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.
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EERGREEERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Kwan Chan Kwong (B8#&}*), aged 75, is one of the
founders of the Group and resigned as the Chief Executive
Officer with effect from 2 July 2024 and was appointed as a
consultant of the Group commencing from 2 July 2024. He had
been involved in the overall management as well as supervision
of the sales and marketing division of the Group before he
retired from his directorship in the Group by the end of 2015.

Mr. Kwan has over 40 years of experience in the electronics
industry and has established close and stable working
relationships with the customers of the Group.

Mr. Leung Tak Ho (REZEXK), aged 49, joined Trio Engineering
as the chief financial officer in December 2022 and was
appointed as the chief financial officer of the Company
(“Chief Financial Officer”) with effect from 31 January
20283. Mr. Leung has over 25 years of experience in auditing,
accounting, corporate governance and financial management.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Leung was the chief financial
officer, company secretary, and authorised representative of
Perfectech from September 2018 to September 2021. Mr.
Leung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Accountancy from
City University of Hong Kong in November 1997. He is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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Ms. Zhang Jingjing (3R& &), aged 41, joined the Company
as the general manager of business development of the
Company in August 2023, and is responsible for global market
exploration. Ms. Zhang has been appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer with effect from 2 July 2024 and resigned as
the Chief Executive Officer with effect from 28 March 2025.

Ms. Zhang obtained a degree of Bachelor of Mathematics and
Applied Mathematics from University of Electronic Science and
Technology of China in 2004, a degree of Master of Business
Administration — Operations Research and Finance from
University of Connecticut.

Ms. Zhang has over fifteen years’ experience in finance, hi-tech
industry, and global market. Before joining Trio Group, she has
worked with Ant Group, Formax, GE Capital North America and
JP Morgan Chase Bank consumer portfolio risk department
in global market innovation, financial risk management and
regulatory compliance functions.

Mr. Cheung Yu Man (3R 21#)), aged 40, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”)
with effect from 20 December 2022. Mr. Cheung has over
15 years of experience in legal and company secretarial field.
Mr. Cheung obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree in Business
Administration and Management from University of Huddersfield
in November 2007 and a Bachelor of Laws degree from the
University of London in November 2013. Mr. Cheung obtained
his Graduate Diploma in Legal Practice from The College of
Law in Australia in February 2017. Mr. Cheung is a lawyer
admitted in the Supreme Court of New South Wales. He is also
a member of the Law Society of New South Wales, Australia
and an associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute
in the United Kingdom.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group remains a leading EMS provider specialising in the
manufacturing and sale of customised industrial electronic
components and products, including electro-mechanical
products, switch-mode power supplies, smart chargers, and
smart vending systems. The Group’s products serve a diverse
range of industries, including gaming and entertainment,
medical and healthcare, telecommunications, commercial
freight, security control, and the rapidly growing new energy
sector. With headquarters in Hong Kong and production
facilities in the PRC, Thailand, and Ireland, the Group has
established a strong global presence.

In FY2024, economic conditions in Europe and North America
remained challenging, with high interest rates, currency
depreciation, and geopolitical uncertainties contributing to a
slowdown in economic activity. Customers in these regions
focused on managing excess inventories and adjusting
procurement strategies, leading to a decline in order volumes.
As a result, the Group’s revenue decreased by approximately
13.2% to approximately HK$1,007.5 million in FY2024,
compared to approximately HK$1,160.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (“FY2023"). This decline was
primarily driven by weakened demand for smart vending
systems and switch-mode power supplies in these key
markets.

In response to these challenges, the Group strategically
diversified into the new energy sector. The Group’s initiatives
include the production of key electronic components for solar
and wind power equipment, as well as the development of EV
chargers under the Group’s renowned self-owned “Deltrix”
brand. In line with the PRC’s “Belt and Road” initiative, the
Group launched new energy operations in Kazakhstan, Central
Asia, establishing three model EV charging stations in Almaty.
These stations integrate EV charging infrastructure, energy
storage, intelligent car wash facilities, and digital advertising
systems, forming a comprehensive EV charging ecosystem.
The integrated advertising platform is designed to support
PRC enterprises in expanding their market presence in Central
Asia. To further strengthen the Group’s position in the new
energy sector, the Group has established dedicated offices
in Hangzhou and Kazakhstan, enhancing engagement with
local partners and facilitating access to regional business
opportunities.
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The Group also expanded its global production capacity to
enhance efficiency and competitiveness. New manufacturing
facilities in the PRC and Thailand became operational in
FY2023 and FY2024, respectively. Additionally, a factory
building leased in the United Kingdom (the “UK”) is set to
commence operations in the first half of 2025, further boosting
production capacity. These strategic expansions strengthen
the Group’s ability to meet evolving customer demands and
enhance its competitive position.

While these strategic initiatives contributed to long-term
growth, they also led to an increase in administrative and
depreciation expenses related to production expansion and
infrastructure investments. However, the strong EMS business
performance in the second half of FY2024 helped turn the
first-half loss into a full-year profit, partially offsetting the
financial impact. As a result, profit attributable to owners of the
Company declined to approximately HK$8.6 million in FY2024,
as compared to approximately HK$47.1 million in FY2023.
Despite this, the Group remains committed to leveraging its
technological expertise, operational efficiencies, and market
diversification strategies to drive sustainable growth and
enhance shareholder value.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The following table summarises the amount of revenue
generated and as a percentage of total revenue from each
product category for FY2024 and FY2023:

Bt %5 1o R

Wz
TRPAEERSER S _MOPBRFERZ
T__HMREFEMELNWNE B REENKE
B

FY2024 FY2023 Changes
—E_MBREE —EHHREE B E)
HK$’000 %  HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %
F#ET % FET % FET %
Electro-mechanical
products HE E W 330,596 32.8 314,739 271  +15,857 +5.0
Smart vending systems EHEESE K4 320,494 31.8 407,826 352  -87,332 -21.4
Smart chargers B Ees 192,487 19.1 135,019 11.6  +57,468 +42.6
Switch-mode power
supplies SR 156,936 15.6 297,062 25.6 -140,126 -47.2
Others® EH o 7,032 0.7 5,565 0.5 +1,467 +26.4
Total Bt 1,007,545 100.0 1,160,211 100.0 -152,666 -13.2
Note: Kiat -
1) Others include automatic testing equipment (‘ATE”), power switch gear (1) HiheEBE s bl ([ BEeRBEE]) « TR

boards, and catering equipment control boards.

Revenue for FY2024 decreased by approximately HK$152.7
million as compared with FY2023, primarily due to the
decrease in sales of smart vending systems and switch-mode
power supplies as a result of the drop in customer demand,
as discussed in the section headed “Business Review” above.
However, this decrease was partially offset by the growth in
sales of smart chargers and electro-mechanical products.
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The table below summarises the geographical revenue segment
based on location of customers for FY2024 and FY2023:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWR DM

TERBER TN BFER_T =K
FREEFUEDEMMERE D

FY2024 FY2023 Changes
—E_NBREE TR CBHREE 23
HK$’000 %  HK$000 %  HK$'000 %
FET % FET % FET %
Europe® B 885,793 87.9 1,034,228 89.1 -148,435 -14.4
North America® EE®@ 65,522 6.5 84,189 A3 -18,667 -22.2
The PRC (including FE (Bt
Hong Kong) o)) 28,277 2.8 20,532 1.8 +7,745 el
South-east Asia® REggE® 6,539 0.7 7,503 0.6 -964 -12.8
Others® HEih@ 21,414 2.1 13,759 1.2 +7,655 +55.6
Total 45T 1,007,545 100.0 1,160,211 100.0 -152,666 -13.2
Notes: Kt -
(1) Europe includes Austria, Denmark, Estonia, France, Germany, Greece, 1) BUNEIERMF - J2&E BYRE - ER - =8 F

Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Lithuania, Malta, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, the
Netherlands and the UK.

2) North America includes the United States of America (the “US”).
(3) South-east Asia includes Malaysia, Philippines, Singapore and Vietnam.

(4) Others include Australia, Brazil, Israel, Japan, Kazakhstan and Taiwan.

Europe and North America continued to be the major markets
of the Group which in aggregate accounted for approximately
94.4% and 96.4% of total revenue in FY2024 and FY2023
respectively. Sales to customers in Europe had a decrease of
approximately 14.4% and sales to customers in North America
also reduced by approximately 22.2% in FY2024 compared to
FY2023, which was resulted from the decline in demand for the
Group’s products in these regions, as discussed in the section
headed “Business Review” above.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Cost of sales

The Group’s cost of sales mainly comprised direct materials,
direct labour costs, and manufacturing overheads. Cost of
sales decreased by approximately 11.9% from approximately
HK$930.4 million in FY2023 to approximately HK$820.1
million in FY2024. This reduction in cost of sales was primarily
attributable to decreases in material costs and direct labour
costs, reflecting the decrease in revenue in FY2024.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

As a result of the aforementioned factors, the Group achieved
a gross profit of approximately HK$187.5 million in FY2024,
representing a decrease of approximately 18.4% compared to
FY20283. The gross profit margin reduced by 1.2 percentage
points from 19.8% in FY2023 to 18.6% in FY2024.

Other income

Other income primarily comprises sales of scrap materials,
government grants and subsidies received in the PRC, rental
income, service income, commission income and dividend
income. The Group’s other income dropped from approximately
HK$4.6 million in FY2023 to approximately HK$4.4 million
in FY2024. This decrease was mainly due to a reduction in
government grants received in the PRC; however, it was
partially offset by an increase of approximately HK$1.2 million
in scrap material sales in FY2024.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses primarily consist of freight
and transportation expenses, sales commission expenses,
inspection fee, advertising and promotion expenses and
marine insurance expenses. These expenses increased from
approximately HK$18.6 million in FY2023 to approximately
HK$20.1 million in FY2024, primarily due to higher freight and
transportation costs, as well as increased inspection fees for
the inspection and certification of EV chargers during FY2024.
This increase was partially offset by a decrease in commissions
paid to sales agents resulting from lower sales in FY2024.
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Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consist of employee benefit
expenses (including directors’ remuneration), depreciation
for property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets,
auditors’ remuneration, insurance expenses and other general
administrative expenses. Administrative expenses grew by
approximately 10.0% from approximately HK$150.2 million in
FY2023 to approximately HK$165.2 million in FY2024. The
increase in administrative expenses was mainly due to rising
salaries and allowances for sales and administrative staff,
as well as increased depreciation for property, plant and
equipment in FY2024.

Other operating income, net

Other operating income, net mainly consists of net gain on
foreign exchange, fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and reversal of/(provision for)
impairment loss on trade receivables. Other operating income,
net increased from approximately HK$1.7 million in FY2023 to
approximately HK$6.8 million in FY2024, which was primarily
resulted from the increase in reversal of impairment loss on
trade receivables and net gain on foreign exchange in FY2024.

Finance income

Finance income refers to the interest earned on bank deposits.
It rose by approximately 274.8%, increasing from approximately
HK$1.3 million in FY2023 to approximately HK$5.0 million in
FY2024. This growth was primarily due to more time deposits
placed with banks in FY2024.

Finance expenses

Finance expenses include interest on lease liabilities and bank
borrowings, and bank charges. These expenses decreased
by approximately 1.2%, falling from approximately HK$11.2
million in FY2023 to approximately HK$11.0 million in FY2024.
This reduction was mainly due to: (i) a decline in bank
charges and interest expenses, and (ii) a partial offset from an
increase in interest on lease liabilities, primarily driven by the
commencement and extension of factory building leases in the
UK and Thailand, respectively.

Income tax credit/(expense)

There is an income tax credit of approximately HK$1.2 million
for the current year, compared to an income tax expense
of approximately HK$10.3 million in FY2023. This change is
primarily due to a decrease in current income tax expense in
Hong Kong and an increase in the deferred tax credit resulting
from the recognition of deferred tax assets in FY2024.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During FY2024, the Group primarily financed its operational
and capital requirements through a combination of cash flows
generated from the operating activities, proceeds from the
listing of the shares of the Company on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange on 23 November 2017 (the “Listing”)
and bank borrowings. As at 31 December 2024, the Group
had bank borrowings of approximately HK$21.3 million (2023:
approximately HK$20.7 million), classified as current liabilities
and primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) (2023:
HK$ and United States Dollars (“US$”)). The Group also had
undrawn borrowing facilities of approximately HK$161.5 million
(2023: approximately HK$220.4 million). In addition, the Group
had restricted bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$156.5 million (2023:
approximately HK$77.5 million), mainly denominated in HK$,
US$, Renminbi (‘RMB”), Thai Baht (“THB”) and Euro (‘EUR”).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current assets
of approximately HK$317.2 million (2023: approximately
HK$330.0 million). The Group’s current ratio, calculated by
dividing current assets by current liabilities, decreased from
2.9 as at 31 December 2023 to 2.2 as at 31 December 2024.
The Group’s gearing ratio, defined as net debt divided by total
capital, remained not applicable (‘N/A”) as at 31 December
2024 (2023: N/A), as the Group maintained a positive net cash
position (cash and cash equivalents minus borrowings). Net
debt is calculated as bank borrowings minus cash and cash
equivalents, while total capital is the sum of total equity, as
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position,
and net debt (if applicable).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to various financial risks, including (i)
market risk (comprising foreign exchange risk, price risk and
cash flow interest rate risk), (ii) credit risk; and (iii) liquidity
risk. The Group’s risk management programme focuses
on addressing the unpredictability of financial markets and
minimising potential adverse impacts on the Group’s financial
performance.
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Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong, the PRC, Thailand
and Ireland. Entities within the Group are exposed to foreign
exchange risk due to currency fluctuations, particularly in
relation to US$, RMB, THB and EUR. Foreign exchange risk
arises from export sales, purchases, other future commercial
transactions and monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
currencies other than the entity’s functional currency.

The management of the Company has established a policy
requiring the Group to manage its foreign exchange risk
against its functional currencies. The Group mitigates this risk
by closely monitoring foreign currency movements and may
enter into forward foreign exchange contracts should the need
arise. During FY2024 and FY2023, the Group did not enter into
any forward foreign exchange contract.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk from
its investments in equity instruments, which are classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The Group
mitigates its price risk exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risk and return profiles, and ensuring
the investment portfolio is frequently reviewed and monitored.

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk primarily arises from borrowings.
Borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk, which is partially offset by cash
held in banks at variable rates. The Group does not adopt any
interest rate hedging strategy.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

During FY2024 and FY2023, all bank borrowings of the Group
were arranged at floating rates varied with prevailing market
condition.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had bank borrowings of
approximately HK$21.3 million (2023: approximately HK$20.7
million), primarily denominated in HK$ (2023: HK$ and US$).

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risks are primarily attributable to financial
instruments that are trade and other receivables, deposits, time
deposits and cash held in banks.

In respect of time deposits and cash held in banks, the credit
risk is considered low as the counterparties are banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies.

The management of the Group conducts periodic assessment
on the recoverability of trade and other receivables based on
historical payment records, the duration of the overdue periods,
the financial strength of debtors and the presence of any
disputes with the debtors. According to the Group’s historical
experience in collection of trade and other receivables,
the irrecoverable trade and other receivables fall within the
recognised allowances and the management is of the opinion
that adequate provision for uncollectible receivables has been
made.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a concentration of
credit risk as 45.6% (2023: 49.0%) and 84.2% (2023: 81.0%)
of the total trade receivables due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively. In order
to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits
and credit approvals.
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Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasts are performed in the operating entities of
the Group, taking into account debt financing plans, covenant
compliance, and any applicable external regulatory or legal
requirements, such as currency restrictions.

The Group manages liquidity risk through various measures,
including orderly realisation of short-term financial assets
and receivables, and securing long-term financing through
borrowings. The Group maintains funding flexibility by ensuring
sufficient bank balances, committed credit lines and access to
interest-bearing borrowings. These measures enable the Group
to sustain its business operations in the foreseeable future.

COMMITMENTS

(@) The Group’s capital expenditure on property, plant and
equipment contracted for but not recognised as liabilities
as at 31 December 2024 amounted to HK$139,000
(2023: HK$4,800,000).

(b)  The Group has recognised right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for all leases, except for short-term leases
with original lease term of less than one year. The total
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
leases for which no lease liabilities have been recognised
by the Group as at 31 December 2024 amounted to
HK$362,000 (2023: HK$152,000).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves. As at 31 December
2024, the Company had 1,000,000,000 in issue (2023:
1,000,000,000 shares).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not hold any
significant investments (2023: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions nor disposals
of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during FY2024
(2023: nil).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as those disclosed in the prospectus of the Company
dated 13 November 2017 (the “Prospectus”) or otherwise in
this annual report, the Group currently has no other plans for
material investments and capital assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024 in
respect of:

A PRC subsidiary of the Company is currently involved in
labour disputes with certain former employees regarding
compensation for the termination of their employment
contracts. The Company has sought legal advice from law
firms in the PRC, which indicates that it is likely the judgment
will be in favour of the Group. Therefore, no provision has
been recognised in relation to these disputes. The potential
undiscounted amount of total payments that the Group would
be required to make in the event of adverse decisions related
to these lawsuits is estimated to be approximately HK$6.0
million.

The Group did not have material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2023.
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TREASURY MANAGEMENT

During FY2024, there were no material changes in the
Group’s funding and treasury policies. The Group maintains
an adequate level of cash and banking facilities to support its
normal business operations.

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the
continuity of the Group as a going concern while maximising
the return to the Shareholders through an optimal balance of
debt and equity. The Group manages its capital in proportion
to risk and makes necessary adjustments to its overall capital
structure. The management of the Group closely monitors
trade receivable balances for any overdue amounts on an
ongoing basis and only trade with creditworthy parties. The
management of the Group carefully monitors the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of its
assets, liabilities and commitments can meet its funding
requirements and effectively manage liquidity risk.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the property, plant and equipment
amounted to approximately HK$19.3 million (2023:
approximately HK$22.9 million), bank deposits amounted to
approximately HK$15.4 million (2023: approximately HK$16.5
million), financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
amounted to HK$ nil (2023: approximately HK$1.9 million)
and an indemnity for an unlimited amount executed by the
Company were pledged as security for the bank borrowings of
the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 1,310
employees (2023: 1,560). The Group’s employee benefit
expenses mainly included salaries, overtime payment,
discretionary bonus, directors’ remuneration, other staff
benefits and contributions to retirement schemes.

For FY2024, the Group’s total employee benefit expenses
(including directors’ remuneration) amounted to approximately
HK$183.1 million (2023: approximately HK$192.6 million).
Remuneration is determined with reference to the qualification,
experience and work performance, while the discretionary
bonus is based on work performance, the Group’s financial
performance for the year, and prevailing market conditions.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Group operates a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible Directors and employees of the Group, who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. No share
options were granted, exercised or lapsed under the Share
Option Scheme during FY2024. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group did not have any outstanding share options granted
under the Share Option Scheme (31 December 2023: nil).

The total number of share options available for grant under
the scheme mandate limit of the Share Option Scheme was
70,000,000 as at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024.

The Share Option Scheme was conditionally approved and
adopted in compliance with Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock
Exchange by written resolutions of the then Shareholder on
27 October 2017. In any event, any grant of options under
the Share Option Scheme shall comply with the amended
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules which took effect
on 1 January 2023 notwithstanding any provisions of the Share
Option Scheme.
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
BRFIMBER

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to (i) motivate
the eligible persons (as set out in the paragraph below) to
optimise their performance and efficiency for the benefit of
our Group; and (i) to attract, retain or otherwise maintain on-
going relationships with the eligible persons who are significant
to and/or whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
performance, growth and success of our Group.

The participants of the Share Option Scheme include: (i)
any director, employee, consultant, professional, customer,
supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to any
member of the Group or a company in which the Group holds
an interest or a subsidiary of such company (the “Affiliate”);
(i) the trustee of any trust the beneficiary of which or any
discretionary trust the discretionary objects of which include
any director, employee, consultant, professional, customer,
supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to any
member of the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii) a company
beneficially owned by any director, employee, consultant,
professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or
contractor to any member of the Group or an Affiliate.

As at 31 December 2024 and as at the date of this annual
report, the total number of shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme was 70,000,000 (2023: 70,000,000
shares), representing 7% (2023: 7%) of the issued share capital
(excluding treasury shares, if any) of the Company.

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company, must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date of listing of
the Company. The 10% limit may be refreshed at any time
by obtaining approval of the Shareholders in general meeting
provided that the total number of the Company’s shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Company, must not exceed 10% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at the date of the approval of the refreshed
limit.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWR DM
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Under the Share Option Scheme, the number of shares
issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted
and which may be granted to any individual in any 12-month
period up to the date of the grant, shall not exceed 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue. Any further grant of options
in excess of this limit must be separately approved by the
Shareholders in a general meeting with such grantee and his/
her close associates abstaining from voting. Any grant of an
option to a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder
of the Company (or any of their respective associates) must
be approved by the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is the
grantee of the option).

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder of the
Company or an independent non-executive Director (or any
of their respective associates) will result in the total number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted to such person under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Company (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) in any 12-month period up to and including the
date of grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the
shares in issue and having an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the shares at the date of each grant, in excess
of HK$5,000,000, such further grant of options is required to
be approved by the Shareholders at a general meeting of the
Company, with voting to be taken by way of a poll.

An offer made shall remain open for acceptance by the eligible
participant concerned for a period of not less than 3 business
days from the date of offer. Upon acceptance of an option to
subscribe for shares, the eligible participant shall pay HK$1 to
the Company as consideration for the grant. The subscription
price of a share subject to options granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall be a price determined by the Board
and notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher
of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the grant of
the option; and (i) the average closing price of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of the grant of
the option.
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
BRFIMBER

Under the Share Option Scheme, options granted are
exercisable after three years but not exceeding ten years from
the date of the grant.

No share options were granted, exercised or lapsed under the
Share Option Scheme during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on 23 November 2017. As
at 31 December 2024, the remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme is approximately 2.9 years. However, the Shareholders
may by a resolution in general meeting at any time terminate
the Share Option Scheme. Upon expiry or termination of the
Share Option Scheme, no further options shall be offered but
in all other respects the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are also set out in
note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

In light of the amendments to the Listing Rules relating to share
options schemes and share award schemes of listed issuers
which came into effect on 1 January 2023, the Board proposes
to terminate the Share Option Scheme and adopt a new share
option scheme to replace the Share Option Scheme.

At the annual general meeting to be held on Tuesday, 27 May
2025 (the “AGM”), an ordinary resolution will be proposed
to the Shareholders to terminate the Share Option Scheme
and to approve the adoption of the new share option scheme
pursuant to which options may be granted to the eligible
participants to subscribe for shares upon and subject to the
terms and conditions of the rules of the new share option
scheme. Further details in relation to the proposed termination
of the Share Option Scheme and the adoption of the new share
option scheme are set out in the circular to the Shareholders
despatched together with this annual report.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWR DM
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risks of non-compliance with
such requirements. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief, and having made all reasonable
enquiries, the Group has complied with all relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong and other jurisdictions applicable to
the Group in all material respects during FY2024.

The Group also complies with the requirements under the
Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance,
Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”) for the
disclosure of information and corporate governance in all
material respects.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the
environment from its business activities. The Group continually
seeks to identify and manage environmental impacts
attributable to its operational activities in order to minimise
these impacts if possible.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises employees as one of the valuable assets
of the Group. The Group strictly complies with the labour laws
and regulations in Hong Kong and other jurisdictions applicable
to the Group and regularly reviews the existing staff benefits for
improvement.

The Group provides good quality services to customers and
maintains a good relationship with them. The Group is able to
establish trust and long-standing business relationship with its
major customers.

The Group also maintains effective communication and
develops long term and stable relationships with suppliers.
During FY2024, there was no material dispute nor
disagreement between the Group and its suppliers.
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
BRFIMBER

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWR DM

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS STRATEGIES ¥R FHEERERER LR

WITH ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

The following sets out a comparison of the business strategies NN #HFIN T W HRFEREZEAFRA
as stated in the Prospectus with the Group’s actual business  Hi + FRH% 5 2 P 00 3 716 56 B B AN &= [F TR %
progress for FY2024 and up to the date of this annual report: TRHER Z L8 -

Business strategies as stated in the Prospectus

BIRER AR T R R

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

BEXAFHRANNERELER

Continue to expand the customer base in the
European market and explore new markets in the
PRC, the US and other Asian countries

SERERBONTISEPRURESRE - EEHEEA M
NG

The ongoing global trends toward digital advancement
and new energy transitions continue to drive
sustained demand for innovative technologies,
including medical and healthcare devices, smart
charging solutions, EV chargers, energy-efficient
equipment, and self-service kiosks. Capitalising
on these opportunities, the Group’s marketing
team has successfully expanded its customer base
across Europe, the US, the PRC (including Hong
Kong), and other Asian markets. To further leverage
these emerging trends, the Group plans to devote
additional resources toward strengthening its
sales and marketing initiatives, ensuring it remains
well-positioned to meet evolving market needs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Business strategies as stated in the Prospectus

BB ER A X R

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

BEAFHRAMNERELER

Manufacture products of higher value and/or with
higher profit contribution per the resources

REREEEERR R/ I BERESNER

The Group specialises in the manufacturing and sale

of customised industrial electronic components
and products. Its diverse product range includes
electro-mechanical products, switch-mode power
supplies, smart chargers, and smart vending
systems. These products cater to a broad spectrum
of industrial and commercial applications,
such as medical and healthcare devices, new
energy infrastructure, telecommunications
networks, commercial freight systems, security
and access control technologies, and gaming
and entertainment systems. Renowned for their
exceptional quality, technical precision, and ability
to deliver high value, these products contribute
significantly to profitability.
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
BRFIMBER

Business strategies as stated in the Prospectus

BIRER A E T R R

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWR DM

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

BEXAFHRANNERELER

Continue to expand the operations in ATE business
segment

H TR N B B LIRS

The global economic slowdown and uncertain
business environment have led the Group’s ATE
business customers to adopt a cautious approach
to project development and capital investment,
resulting in a decline in demand for ATEs. In
response, the Group has decided to suspend its
expansion plans in the ATE business and reallocate
resources to strengthen its core industrial
electronic manufacturing services. This strategic
shift enables the Group to navigate economic
challenges, optimise operational efficiency, and
remain committed to delivering high-quality
industrial electronic solutions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Business strategies as stated in the Prospectus

BB ER A X R

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

BEAFHRAMNERELER

Strengthen the sales and marketing efforts
in the industrial electronic manufacturing
services sector

R TREFRERGAENHEREHNE

The Group prioritises maintaining strong
relationships with customers and partners through
regular visits, fostering better cooperation and
project development. Additionally, it actively
collaborates with customers, design houses,
and industry participants to drive innovation
and explore new products. By participating in
industry exhibitions, trade fairs, and promotional
campaigns, the Group stays informed about
market developments, connects with potential
customers, and seizes emerging opportunities.
To enhance its online presence, the Group
places significant emphasis on enriching
website content. This includes providing timely
corporate news and updates, showcasing state-
of-the-art smart manufacturing processes, and
highlighting superior-quality industrial electronic
products. Through these efforts, the Group aims to
strengthen its reputation and solidify its position
as a leading provider of customised industrial
electronic components and products.
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
BRFIMBER

Business strategies as stated in the Prospectus

BB E R A T R R

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWR DM

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

BEAFHRANNERELER

Further enhance the production efficiencies
and expand the production capacity

As disclosed in the Company's announcements dated
23 April 2021, 22 June 2021, 15 December 2021,
18 March 2022, and 13 May 2022, along with the
circular dated 26 July 2021, the Group entered into
tenancy agreements with the Shiji Cooperative
Economic Association of Dongchong Town, Nansha
District, Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province
(BEREABRMNTEARIBELAERNSIERERS
#t) for the lease of two factory buildings. These
facilities became operational in FY2023, with one
building designated as a warehouse and the other
as a production facility. Additionally, in FY2023,
the Group expanded its operations by leasing
an additional factory building near its existing
production facility in Thailand, which commenced
operations in the second half of 2024.

Further strengthening its global presence, the
Group leased a factory building in the UK in 2024,
which is expected to become operational in the
first half of 2025. These new production facilities
are equipped with advanced automation and digital
technology, significantly enhancing production
efficiency.

This strategic expansion allows the Group to
increase its production capacity and better meet
the evolving needs of its customers. With these
initiatives in place, the Group is confident in
further strengthening its position as a leading
provider of industrial electronic manufacturing
services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Business strategies as stated in the Prospectus

BB ER A X R

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

BEAFHANNERELER
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
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Business strategies as stated in the Prospectus

BB E R A T R R

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWR DM

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

BEAFHRANNERELER

Continue to recruit talents and professionals

HEBEHREEREAT RERALT

To maintain its competitive edge in the industrial
electronics manufacturing industry, the Group
has implemented a strategic approach focused
on recruiting and developing talents and
professionals. As part of its commitment to high
value-added solutions and the integration of
new technologies, the Group has transformed
its strategic talent centre (“STC”) in Guangzhou
City, Guangdong Province, the PRC, into an
innovation and software application development
centre. This transformation aims to attract
and cultivate technological talent, enhance the
Group’s infrastructure, and drive the application
of advanced technologies and innovation across
its operations. As of 31 December 2024, the STC
employed eighteen individuals to provide a wide
range of value-added services for the Group.
Looking ahead, the Company’s management
remains dedicated to continuously attracting
and recruiting talented individuals of the highest
calibre to expand the STC. This ensures they can
provide essential support to the Group’s ongoing
operations and contribute to its continued growth
and success in the industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DN

USE OF PROCEEDS

The following table sets forth the status of use of net proceeds

from the Listing as at 31 December 2024

FriERIEAE

TRINEEMA/RBFER T _MF+ =
A=1t—BWERBR

The actual The actual Expected
net proceeds The reallocation  net proceeds Utilised net timeline of full
prior to the on 22 December  subsequent Utilised net proceeds utilisation
reallocation on 2023 to the First proceeds Unutilised during the of the balance
25 October 2019 (the “Second  Reallocation upto  netproceeds yearended  Balance as at as at
Business strategies as set out (the “First TheFirst  Reallocation”) andthe Second 31 December asatJanuary 31 December 31 December 31 December
in the Prospectus Reallocation”) Reallocation (Note)  Reallocation 2023 024 204 204 204
HZ8-nf
tAZ1EH R-gzzf ERER BE-3-mE jmt
EFip [ TZRZT2RN ARRECR BEC%-zE WCRIBE f2RS1-H t2A=1-H
(TERENAR) EfAR  ENARE  ToR=T-A -A-Bf LEE  RZ3-RE 38ER
HERRE (ME=REHIR)) ERiE  CHANKS FERKE BERM  tZA=t-A 3
RREEFENERRE JEFE  ERENIR ) HEER SERE FERE  FRRERR G RERER
HKS'milon~— HKS'millon KK’ million — HKS'millon  HKS'millon  HKS'millon  HKS'millon  HKS' millon
574 G5BT G5k FEET GEER 7574 57 G581
Development of new production base 18 - - 8 (53.6) 2.2 (24.2) - N/A
BREERY TR
- installation of SMT production lings,
interchangeable PCB assembly
production fines and other machineries
and equipment in the Group's new
production bases in the PRC and
Thalland
(the “Sub-item 1') frore/ 542 - (133 409 (298) 11 (11.1) - N/A
EASERRERRENMEEEY
SMTHER - TEAPCBAREER
REMEHR
([ABE1 ) h) TR
- advance payment of rental depost,
electricty installation charges and
rental prepayment in respect of the
Group’s new production base 144 - - 144 (144) - - - N/A
BFEEREERNLRE BF
RERBSBAZE T
- configuration of the Group's new
production bases including leasehold
improvements
(the “Sub-item 3') (0re/ 92 - 133 25 (9.4) 134 (13.9) - N/A
REEREERNORE (BFRENF
%) (138R3)) () TR
Ungrading of existing production facilties 45 - - 45 (45) - - - N/A
TR ER TR
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BEMERER
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENRR DN
The actual The actual Expected
net proceeds The reallocation  net proceeds Utilised net timeline of full
prior to the on22 December  subsequent Utilised net proceeds utilisation
reallocation on 2023 to the First proceeds Unutilised during the of the balance
25 Qctober 2019 (the “Second  Reallocation upto  netproceeds yearended  Balance as at as at
Business strategies as set out (the “First TheFirst ~ Reallocation”) andthe Second 31 December asatJanuary 31 December 31 December 31 December
in the Prospectus Reallocation”)  Reallocation (Note/  Reallocation 2028 2024 2024 2024 2024
R-&-1f
TRt H-gzzf ERER HE-R-DE jmt
BB TZAZtIRN AERESR  BES3SZE MCBIRE f2AS1-H t2Az1-8
(TERENAR) EfAR  ENARE  fT2R=T-A -A-Bh LEE  RZ3-RE 3888
HERRE (ME=REHIR) ERfE  CBRNME  ABRAFR 28RN tZA=t-A 3
RREEFENEHRE TERE  ERENAR ) HEFE SEFE FERE  FARERE G RERER
HKS' millon— HKS'millon — HKS'millon ~ HKS'millon  KKS'millon ~ HKS'million  HKS'milion KK’ million
-7 -7 FEET FEET .13 G5BT -7 - 57
Establishment of offices in Dublin, Ireland
and Paris, France 113 83 - 30 (3.0) - - - N/A
EERRSR AR SR ik
Establishment of the STC in Guangzhou
Ciy, Guangdong Province, the PRC 13 (6.0 - 63 6.3) - - - N/A
RHERRARNTRUBRAL R &R
Working capital and ather general corporate
DUIDOSes 51 - - 51 (.1) - - - N/A
EERCRAD-ROERE T
Business developments and operations in
Europe - 133 - 133 (133 - - - N/A
EEETERERREE i
1100 - - 100 (65.9) 42 (242 -
Note: Having taken into account the latest business development of the Group  ff# - EEAEF ST EEEREREREE  FHeD R

and the business needs, the Board resolved to change the use of the
unutilised net proceeds by (i) reallocating HK$13.3 million from the Sub-
item 1 to the Sub-item 3; and (ii) inclusion of the new production base
in Thailand in the Sub-item 1 and the Sub-item 3. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 22 December 2023 for further
details in relation to the change of use of proceeds.

%@ (i)1513,300,000 B TH A EE1EH D ERESD
HE3: R(iEREFEEEMMADTER I RSER
3 UBRERSAEMEREFENAR - BRNER
FRIERZE—LHE  FRERRFBHAE=ZT =
=F+-A=-t+=HANA% -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

The Board closely monitors the use of net proceeds with
reference to those disclosed in the Prospectus and the
announcements of the Company dated 25 October 2019
and 22 December 2023 as to the change in use of proceeds
from the Listing. The net proceeds from the Listing have been
fully utilised as at 31 December 2024 in accordance with the
expected timeline and purposes as previously disclosed.

OUTLOOK

The Group remains cautiously optimistic while navigating global
economic uncertainties. Strong EMS business performance
in the second half of 2024 turned the first-half loss into a
full-year profit, reflecting robust demand, driven by rising
health awareness, digital transformation, and the global shift
to new energy. To capitalise on these trends, the Group is
strengthening its sales and marketing efforts, exploring new
opportunities, and investing in advanced technologies to
enhance production efficiency.

In alignment with global sustainability initiatives and the PRC’s
Belt and Road strategy, the Group is actively expanding its
new energy business in Kazakhstan, establishing it as a key
regional hub. The Group has partnered with Sinooil (China
National Petroleum) to set up EV charging stations and digital
advertising facilities across approximately 140 Sinooil gas
stations in the country. Three model EV charging stations have
already been established in Almaty, integrating Deltrix-branded
chargers, energy storage systems, digital advertising screens,
and intelligent car wash facilities.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to enhance its
charging infrastructure by deploying smart charging stations
integrating solar power and energy storage systems. These
stations will not only support EV charging but also form a
comprehensive ecosystem, combining digital advertising,
intelligent e-commerce, automated car wash services, and
convenience retail stores. The integrated advertising platform
aims at supporting Chinese enterprises in expanding their
market presence in Central Asia, reinforcing the Group’s goal
of becoming the leading outdoor media provider in Kazakhstan.

EE2ERRERRARATBEHAE-ZT—N
F+A-t+HRAR-_ZE-_=F+-HA=-+—H
ERAEN EMABRIERENASHMEENA
A BYERMEBRIBFEMNFERABER - K=
T_NE+-_A=+—H " LWHAERIEFE
EREBEMBEENEREER AR REESA -

RE
AEEHEHREHENTEEERITEERLESE -
ETHRERBEBR T _OFTHFFENRY
KRB EFFHERE/2FHEN - RBRTHER
FERRES  BFCBERZRAFERER
MES TERRY - REEZFTBE - ~5E
EMmssEEREENE RRABBRIER
FTERMARR D EERE -

REGERAFHEZRBERTEI 5K
bR - AEB LRSI RERE R ATIE R
RER  BETEREHEEER - AEED
ESinooil (P EIAMRARER)GIE - EWRE

52 B4R #7140 E Sinooil i M IE & 32 EEN/TE
B MBS ESHRE - —AESGEHTEARS

WE R ARBRZY - £46 T Deltrix g E
BTERER  WERR  BEEERFNIEE

SEERR M —H8 o

RERE  AEBBEENRTEEMRIEE
R AMEBERAGERFERANEERE
U EERBUTERR/ED TERERMHEX
B EBEK-—BEFEEBES  HHER -
BEAERERENTEENERLRSL - %
EEEFEEEXRTRECREAREFTTN
MmN ZEEAKERASRERIIBALS
SMREEIRE M BT o
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Beyond Kazakhstan, the Group is expanding its new energy
operations into Uzbekistan, with plans to establish smart
charging stations and build electric driverless heavy-duty truck
manufacturing facilities to support the country’s transition
toward sustainable transportation. This strategic expansion
reinforces the Group’s commitment to contributing to the new
energy transition in Central Asia.

Beyond Central Asia, the Group is expanding its new energy
business into Hong Kong and South-east Asia, with an initial
focus on Thailand and Indonesia. By leveraging its expertise
in new energy solutions, the Group aims to establish a strong
presence in these rapidly growing markets.

Through these initiatives, the Group is advancing its vision
of creating a “Greater Asia New Energy Business Circle”, a
strategic network that integrates EV charging infrastructure,
energy storage, digital advertising, and intelligent service
solutions across multiple regions. This expansion aligns
with the Group’s long-term commitment to sustainability,
technological innovation, and value creation for stakeholders.

The Group will continue to focus on identifying and capitalising
on emerging opportunities in the new energy sector. By
enhancing the Group’s sales and marketing strategies and
investing in key areas of growth, the Group aims to strengthen
its market position and drive long-term success. The Group’s
commitment to delivering excellence and creating value for
stakeholders will remain a central priority.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWR DM

BRTWRERIBZIN AREBEHFEFTERE
BRERERSZBI=ENIE  WEEYEERE
MREEEHEARREREAERE U
BzEmAFHEBERER o 1R MHER
HE—PEEAEE AT MR FEREREL
BHRIA A ©

BRT7HREN ARENFEREGLERER
BRREE MRBERRERBERNED
%o REREMERBRARTENERA
B ARBEERZFRAEBRNMISELR
BEEIEDT L

BERERE  ARBELEEHRERAZI KD
MEreEREm B E ISR - G2 —lREZ @i
B EAEPIEAEEMRRE  EREFET
BB RS LB IR EIRT R BRI ABA -
IR AANEEHAFEER - KIMaIH &
HRHENEE/IENRIAAGE

RER B S M B T TN B S R R BE R AT Y
HEHE - BBEFARENHEE ML RS
AERENERIERES  ~AEEEHEZEE
Mg RIESRIKY - AREH N RFN
EREFHRERAEEE  DEEAKEN
BHEER -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBRSE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based
on the principles of good corporate governance and code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Company
is committed to ensuring a quality board and transparency and
accountability to the Shareholders.

The Company complied with all code provisions in the CG
Code, and adopted the recommended best practice of the CG
Code so far as they are relevant and practical during FY2024.

The Board has reserved for its decision and consideration in
relation to (i) formulating the strategic objectives of the Group;
(ii) considering and deciding the Group’s significant operational
and financial matters, including but not limited to substantial
mergers and acquisitions and disposals; (i) overseeing the
Group’s corporate governance practices; (iv) ensuring effective
risk management and internal control systems in place; (v)
directing and monitoring the senior management in pursuit
of the Group’s strategic objectives; and (vi) determining the
remuneration packages of all Directors and the Group’s senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments for loss or termination of their office
or appointment. Implementation and execution of Board
policies and strategies and the daily administrative matters
are delegated to the respective Board committees and the
management team of the Company.

The Board conducts at least four regular Board meetings
in a year and additional meetings will be held or resolutions
in writing signed by all Directors in lieu of a meeting will be
arranged as and when required. If a substantial shareholder
of the Company or a Director has a conflict of interest in a
transaction which the Board determines to be material, it will
be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened
Board meeting. Comprehensive information on matters to
be discussed at the Board meeting will be supplied to the
Directors in a timely manner to facilitate discussion and
decision making.

ARRZEEERTRIE LR AIMERC AR
HOFERTA([REERTAU D ZRIFEE
BIRM R AR SFAIRETSL » NARIBUDRER
SEENEEERENE  TERAREREE -

4

/

AR—Z_NYRFECETHALEE
Az s AR WHRMBREATRINE
FREEESHEAAT) -

X

Bk ox B
S UIEN

1l
e
EE

1

=112

EZeREUTFEHERERERE : ()HE
AEENKBEUEER  (NZERRAEREED
EZLENMBEE BREETRREREH
MR HESE  (ERAKENEEER
R (iv) R R B B R K B IR K A #B B 1
B (WEERERSREEBERAERENEK
AR RVIEEE2RBESFKAKESREE
BOFHWMETE  BEREYNE  BRASENR
BAXKIEBBHARENEE EZTSBRK
REEABTHEBNETRRTRBEES
ZEERANFEREEKEER -

EXEEFRVGANORERESRTESE I
REBEERRTRIEZINERESTRENS
HRZRABBITER - HEFERR/AQA
MEBRRAEBEN AR ST P REKF =@
B FARSHENEXBRNESTS SR
HEFEZERNEE - AEEERRESRH
HREZSEAB/ANNETEZ2EEN - UB)
A i SORER o
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COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

At the date of this annual report, the Board comprises four
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors. The name and office of
each of the members of the Board and the Board committees
of the Company during FY2024 and up to the date of this
annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors

HITES

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

EEgzAmX

RAFHRAY EFTHNBRATES - — 4%
FATESFR=BBIUIFATESTHENX - N =
Z_MPRERREEAFHRAEY - ARAE
FeNEFZREEREZHERRBAMT

Wong Sze Chai (Chairman of the Board)
BERE(EEEXRE)

Tai Leung Lam

R

Lo Ka Kei Jun

s

Liu Yun (Note 1)

BIE (Bfat1)

Joseph Mac Carthy (Note 2)

Joseph Mac Carthy(#t7%2)

Non-executive Director

FHITES

Kwan Tak Sum Stanley
BA=R

Independent non-executive Directors

BYFHITES

Kan Pak Cheong (Note 3)
Siaa (#a23)

Wong Kwok Kuen (Note 4)
mEE (K15t 4)

Yip Wa Ming (Note 1)
B (HiE1)

Fung Chun Chung (Note 5)
IS (Hfats)

Hau Siu Laam (Note 6)
B = (H76)

Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 7)
mEE (Hit7)

Notes:

1. appointed with effect on 28 October 2024
2. removed on 28 May 2024

3 appointed with effect from 28 May 2024

4, appointed with effect from 28 August 2024
58 retired with effect from 28 May 2024

6. resigned with effect from 28 August 2024

7. resigned with effect from 28 October 2024

Bt

1. R-ZE_MFE+A-_+/\BERE
2. R-ZF_MFRAA_+/\BRER
8. RZZE-_MFERA-+/\BEZEE
4. RZZE-_MENR=+\BEZRE
5. RZZE-_MERA=+N\ARE
6. R-Z_WENR=+N\BEE
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AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Yip Wa Ming (Chairman) (Note 1)
Kan Pak Cheong (Note 2)

Wong Kwok Kuen (Note 3)

Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 4)
Hau Siu Laam (Note 5)

Fung Chun Chung (Note 6)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Wong Kwok Kuen (Chairman) (Note 3)
Wong Sze Chai

Kwan Tak Sum Stanley

Kan Pak Cheong (Note 2)

Yip Wa Ming (Note 1)

Hau Siu Laam (Note 5)

Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 4)

Fung Chun Chung (Note 6)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Kan Pak Cheong (Chairman) (Note 2)
Wong Sze Chai

Yip Wa Ming (Note 7)

Wong Kwok Kuen (Note 3)

Liu Yun (Note 1)

Fung Chun Chung (Note 6)

Hau Siu Laam (Note 5)

Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 4)

Tai Leung Lam (Note 7)

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Wong Sze Chai (Chairman)
Kan Pak Cheong (Note 2)

Yip Wa Ming (Note 1)

Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 4)
Fung Chun Chung (Note 6)

Notes:

1. appointed with effect from 28 October 2024
2a appointed with effect from 28 May 2024

&, appointed with effect from 28 August 2024
4. resigned with effect from 28 October 2024
5, resigned with effect from 28 August 2024
6. retired on 28 May 2024

7. ceased to be a member with effect from 28 October 2024

EREEERE

REWR (2E) (HiE1)
BRa (#it2)
=EE (A1at3)
REZ (Mit4)
=ER (A1it5)
IS8R (H1iE6)

FMEEERE
=R (£E) (F1:#3)

"BEE

RRAR

BiBa (#it2)
RER (Mit1)
RER (H1:25)
BEZ (Mit4)
SRR (A1it6)

REZEEEHE
BEE (FE) (HiE2)
BRE

RER (Mat1)
=EE (A1aE3)

BIE (Hat1)

SR (A1it6)
wE R (HE5)
REZ (Wit4)
BRH(HZE7)

EREEZEESERE

BRE (£/E)
BiBa (#it2)
RER (MiE1)

RES (Mit4)
/,% E (i)

Bt
1. R-Z-ME+A=+\REZE

2. R-Z-MERA-+\BEZE

3 R-ZE_mMENA-_+/\BERE

4 R-ZE_MFE+HA - +/\BEHE

5. RZZ-—mMENA=TN\HERE

6. R-Z—MEFERA—+N\HEE

7. RZZ-MFE+A=+NBTBRAKE
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All non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) are appointed for a specific term. Mr.
Kwan Tak Sum Stanley, a non-executive Director, has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 1 September 2022. Mr. Kan Pak
Cheong, Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen and Mr. Yip Wa Ming, each
being an independent non-executive Director, have entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of
three years commencing from 28 May 2024, 28 August 2024
and 28 October 2024 respectively.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles”).

The Board composition is regularly reviewed to ensure that
it has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Group. A balanced
composition of executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors is maintained to ensure independence
and effective management. As at the date of this report, the
Company has satisfied the relevant provision of the Listing
Rules in having at least one of the independent non-executive
Directors with appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. There
is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship(s)) among the members of the
Board.

The appointment of Directors is recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee and
approved by the Board based on a formal written procedure
and policy for the appointment of new Directors. When
selecting potential candidates for the Directors, their skKills,
experience, expertise, devotion of time and non-conflicts of
interests are the key factors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

FTEEZAMENTES (BEBILIERTE
E)VERTEAR - FRTESHEFALLEDH
ARNBRINEFEE AR __F A —
HEAB=F - BUIFERTEEHHSLE -
EREAERNEZERLLERARNA LRI
R ESSRBE_E=—NFEFRA=-+NH =
Z_NENAF+NBE-_ZE-_NE+A -+
NBRYZHBIP=F -

EREFARBAAFESBEIZAA (THAR])
REB=FEL—RWMFERE-

ARREHRFSESTENMES - UHERENK
EERER N EYEBCENARBEGHMFENF
& - BITESFRBILIIFRTEFT ABIREY
& DHEREBYMERBMERE - RAKRSH
H ARBFELTRUNEEMRE - BI&xD
—UBYHRTEEARBEENEXERAE
AN ERER -ESEXNB ZHM
BIMBAR(BEME X% REXHEME
RBBER) -

EEmZE I aFHEEeRERETRE R
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The daily operation and management of the business of the
Group including, among other matters, the implementation of
strategies, are delegated to the executive Directors, the chief
executive officer and the senior management. They report
periodically to the Board on their work and business decisions.

All Directors have been fully consulted about any matters
proposed for inclusion in the agenda for regular meetings.
The chairman of the Board has delegated the responsibility
for drawing up the agenda for each Board meeting to the
Company Secretary.

With the assistance of the Company Secretary, the chairman
of the Board seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly
briefed on issues arising at the Board meetings and have
received adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.

Notices of at least 14 days are given to the Directors for
regular Board meetings, while the Board papers are sent to
the Directors not less than three days before the intended
date of a Board or Board committee meeting. With respect to
other meetings, the Directors are given as much notice as is
reasonable and practicable in the circumstances. The Directors
can attend meetings in person or through other means of
electronic communication in accordance with the Articles.
The Company Secretary ensures that the procedures and all
applicable rules and regulations are complied with. Minutes of
the Board meetings and meetings of the Board committees are
kept by the Company Secretary and are available for inspection
at any time on reasonable notice by any Directors.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and
are able to obtain independent professional advice whenever
they deem necessary. The Directors are updated with legal and
regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the Directors in
the discharge of their duties from time to time. During FY2024,
all Directors have been provided with monthly updates on the
Group’s performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge
their duties. In addition, the independent non-executive
Directors are able to provide independent and appropriate
opinions to the Board so as to ensure that the Board can
obtain independent views and opinions that it requires when
exercising its powers and making major decisions.

AEBEBHEREENER (HPBEREN
%ﬂ?ﬁ)Ei‘%%%ﬂfTé% TREEHEREREEE
B - RETHAEZGERTIEREBREK

RHRAAEHEZZENERNFTEICRAA
EEFHRDEN ° i%’gifﬁfaﬁ’%@ﬁw

ERFIEREEEEANERE
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BH MERXMHEEEARESTERESRE
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AEEML%D cEBEAREHFEEE - JIKEA
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HARMERE  AMNEERELHAEBAR
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Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors or members
of the relevant Board committees for comment within a
reasonable time after each meeting.

Any material transaction, which involves a conflict of interests
between a substantial shareholder or a Director and the
Company, will be considered and dealt with by the Board
at a duly convened Board meeting with the presence of the
independent non-executive Directors. Directors are abstained
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of
their associates have a material interest.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

RESPONSIBILITIES

In the course of discharging their duties, the Directors
act in good faith, with due diligence and care, and in the
best interests of the Company and its shareholders. Their
responsibilities include (i) regular board meetings focusing
on business strategy, operational issues and financial
performance; (ii) monitoring the quality, timeliness, relevance
and reliability of internal and external reporting; (i) monitoring
and managing potential conflicts of interest of the management,
members of the Board and shareholders, including misuse of
corporate assets and abuse in connected transaction; and (iv)
ensuring processes are in place to maintain the overall integrity
of the Company, including financial statements, relationships
with suppliers, customers and other stakeholders, and
compliance with all laws and ethics.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors’ responsibilities for the consolidated financial
statements are set out on page 106 of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which has
been reviewed by the Board on an annual basis, and sets
out the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company and also to enhance the quality
of performance of the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises eight
Directors. Three of the Directors are independent non-executive
Directors and are independent of the management, thereby
promoting critical review and control of the management
process. The Board is also characterised by significant
diversity, whether considered in terms of professional
background and skills.

The Nomination Committee reviews the composition of the
Board from diversified angles up to the date of this report and
summarised as follows:

EEEZMLBE

ESEEERMBHESTESFENNESTEST
EBE - BIIAZERARRAHER FEHER
% REAARRRRBER -

ARRSRBBEEETAHE  8RETRR
Rl - Fit - XERBEBESR Bk HEL
B e MBMERGEY BREFEZT
(e
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REEEBENERZEZNEE - THNUEX
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No.of Directors

EEAK
Gender: Male 7
MR £
Female 1
zZ
Age Group: 41-50 3
FHMAER 51-60 1
61-70 3
>71 1
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For the purpose of implementation of the board diversity policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

1. The Company should comply with the requirements on
board composition in the Listing Rules from time to time.

2. The number of independent non-executive Directors
should be not less than three and one-third of the Board.

3. At least one of the independent non-executive Directors
must have appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

4.  The Board should have at least one member of a different
gender in order to achieve gender diversity at Board level.

The Nomination Committee is of the view that the Company
has achieved these measurable objectives under the board
diversity policy.

GENDER DIVERSITY

As at 31 December 2024, the gender ratio in the total
workforce of the Group (including the senior management)
was approximately 34:66 (male: female). The Group may face
difficulties in achieving gender diversity across the workforce in
a country in which the Group operates due to the nature of the
industry, working culture in that country, etc. Nevertheless, the
Company targets to avoid a single gender senior workforce and
will timely review the gender diversity of the senior workforce in
accordance with the business development of the Group.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, eight Board
meetings were held to review and approve, among other
things, (i) the financial results for the year ended 31 December
2023; (i) the interim results for the six months ended 30 June
2024; (iii) business progress, operation updates and quarterly
results; and (iv) the appointment of the chief executive officer
and new Directors. A meeting of the Board was also held on
28 March 2025 to approve the annual results of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2024. One annual general
meeting of the Company (2024 AGM”) was held during the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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Details of the Directors’ attendance records in Board meetings
and general meetings during the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out below:

Name of Directors

meetings attended/

HE_Z_WNF+-_A=+—HILFE ==
RESEERRRRAESENLELEFE
M

No. of Board No. of general
meetings attended/

eligible to attend eligible to attend

HEAEREE HEEERHE
EEnE E=Zgg@A¥ RERAEESRRE
Executive Directors
HITEE
Wong Sze Chai 8/8 1/1
"HRE
Tai Leung Lam 8/8 1/1
R M
Joseph Mac Carthy (Note 7) 1/5 0/1
Joseph Mac Carthy (#15%1)
Lo Ka Kei Jun 8/8 1/1
!
Liu Yun (Note 2) Nil Nil
BI1E (Hfat2) i i
Non-executive Director
HHTEE
Kwan Tak Sum Stanley 0/8 0/1
RIS
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUFHTESE
Fung Chun Chung (Note 3) 5/5 1/1
ISR (Hf7E3)
Hau Siu Laam (Note 4) 6/7 1/1
wERE (Kit4)
Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 5) 7/8 1/1
BEE (Mits)
Kan Pak Cheong (Note 6) 3/3 Nil
HIRE (ffite) i
Wong Kwok Kuen (Note 7) 1/1 Nil
=EE (Mt 7) i
Yip Wa Ming (Note 2) Nil Nil
HER (Hat2) i fis
Notes: et -
1. removed on 28 May 2024 1. RZT-_MERA-+/\BHEESL
2. appointed with effect from 28 October 2024 2. RZT-_ME+A-+\BEEE

3. retired with effect from 28 May 2024

4. resigned with effect from 28 August 2024
5. resigned with effect from 28 October 2024
6. appointed with effect from 28 May 2024

74 appointed with effect from 28 August 2024

3. R-FB_WERA - +N\BRE
4. RZZE-MENAZ+TN\BEHE
5. RZZE-mOE+A =+ \BEHE
6. WR-ZE-_MERA-+/\BEZRE

7. RIZ-MOFENA-+N\BEZRE
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has established four committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Risk Management Committee. Specific
responsibilities of each committee are described below. All
committees have defined terms of reference which are no less
exacting than those set out in the CG Code.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 27 October 2017
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of
the Listing Rules and paragraph C4 and paragraph D3 of the
CG Code. As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee
comprises three members, namely Mr. Yip Wa Ming, Mr.
Kan Pak Cheong and Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen. The chairman
of the Audit Committee is Mr. Yip Wa Ming, who holds the
appropriate professional qualifications as required under Rules
3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, but are
not limited to, the following: (i) making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment and removal of the external
auditor; (ii) reviewing the financial statements of the Group and
monitoring the integrity of such financial statements; and (iii)
overseeing the financial reporting system and internal control
procedures and the Group's internal audit function.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, two Audit
Committee meetings were held, during which the Audit
Committee reviewed and discussed (i) the independence and
objectivity of independent auditor and its engagement; (ii) the
audited financial statement of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023; (iii) the internal control and risk management
report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023; (iv)
the unaudited interim financial statements of the Group for the
six months ended 30 June 2024; and (v) the re-appointment
of the independent auditor of the Group. An Audit Committee
meeting was also held on 28 March 2025 with all the members
present to review and consider, inter alia, the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
and the re-appointment of independent auditor of the Group.
There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection and appointment of the external
auditor.

Attendance at meetings of the Audit Committee during the year
ended 31 December 2024 is as follows:

Name of Directors

REZE-_Z-_NE+-_A=1+—HILFER -
EZEZESRITTMAER ReRHH - #
%& B EET KAt am (i) I8 3 1% BAT H B S M K
HEUAREMT  (AEBREEZZ-_=F
TZA=T B IEFENKSEZMB®RE (i)
AEBBEE-_ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE
ARG REREERS  (VVAEEREZE
—ZE-MEANA=ZT B IEANEARNREERZT
HIBTERE + RV ANEEBL ZEBMNETRE
f-BREESENMN_ZS_RAE=A=1+/\8
Bk gz (ZEREHEHE) UEMK
ZE(EHRBE)AERREE S _NF+=
A=1+—RLFEMNKEEZMNEHRRE  UKE
FETAEBB LA - EZCHEZEE
CEHERZEITIZBARLTEHIBEE LD
I o

BEZLZEERENEE_S_MFE+_A=+
—HIEFENHEHINNT

No. of
meetings attended/
eligible to attend

HEEER
g HESBRE
Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 1) 2/2
mEE (M)
Fung Chun Chung (Note 2) 1/1
SRR (Hi5E2)
Hau Siu Laam (Note 3) 2/2
BEE (H1573)
Yip Wa Ming (Note 4) Nil
R (Hi4) i
Kan Pak Cheong (Note 5) 1/1
HIRE (#fa2s)
Wong Kwok Kuen (Note 6) Nil
=R (H1576) i
Notes: et -
1. resigned with effect from 28 October 2024 1. RZTZ—ME+A =+ /\BEHTE

2. retired with effect from 28 May 2024

3. resigned with effect from 28 August 2024

4. appointed with effect from 28 October 2024

58 appointed with effect from 28 May 2024

6. appointed with effect from 28 August 2024

2. REZT—MFRA=+/\BRE
3. R=ZT-_WMFENA=+/\BEE

4. REZ-_ME+A=+ \BEZE

o
%

—T_MERA -+ N\BEXT

[0}
=

RZT—WHENAZ+\BEEE
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The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee considered that the relevant
financial statements have been prepared in compliance with
the applicable accounting principles and requirements of the
Listing Rules and disclosures have been fully made.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference on 27 October 2017. As at the date of this
report, the Remuneration Committee comprises five members,
namely, Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen, Mr. Wong Sze Chai, Mr. Kwan
Tak Sum Stanley, Mr. Kan Pak Cheong and Mr. Yip Wa Ming.
The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Wong
Kwok Kuen.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model
described in code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code in its
terms of reference. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee include, but are not limited to, the following: (i)
making recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for the remuneration of all the Directors and senior
management; (i) making recommendations to the Board on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy; (ii) making recommendations
to the Board on the specific remuneration packages of all the
Directors and senior management and approving and making
recommendations to the Board on terms of service contracts
with Directors; (iv) reviewing and approving the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the corporate goals
and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time; (v)
assessing performance of executive directors; and (vi) reviewing
and/or approving matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, one Remuneration
Committee meeting was held to review and recommend the
remuneration package of the Directors and senior management
and the relevant service agreements and/or letters of
appointment.
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Attendance at meetings of the Remuneration Committee during ¥ MZEe ez NHE_ST_WF+_-_A=+

the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out as follows: —HIEENHEEEYWDT :
No. of
meetings attended/
Name of Directors eligible to attend
HE &R
EEfE HESBRE
Hau Siu Laam (Note 1) 1/1
EERE (A1)
Fung Chun Chung (Note 2) 1/1
IS (Hfat2)
Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 3) 1/1
BYE (H1:23)
Wong Sze Chai 1/1
BEE
Kwan Tak Sum Stanley 0/1
RE1ER
Kan Pak Cheong (Note 4) Nil
BIRE (#ft4) i
Wong Kwok Kuen (Note 5) Nil
=B (A/:75) i
Yip Wa Ming (Note 6) Nil
B (fite) i
Notes: Bt -
1. resigned with effect from 28 August 2024 1. ZHHFENAZT/\BEHE

=

RZZE-MFEFRAR - +N\BRE
“META T NAHBHE
“OFERA-+N\BERE
“HOFENAZ+HN\BERE
R-Z_ME+A-+/\BEZE

retired with effect from 28 May 2024
resigned with effect from 28 October 2024

2

3

4. appointed with effect from 28 May 2024

5 appointed with effect from 28 August 2024
6

o o~ W N
F’ii%

appointed with effect from 28 October 2024

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and five highest paid #HZE-_Z_WNF+_A=+—HIEFE E=Z
individuals for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set outin  FHMEAZESHTMALTHFIS @ BREGEY
note 10 to the consolidated financial statements. K MTEE10

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration of HZE - = = “HEF+ZA=+—HILEFE =&

the senior management is listed below by band: EEEHILRGEERINOT ¢
Number of
individuals
AE
HK$ nil to HK$1,000,000 1
=TT £ 1,000,000 7T
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1
1,500,001 % 722,000,000/ 7T
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2

2,500,001 7 7T % 3,000,000/ 7T
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms
of reference on 27 October 2017. As at the date of this annual
report, the Nomination Committee comprises five members,
namely Mr. Kan Pak Cheong, Mr. Wong Sze Chai, Mr. Wong
Kwok Kuen, Mr. Yip Wa Ming and Ms. Liu Yun. The chairman
of the Nomination Committee is Mr. Kan Pak Cheong.

The primary functions of the Nomination Committee include,
but are not limited to, the following: (i) reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board; (ii) assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors;
and (i) making recommendations to the Board on matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, one Nomination
Committee meeting was held to, among other things, (i) review
the structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board;
(i) assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; (iii) recommend the re-election of Directors and
election of Director.
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Attendance at meetings of the Nomination Committee during
the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out as follows:

Name of Directors

REZEGEENBE_T_MNF+_A=+
—HIEFEMNRFEERIIT

No. of
meetings attended/
eligible to attend

HE &R
EEgE HESBRE
Fung Chun Chung (Note 1) 1/1
ST (F15E1)
Tai Leung Lam (Note 2) 1/1
R (A :E2)
Hau Siu Laam (Note 3) 1/1
mEER (A/:73)
Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 4) 1/1
BEE (Mit4)
Wong Sze Chai 1/1
"RE
Kan Pak Cheong (Note 5) Nil
B1aa (#fats) i
Wong Kwok Kuen (Note 6) Nil
EEHE (fit6) ?ﬁi
Yip Wa Ming (Note 7) Nil
RER (Wit7) i
Liu Yun (Note 7) Nil
218 (Hat7) i

Notes:

1. retired with effect from 28 May 2024

2. ceased to be a member with effect from 28 October 2024
3. resigned with effect from 28 August 2024

4. resigned with effect from 28 October 2024
5, appointed with effect from 28 May 2024
@ appointed with effect from 28 August 2024

7. appointed with effect from 28 October 2024

The Nomination Committee has reviewed annually the Board
composition by considering the benefits of all aspects of
diversity, including but not limited to those described under
the heading of Board Diversity Policy in this annual report. The
Board Diversity Policy shall be reviewed by the Nomination
Committee and the Board, as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness.

For the appointment and nomination of new Directors during
FY2024, the proposed candidates were referred to the
Nomination Committee and in making recommendation to the
Board, the Nomination Committee considered a number of
factors including but not limited to the following:

Kt :
1. ROPoRERASTN\RRE
2. RIE-mE+A-+N\BTBAKA

3. RZZE-mENA -+ \BEHE

4. RZZ-MFE+ A=+ N\ HFHE

& RZZE-_MERA-+/\BEEE
6. RZZ—MFENAZFTN\BEEE
7. R-ZT-ME+A=+N\BEEE

REZBECEB/ERZT(CETHMES
BERNEFSNANX  BREETRRAFR
EZEZLEBKRATHLE - EFTEZTT
CBRREARLZEGREZSRM (BT
) AEREAR -

R-CZE_NURFERARZERREHNES
B IEZNREARSIBGREEZES M
RAZEERNEFTSIFLERRCEES A
HE - BREFSRRTIISEA
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Skills, Experience and Professional Expertise

The candidate should possess the skills, knowledge,
experience and professional expertise which are relevant
to the operations of the Group.

Diversity

Candidates should be considered on merit and against
objective criteria, with due regard to the diversity
perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company.

Commitment

The candidate should be able to devote sufficient time to
attend the Board meetings and participate in induction,
training and other Board associated activities. In
particular, if the proposed candidate will be nominated as
an independent non-executive Director and will be holding
his/her seventh (or more) listed company directorship, the
Nomination Committee should consider the reason given
by the candidate for being able to devote sufficient time
to the Board and committee meetings.

Standing

The candidate must satisfy the Board and the Stock
Exchange that he/she has the character, experience
and integrity, and is able to demonstrate a standard of
competence commensurate with the relevant position as
a director of the Company.

Independence

The candidate to be nominated as an independent
non-executive Director must satisfy the independence
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Where
applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education,
qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated
to consider whether he or she has the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise for filling the office of an
independent non-executive Director.
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Risk Management Committee was established on 27
October 2017 to review and monitor the risk management
system and oversee the hedge activities of the Group. As
at the date of this report, the Risk Management Committee
comprises three members, namely Mr. Wong Sze Chai, Mr.
Kan Pak Cheong and Mr. Yip Wa Ming. The chairman of the
Risk Management Committee is Mr. Wong Sze Chai.

The primary functions of the Risk Management Committee
include, but are not limited to, the following: (i) reviewing the
risk management system of the Group and ensure that the
management has performed its duties to establish an effective
risk management system; (i) formulating risk policies and
standards; (iii) reviewing the material risk exposures of the
Group; (iv) reviewing annually the changes in nature and extent
of significant risks; (v) reviewing annually the scope and quality
of the management’s ongoing monitoring of risk management
systems and the work of the Group’s internal audit function;
(vi) reviewing the Directors’ decisions on entering into hedge
arrangements; (vii) reviewing the effectiveness of the hedge
policy; and (viii) providing recommendations to the Board
on improving the hedge policy, where appropriate and if
necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, one Risk

Management Committee meeting was held to review the risk
management system of the Group.

Name of Directors

RREEESES

REEREEERN _—_E—tF+A-TEBK
Vo NEBEREREREEBEAAREEAS
B HES c RAREAH  RREEZES
BE=EKE  BERELLE BHEELLER
RERLLE EREEZEENIERERL
pita

REEERZEENTI2RE BT (ETRN) A
TEE (I AEENRAREERS - LHE
REBEEBITEBEURIAERNERE R

Z& (i) Bl T RS B R RAZXE S (i) s A S E
FrEsfEZREER : (v)BFRTEXERIME

BEREBEEL  (VWVEFRIEEEFEERR
SREERRRAEENIEZBE T ENEE
MEZ (ViR EBH R ER R BEATER R
FE ¢ (Vi ARESEDRBOR A UM ¢ R (vil)EEE
BRTITMEEENAREEARRAESSIE
HEREEE -

REBEE—ZE-_NF+_A=+—HLEFER
FEREBEZESRIT—ANE%  UBTAER
RS LS

No. of
meetings attended/
eligible to attend

HEEE®K
EENE HESBXRE
Wong Sze Chai 1/1
5B
Fung Chun Chung (Note 1) 1/1
ISR (f1a1)
Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 2) 1/1
mEE(Kat2)
Kan Pak Cheong (Note 3) Nil
BIRE (K/73) i3
Yip Wa Ming (Note 4) Nil
BER (Hi4) i
Notes: Bt -
1, retired with effect from 28 May 2024 1. R-ZZE-—MERA=+NBEME

2. resigned with effect from 28 October 2024
3. appointed with effect from 28 May 2024

4, appointed with effect from 28 October 2024

2. RZZEZMF+A=+\BEE
3. REZT—MFERA=—+/\BEZFE

4. REZT—MFE+A=-+\BEZFE
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as the
code of conduct governing Directors’ securities transactions.
All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the
Company, that they have complied with the required standards
set out in the Model Code and there were no events of non-
compliance during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up
to the date of this report.

INDUCTION FOR DIRECTORS

All newly appointed Directors will receive training from the legal
adviser of the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director
of a listed company in Hong Kong. For the Directors who were
appointed during FY2024, the Company provided the new
Directors with briefings and relevant materials on the operations
and businesses of the Group, and the new Directors were
also provided with induction trainings from the external legal
adviser. During the induction training sessions attended by
Mr. Kan Pak Cheong on 20 May 2024, Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen
on 27 August 2024, and Ms. Liu Yun and Mr. Yip Wa Ming on
28 October 2024, the external legal adviser which is a firm of
solicitors qualified to advise on Hong Kong law provided legal
advice on Hong Kong law pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the Listing
Rules as regards the requirements under the Listing Rules
that are applicable to them as directors of a listed company,
their obligations as Directors, and the possible consequences
of making false declarations or giving false information to
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Kan Pak Cheong, Mr. Wong Kwok
Kuen, Ms. Liu Yun and Mr. Yip Wa Ming have confirmed their
understanding of the information provided by the legal adviser.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
FOR DIRECTORS

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities.
The Directors are continually updated with business and
market changes, and legal and regulatory developments to
facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities through various
Board meetings, resolutions, memoranda, Board papers, and
updates on corporate governance practices and director’s
responsibilities under the Listing Rules, applicable laws and
other relevant statutory requirements. The Company has
arranged the legal adviser to provide a training to all Directors
on continuous professional development for directors.
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During the FY2024, the following Board members have
participated in the following training programs:

RIE_NMEREE U TEEEKE G2
AT FIEREE

Types of training

ZE R
Reading materials
Attending training updating on
organised by legal new rules and
Name of Directors adviser regulations
HE AR HEEBEFRAKR
EEfE Z R EE ERZEH
Executive Directors
HITEE
Wong Sze Chai v v
=R
Tai Leung Lam v v
C=R
Joseph Mac Carthy (Note 7) N/A v
Joseph Mac Carthy (#77£1) TEA
Lo Ka Kei Jun v v
BE
Liu Yun (Note 2) v v
BIE (Hfat2)
Non-executive Director
HEHITEE
Kwan Tak Sum Stanley v v
BA=R
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUHBITEE
Fung Chun Chung (Note 3) N/A v
IS (H15£3) N
Hau Siu Laam (Note 4) N/A v
1w (Hfat4) N3 B
Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 5) N/A v
BEZ (Hats) TiE A
Kan Pak Cheong (Note 6) v v
B1aa& (#ite)
Wong Kwok Kuen (Note 7) v v
HEME (H7E7)
Yip Wa Ming (Note 2) v v
B (H:t2)
Notes: et -
1. removed on 28 May 2024 1. RZT-_MERA-+/\BHEESL

2. appointed with effect from 28 October 2024
3. retired with effect from 28 May 2024

4. resigned with effect from 28 August 2024
B, resigned with effect from 28 October 2024
6. appointed with effect from 28 May 2024

74 appointed with effect from 28 August 2024

2. R-ZE-—mOE+A-+N\BERE
3. R-Z-MEFERA—+/N\BERE
4. RZZEZMENA =+ N\BEE
5. RZZ—MFE+ A=+ N\ HEE
6. R-B_WNFERA-+\BEERE
7. RZZE-_MENAZ+N\BEZE
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to enhance
the awareness of internal corporate justice and regard this
as a kind of internal control mechanism. This policy provides
the assistance to individual employees to disclose internally
and at a high level, information which the individual believes
showing malpractice or impropriety. The Audit Committee is
charged with the responsibility of monitoring and reviewing the
effectiveness of the whistleblowing policy.

Anti-Corruption Policies

The Group has zero tolerance for bribery, fraud and corruption.
The Group’s ethical standards are well documented and
communicated through the Code of Conduct and Business
Ethics, which requires all business activities to be operated
with a high level of integrity. The Internal Control Procedure
and Whistleblowing Policy aim to ensure the Group is free
of corruption throughout its businesses. These policies are
covered in new employee orientation and the Employee
Handbook. No employee should accept or request any
improper benefits including gifts, securities, valuables and high-
expenditure entertainment activities from business partners,
suppliers and merchants, etc.

To ensure proper internal control over the procurement
process, the Group has implemented segregation of duties
according to procurement phases to prevent conflict of interest,
fraud or corruption in each stage of the procurement cycle.
The Group provides anticorruption training for all new hires to
strengthen ethical awareness among employees. Ongoing anti-
corruption and ethics training are delivered to Directors and
staff to maintain a strong corporate culture of ethics.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’
liabilities have been in force to protect the Directors and
officers of the Group from their risk exposure arising from the
business of the Group and, as at the date of this annual report,
the Directors and officers of the Company are indemnified
under a directors’ and officers’ liability insurance against any
liability incurred by them in discharge of their duties while
holding office as the Directors and officers of the Company.
The Directors and officers of the Company shall not be
indemnified where there is any fraud, breach of duty or breach
of trust proven against them.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is to ensure a good information
flow within the Board and between the Board and senior
management of the Company, to provide advice to the Board
in relation to the Directors’ obligations under the Listing Rules
and applicable laws and regulations and to assist the Board in
implementing the corporate governance practices. Mr. Cheung
Yu Man (“Mr. Cheung”), attended not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Mr. Cheung is an external service provider engaged by the
Company as the Company Secretary. Mr. Wong Sze Chai,
the Chairman of the Board and an executive Director, and Mr.
Leung Tak Ho, the Chief Financial Officer, are the main contact
persons for Mr. Cheung.

EERSABERR
ARBAEAAEREEENSABEBEESEDN
REERR  REFEAKRERBAENRRE
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
on an ongoing basis and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than to eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

INTERNAL

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives,
and establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems. The Board
has conducted an annual review of the implementation and
effectiveness of these mechanisms and considered they are in
place and are effective.

The Risk Management Committee and the Audit Committee
assist the Board in leading the management and overseeing
their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.

Principles of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The principal aim of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems is to manage and mitigate business
risks, with a view to enhancing the value of Shareholders’
investments and safeguarding assets.

Main Features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The key elements of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems include the establishment of a risk
register to keep track of and document identified risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the development and
continuous updating of responsive procedures, and the
ongoing testing of internal control procedures to ensure their
effectiveness. A risk matrix is also adopted to determine risk
ratings after evaluation of the risk by the likelihood and the
impact of the risk event. The risk ratings reflect the level of
management’s attention and risk treatment effort required.
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Process Used to ldentify, Evaluate and Manage
Significant Risk

All divisions/departments conduct internal control assessment
regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the business
of the Group and various aspects including key operational
and financial processes, regulatory compliance and information
security. Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to
confirm that control policies are properly complied with by each
division/department. The management assessed the likelihood
of risk occurrence, provide treatment plans, and monitor the
risk management progress, and reported to the Board on all
findings and the effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board, the Risk
Management Committee, and the Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Internal Audit Function

The Board, through the Risk Management Committee and
the Audit Committee, conducted an annual review of design,
implementation, and effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, which covered all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls. Such annual review was done with a view to ensuring
that the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal
control, financial reporting functions and the Company’s
performance and reporting in the aspect of environmental,
social and governance are adequate. In this respect, the Risk
Management Committee and Audit Committee communicated
any material issues to the Board.

The Group’s internal audit team is responsible for performing
an independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
The internal audit team examined key issues in relation to the
accounting practices and all material controls and the results
of the independent review and assessment were reported to
the Risk Management Committee, the Audit Committee, and
the Board. Moreover, improvements in internal control and risk
management measures to enhance the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and to mitigate risks of
the Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the internal
audit findings and recommendations, as well as the comments
of the Risk Management Committee and the Audit Committee,
the Board considered the internal control and risk management
systems are adequate and effective.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with the requirements under the Listing
Rules and SFO to disclose inside information to the public as
soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls
within any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot
be maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached,
the Group would immediately disclose the information to the
public. The Group is committed to ensure that information
contained in announcements are not false or misleading as to
a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of
a material fact in view of disclosure of inside information in a
balanced, adequate and effective way. The procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside
information are as follows:

° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the
disclosure requirement under the Listing Rules, the
Guideline on Disclosure of Inside Information issued
by the Securities and Futures Commission and its own

policy;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed events or
matters on fair disclosure by non-exclusive distribution
of information to the public through channels such as
financial reporting, public announcements and its website;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information; and

° the Group has established procedures for responding to
external enquiries about the Group’s affairs so that only
the executive Directors, Company Secretary and other
persons duly authorised by the Board are authorised to
communicate with parties outside the Group.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION AND
RESPONSIBILITIES

The Company has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers as the
auditor of the Group. The following table shows the audit and
non-audit services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers and
its affiliates and other auditors for the year ended 31 December
2024

BB R EE

RARBEEEER KBS EBMAESE
EAZA - TREIBE_ZT_MF+_A=
T-HIEFEEIB KBS EBA R EAH
56 35 765 PIT B B At A BRI 1R 1 2 A BN SRR BUR
7%

HK$’000
FET
Audit services:
ZE R
— PricewaterhouseCoopers 2,069
R BERTAISBA
— Other auditors 192
H Az ELAM
2,261
Non-audit services:
e B AR
— PricewaterhouseCoopers 524
FEEROKEE TR EFT
— Other auditors 127
H A Az 20Am
651

Non-audit services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers
and its affiliates to the Group mainly represents interim
review and taxation services. The reporting responsibilities of
PricewaterhouseCoopers are set out in pages 107 to 109 of
this annual report.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection and appointment of the external
auditor during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with its
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognises the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable the Shareholders and investors to make the
best investment decisions.

The disclosure of the Group’s information in a reasonable and
timely manner by the Board is to facilitate the Shareholders
as well as the investors to have a better understanding of
the business performance, operations and strategies of the
Group. The Company’s website at www.trio-ieg.com allows
the potential and existing investors as well as the public to get
access to and acquire the Company’s up-to-date corporate
and financial information.

Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company,
such as telephone hotline, email address and postal address,
in order to enable them to make any query that they may have
with respect to the Company.

They can also send their enquiries to the Board through the
above means. The contact details of the Company are set out
in page 74 of this annual report and the Company’s website.

The Board welcomes views of the Shareholders and
encourages them to attend general meetings to raise
any concerns that they may have with the Board or the
management directly. Board members and appropriate senior
staff of the Group are available at the meetings to answer any
questions raised by the Shareholders.

The Board reviews the Shareholders’ communication policy
and its implementation annually. The Board is of the view
that the implementation of the Shareholders’ communication
policy was effective having considered the communication
channels in place to provide the Shareholders and the investor
community with information about the latest development of
the Group in a timely manner, and the various communication
channels established by the Company between itself and
its Shareholders and the investors to allow the Company to
receive feedback effectively.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE GENERAL MEETING

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors,
for shareholders’ consideration and voting. Besides, pursuant
to article 68(c) of the Articles, the Directors may, whenever
they think fit, convene a general meeting, and general meetings
shall also be convened on such requisition, or in default, may
be convened by such requisitionists, as provided by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, the laws of Hong
Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”). If any time there are not
within Hong Kong sufficient Directors capable of acting to form
a quorum, any Director or any two or more members of the
Company representing at least 10% of the total voting rights
of all members having a right to vote at general meetings, may
convene a general meeting in the same manner as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Directors.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company
or put forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. The
contact details are as follows:

Board of Directors
Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited
Address: Block J, 5/F, Phase Il, Kaiser Estate,
51 Man Yue Street,
Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Telephone hotline: (852) 2765 8787
Email address: info@trio-engineering.com

To put forward proposals at an annual general meeting or a
general meeting, the Shareholders shall submit a written notice
of those proposals with detailed contact information to the
Board/Company Secretary at the Company’s registered office.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar
and upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to include the
proposed resolution in the agenda for the general meeting.
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Moreover, the notice period concerning the notice to be given
to all the Shareholders for consideration of the proposals
submitted by the Shareholders concerned varies as follows
pursuant to article 70 of the Articles and subject to section 578
of the Companies Ordinance.

(@) for an annual general meeting, it shall be called by notice
in writing of at least twenty-one clear days (or such longer
period as may be required by the Listing Rules); and

(b) for a general meeting other than an annual general
meeting, it shall be called by notice in writing of least
fourteen clear days (or such longer period as may be
required by the Listing Rules),

shall be given in the manner mentioned in the Articles to all
members, to the Directors and to the auditor.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Shareholder(s) must deposit
and send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the Company’s
registered office and provide their full names, contact details
and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change on the articles of association of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024. An up-
to-date version of the articles of association of the Company is
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

The Board is pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding and the activities of its
principal subsidiaries are shown on pages 167 to 168 of this
annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages
110 to 187 of this annual report.

The Board has, in line with the Dividend Policy, recommended
a final dividend of HK1.2 cents per ordinary share of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil)
to the Shareholders. The proposed final dividend, subject to
the approval of the Shareholders at the AGM of the Company
to be held on Tuesday, 27 May 2025, is expected to be paid
on Monday, 14 July 2025 to the Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Friday,
27 June 2025, being the record date for determination of
entitlements to the final dividend.

Details of the Company’s dividend policy are set out in the
section headed “Dividend Policy” on page 99 of this annual
report.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM
to be held on Tuesday, 27 May 2025, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 22 May 2025
to Tuesday, 27 May 2025, both days inclusive, during which
no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 21 May 2025.

In order to ascertain the entitlement to the final dividend,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 25 June 2025 to Friday, 27 June 2025, both days
inclusive. In order to qualify for the final dividend, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on Tuesday, 24 June 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion and analysis of the Group's performance for
the year ended 31 December 2024, the key factors affecting
its results and financial position, and the information on the
compliance with laws and regulations, environmental policy
and relationships with stakeholders are set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report. Furthermore, a fair review of, and an indication of likely
future development in the Group’s business are set out in the
section headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report.
Save as disclosed in this annual report, since the end of the
year ended 31 December 2024, no important event affecting
the Group has occurred.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Geopolitical tensions may have an impact on the Group’s
business and financial performance.

Geopolitical tensions such as the Russo-Ukrainian crisis
have posed considerable threats to the global recovery and
especially European economies. The disruptions caused by the
crisis may aggravate soaring material prices, longer lead times
and currency fluctuation. In addition, as most of the Group’s
major customers are in Europe, the crisis may have a potential
impact on their business. If one or more major customers
reduce their purchase orders to the Group, the Group’s
business and financial performance may be adversely affected.

The five largest customers accounted for more than
70.0% of the total revenue. Loss of the major customers
may adversely affect our business performance.

Since (i) the Group does not enter into long-term sale and
purchase agreements with the customers and does not
have long-term purchase commitment from them; and (i) the
Group is not their exclusive supplier, there is no assurance
that the five largest customers will continue to purchase
the products at current levels or at all in the future. If the
prices of the products are not as competitive as those set
by the competitors for comparable products, the customers
may reduce their purchase volume. If any of the five largest
customers significantly reduces its purchase volume or ceases
to place purchase orders with the Group, and the Group is
unable to identify new customers, the business performance of
the Group may be adversely affected.
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Fluctuations in the prices of raw materials may adversely
affect our business operations and profitability.

The major raw materials include integrated circuits, metal parts,
plastic parts, printed circuit board components, capacitors,
connectors, transistors, cables and cores. The prices of the
raw materials generally follow their respective price trends in
the market and vary with industry conditions and market supply
and demand.

Since the Group does not enter into long-term supply contracts
with the suppliers, there is no assurance that the suppliers
will not significantly increase the prices of raw materials in the
future, in particular when the market prices of or the market
demand for such raw materials increase. There is also no
assurance that the Group will be able to pass the increase in
cost of materials to the customers to avoid adverse impacts on
the profitability. If, in the event of material fluctuations in raw
material prices, or the Group cannot pass the increase in cost
of materials to the customers, the Group’s profitability may be
adversely affected.

Any slowdown of the industrial electronics industry
may adversely affect our results of operations, financial
condition and business prospects.

As an EMS provider specialising in the manufacturing and sales
of customised industrial electronic components and products,
our business performance depends, to a large extent, on the
performance and condition of the industrial electronics industry.

The industrial electronics industry may experience slowdown
or downturn due to market or industry conditions, global
economic environment or other factors beyond control. Any
decrease in the demand for industrial electronics equipment
such as renewable energy facilities, telecommunication
equipment, commercial freight equipment, medical and
healthcare devices, and security systems may reduce the
demand for our OEM products. In such circumstances, the
sales may decline and the results of operations, financial
condition and business prospects may be adversely affected.
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The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risks.

The functional currency is HK$, while some of the business
transactions and the cost of sales are mainly denominated
US$, RMB, THB, and EUR. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risks as a result of sales and purchases that are
denominated in a currency other than HK$. Any significant
changes in the exchange rate between HK$ and other
currencies may have adverse effect on the Group’s results of
operations.

Failure to retain the services of key personnel may
adversely affect the results of operations.

The success to date has largely been attributable to the
contributions, commitment and experience of the management
team and key employees, in particular their familiarity with the
business operations and their experience and expertise in the
industrial EMS industry. Some of our executive Directors and
senior management have more than 40 years of experience in
the electronics industry. The continued success is dependent
on the ability to retain the services of members of the senior
management and key employees who possess the necessary
experience and expertise in the industrial EMS industry. If
there is any significant or material change to the composition
of the key management team, the Group may not be able to
recruit experienced or qualified personnel in a timely manner
or at all, and may have adverse effect on the Group’s business
performance, results of operations as well as business
prospects.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 188 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details (including the principal activities) of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 are set out in
note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set
out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to HK$20,000 (2023:
HK$10,000).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the Company's distributable
reserves available for distribution is HK$23,033,000 (2023:
HK$14,673,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders unless otherwise
required by the Stock Exchange.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during FY2024 and up to date
of this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

BITES

=

ARBR-_F_MHBRFEREEANFHRAH
ZEFRRIWMT

Wong Sze Chai (Chairman of the Board)
BRE(EEEERE)

Tai Leung Lam

R

Lo Ka Kei Jun

R

Liu Yun (Note 1)

BIE (Hfat1)

Joseph Mac Carthy (Note 2)

Joseph Mac Carthy (#7:£2)

Non-executive Director

FHTES

Kwan Tak Sum Stanley
[FaEEIZS

Independent non-executive Directors

BUFYTES

Kan Pak Cheong (Note 3)
E1aa (#a3)

Wong Kwok Kuen (Note 4)
=R (Hfat4)

Yip Wa Ming (Note 1)
B (Hat1)

Fung Chun Chung (Note 5)
IS (Hfats)

Hau Siu Laam (Note 6)
BE= (Hat6)

Law Ying Wai Denise (Note 7)
BEZ (Ha27)

Notes:

g appointed with effect from 28 October 2024.
2. removed on 28 May 2025.

3. appointed with effect from 28 May 2025.

4. appointed with effect from 28 August 2025.
B retired with effect from 28 May 2025.

6. resigned with effect from 28 August 2025.

7. resigned with effect from 28 October 2025.

Bt

RZZE-_mE+A-+N\BEEE -
2. R-ZE-_RAFAA-+N\BAHER -
3. R-ZE_RAFAA-_+N\BEZRE-
4. RZZE-_RFNA-+N\BEZE-
5. RZZE-RFAA-+NBRE-

6. REZZRFNAZ+N\BEE -
7. R=ZZT=_RAF+A=+/\BEHE -
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Pursuant to article 120(a) of the Articles, subject to article
120(e), at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors (excluding those Director(s) who are not subject to
the rotation requirement under the Articles) or, if their number
is not three or a multiple of three the number which is nearest
to and is at least one-third, shall retire from office by rotation.
A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to article 120(e) of the Articles, any Director who
holds the position as an Executive Director shall not be subject
to the retirement-rotation requirement of the Article.

Pursuant to article 119(c) of the Articles, any Director so
appointed, either to fill a casual vacancy or by way of addition
to their number, by the Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company, and
shall then be eligible for re-appointment.

Pursuant to code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code, all directors
(no matter executive or independent non-executive directors)
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to article 120(a) of the Articles, Mr. Tai Leung Lam,
Mr. Lo Ka Kei Jun and Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley shall retire
from office at the AGM. Mr. Tai Leung Lam, Mr. Lo Ka Kei Jun
and Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the AGM. In accordance with article 119(c) of
the Articles, Ms. Liu Yun, Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen and Mr. Yip
Wa Ming shall retire from office at the AGM. Ms. Liu Yun and
Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM while Mr. Yip Wa Ming, although eligible,
has decided not to offer himself for re-election due to his
other business commitments. Accordingly, Mr. Yip Wa Ming
will retire as an independent non-executive Director and cease
to be the chairman of the Audit Committee, members of the
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Risk
Management Committee of the Company after the conclusion
at the AGM. Mr. Yip Wa Ming has confirmed that he has no
disagreement with the Board and there are no matters that
need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders relating
to his decision of not offering himself for re-election at the
AGM.
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DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The name of directors who have served on the boards of the
subsidiaries of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this annual report are set out below:

Wong Sze Chai

Tai Leung Lam

Lo Ka Kei Jun

Liu Yun

Leung Tak Ho
Raymond Christopher Garrett
Chak Sui Cheung
David Mac Carthy
Joseph Mac Carthy
Lai Sek Piu

Shi Yan

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual written confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules as at
the date of this annual report and considers all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 13 to 19 of
this annual report.
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David Mac Carthy

Joseph Mac Carthy
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

The changes in the information of the Directors of the Company
since the publication of the interim report of the Company for
the six months ended 30 June 2024 required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules is set out

below:

Name of Directors

EEnA
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BE EMRAE13.51BN)IEZHE - AREIAE
TREEARABE_T_MOFA=1THI
NEAAZTFRRETNBEARNETER 2 &
ol

Details of Change
BEFE

Ms. Liu Yun

Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen

=EEELE

Mr. Yip Wa Ming

RERELE

Appointed as an executive Director and a member of the Nomination Committee
with effect from 28 October 2024
MR-ZBE-ME+A T+ N\ABEZERRTEERIREEREZEGKE

Appointed as an independent non-executive Director, a member of the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and chairman of the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 28 August 2024
RZZB_MENA+N\BEZERBUIFNTES  EZREEGRIEREZEGNKE
NRFMEESEF

Appointed as an independent non-executive Director, chairman of the Audit
Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Risk Management Committee with effect from 28 October 2024
RZZB_ME+A-+TNBEZERBUNFNTES  FERZESIF  FMES
g REZEGNAREEZEGKE
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Name of Directors

EEfA

Details of Change
BEFIE

Mr. Hau Siu Laam

RERESTE

Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise

BESXL

Ms. Zhang Jingjing

REFFFL LT

Mr. Kwan Chan Kwong

il Sivbited

Mr. Tai Leung Lam

BRMELE

Resigned as an independent non-executive Director, a member of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Risk
Management Committee with effect from 28 August 2024
R-ZZB-MENA-ZTN\BBEBYIFNTES  BEREZES  FHZEE  REZ
sBegkERERZEENE

Resigned as an independent non-executive Director, a member of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Risk
Management Committee with effect from 28 October 2024
R-ZZB-ME+TA-T/\BBREBUIFNTES  BERZES  FHZEg  REZ
BgkREREREEZEENE

Appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 2 July
2024 and resigned with effect from 28 March 2025
RZZEZNELA-ABZERRRAIITHRAR YR AF=A =+ /\BEE

Resigned as the chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 2 July
2024
RZTZMF+ A - ABEAR B THRAE

Ceased as a member of the Nomination Committee with effect from 28 October
2024
RZZE_NWF+A-+ N \BTBARELZEGNKE

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required  B& ECIREEE SN - WM H M ERBRE FHR
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing BIZE13.51B(IEIELIFE - KARIEE 2 EH
Rules. The updated biographical details of the Directors of BREHENREX[EZEREREEERRE|—F -
the Company are set out in the preceding section headed

“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS EERKEN

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service KHITEECEARFGIVREEHN (THRED
contract with the Company either with or without a specific B HIEE(EH]) °

term.
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All non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) are appointed for a specific term. Mr.
Stanley Kwan, a non-executive Director, has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from 1 September 2022. Each of Mr. Kan
Pak Cheong, Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen and Mr. Yip Wa Ming, all
being independent non-executive Directors, has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from the date of his appointment, being 28
May 2024, 28 August 2024 and 28 October 2024 respectively.

None of the Directors proposed for election at the forthcoming
AGM has entered into any service contract or letter of
appointment with any member of the Group which is not
determinable by any member of the Group within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

There were no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the business of the Group to which
the Company, any of its subsidiaries, holding company, or
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a director or a
connected entity of a director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 28 June 2024, Trio Engineering Company Limited, a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
a consultancy agreement (the “Consultancy Agreement”)
with Mr. Kwan Chan Kwong (“Mr. Eddie Kwan”) to appoint
Mr. Eddie Kwan as a consultant of the Group for a term
commencing from 2 July 2024 and expiring on 31 December
2026 (both dates inclusive).

Mr. Eddie Kwan is a connected person of the Company by
virtue of being an associate of his spouse, Ms. Wong So
Nui Amy, one of the controlling Shareholders. Therefore, the
Consultancy Agreement constitutes a continuing connected
transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Under the Consultancy Agreement, Mr. Eddie Kwan was
entitled to a monthly consultancy fee of HK$285,200, a
monthly car allowance of HK$24,000 and a gratuity payment of
HK$248,000 upon completion of each financial year ending 31
December during the term of the Consultancy Agreement.

The annual caps for the Consultancy Agreement were (a)
HK$2,029,000 for the period from 2 July 2024 to 31 December
2024; (b) HK$4,058,000 for the period from 1 January 2025 to
31 December 2025; and (c) HK$4,058,000 for the period from
1 January 2026 to 31 December 2026, respectively. Through
this appointment, the Group will have the benefits of Mr. Eddie
Kwan’s advisory services and contributions in furtherance of
the interests of the Company.

The transactions contemplated under the Consultancy
Agreement are subject to the reporting, announcement and
annual review requirements but are exempt from circular and
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Mr. Eddie Kwan is one of the founders of Trio Engineering
and has been involved in the overall management as well
as supervision of the sales and marketing division of the
Group since 1983. He has over 40 years of experience in
the electronics industry and has established close and stable
working relationships with the customers of the Group. In
view of this, the Company believes that it will benefit from the
continued guidance and advice which Mr. Eddie Kwan will
be able to offer to the Group in his capacity as a consultant,
following his resignation as the chief executive officer of the
Company with effect from 2 July 2024 due to his retirement.
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Further Details of the above-mentioned continuing connected
transaction are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 28 June 2024.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
transactions contemplated under the Consultancy Agreement
(the “Transactions”) for FY2024 and have confirmed that
the Transactions for FY2024 have been entered into: (a) in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (b)
on normal commercial terms or better; and (c) in accordance
with the Consultancy Agreement on terms that are fair and
reasonable and are in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

The auditors of the Company have reviewed the Transactions
for FY2024 and confirmed that nothing has come to their
attention that causes them to believe that the Transactions for
FY2024:

(@) have not been approved by the Board;

(b)  were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreement governing the
transactions (i.e. the Consultancy Agreement); and

(c) have exceeded the annual cap set by the Company.

Subsequently, on 22 January 2025, Trio Engineering
entered into a supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental
Agreement”) with Mr. Eddie Kwan, pursuant to which, Trio
Engineering and Mr. Eddie Kwan have agreed to amend the
Consultancy Agreement as set out below:

(@) With effect from 1 February 2025, the monthly
consultancy fee payable to Mr. Eddie Kwan by Trio
Engineering shall be increased from HK$285,200 to
HK$356,500;

(b) The gratuity payment payable to Mr. Eddie Kwan upon
completion of each financial year ending 31 December
during the term of the Consultancy Agreement shall be
increased from HK$248,000 to HK$310,000; and
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(c) In addition to the increase in the consultancy fee and
gratuity payment as mentioned in paragraphs (a) and (b)
above, Mr. Eddie Kwan may be entitled to a discretionary
gratuity payment up to HK$310,000 payable in each of
the financial years ending 31 December 2025 and 31
December 2026 as may be determined and approved by
the Board with reference to the performance of Mr. Eddie
Kwan.

Save as aforesaid, all other terms of the Consultancy
Agreement shall remain unchanged.

In view of the entering into of the Supplemental Agreement, the
existing annual caps under the Consultancy Agreement for the
period ending 31 December 2025 and 31 December 2026 will
be revised to HK$5,284,000 and HK$5,356,000, respectively.

Having taking into account the role, responsibilities and actual
time commitment of Mr. Eddie Kwan as a consultant following
his resignation as the chief executive officer of the Company
with effect from 2 July 2024, the Company considers that
the fee payable to Mr. Eddie Kwan under the Consultancy
Agreement as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement
would strengthen the consultancy relationship between the
Company and Mr. Eddie Kwan, and would better reflect his
contributions and serve as an appreciation for the exceptional
Mr. Eddie Kwan'’s efforts in building up the infrastructure and
cultivating the business activities for the new energy business
sector of the Group from the beginning of 2025.

Further details in relation to the Supplemental Agreement are
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 22 January
2025.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements. Save for Consultancy
Agreement as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transaction” above, none of the related party
transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 constituted connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction of the Company which is subject to the
disclosure or annual review requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company or its subsidiaries were entered into or existed during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the remuneration of the Directors on a named basis
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note
10 to the consolidated financial statements.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

Under the remuneration policy of the Company, the
Remuneration Committee considers factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment,
responsibilities and performance of the Directors and senior
management, as the case may be, in assessing the amount
of remuneration payable to the Directors and members of the
senior management. The Remuneration Committee periodically
reviews the compensation levels of the key executives. Based
on the performance and the executives’ respective contribution
to the Group, the Remuneration Committee may, within the
aggregate remuneration amount having been approved in a
Shareholders’ meeting, make recommendations to our Board
as to salary increases or payment of discretionary bonuses.

The Group’s employee benefit expenses mainly include
salaries, overtime payment and discretionary bonus, other staff
benefits and contributions to retirement schemes.

Remuneration is determined with reference to the qualification,
experience and work performance, whereas the payment of
discretionary bonus is generally subject to work performance,
the financial performance of the Group in that particular year
and general market conditions.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’
liabilities have been in force to protect the Directors and
officers of the Group from their risk exposure arising from
conducting the business of the Group.

Pursuant to the Articles and subject to the provisions of the
Companies Ordinance, the Directors shall be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against any liability, loss or
expenditure incurred by him in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, which relate to anything done or
omitted to be done or alleged to have been done or omitted to
be done by him/her as a Director.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) (i) as recorded in the register required to be kept
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (i) as required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Model Code
contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Percentage of
shareholding in

Number of the Company’s
Name of Directors and Shares held issued share
chief executive Nature of interest in Long Position Total capital (Note 2)
¥ NG|
FEFen ERTRAZ
ESRTETBRAEHS REmtE RHEE =F: RERE 2L (HzE2)
Mr. Tai Leung Lam Interest in controlled 750,000,000 750,000,000 75.00%
(“Mr. Tai”) corporations (Note 1)
BRMEE REEEE NS (BfsE1)
(f&EEE])
Mr. Lo Ka Kei Jun Interest in controlled 750,000,000 750,000,000 75.00%
(“Mr. Lo”) corporations (Note 1)
ERELE REFEEE NS (Hzz1)
(TBE£))
Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley Interest in controlled 750,000,000 750,000,000 75.00%
(“Mr. Stanley Kwan”) corporations (Note 1)
BEREE REEEE N (Hst1)
([RAEREE])
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Notes:

(1) These shares were held by Trio Industrial Electronics Holding Limited
(“Trio Holding”). Trio Holding was owned as to 27.5%, 27.5%, 17.5%,
22.0% and 5.5% by Nawk Investment Inc. (“Nawk Investment”),
LLT Investment Inc. (“LLT Investment’), JMC Investment Holdings
Limited (“JMC Investment”), Eastville Enterprises Limited (“Eastville
Enterprises”) and Mr. Lo, respectively. Nawk Investment, LLT Investment,
Eastville Enterprises were directly and wholly owned by Mr. Stanley Kwan,
Mr. Tai and Ms. Wong So Nui Amy (the spouse of Mr. Eddie Kwan, “Ms.
Wong’), respectively. JIMC Investment was wholly-owned by Alpadis Trust
(HK) Limited (“Alpadis Trust’), a company which acts as the trustee of
a discretionary trust established by Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy (“Mr. Mac
Carthy”) as a settlor. Because of their interests in Trio Holding, Mr.
Stanley Kwan, Mr. Tai, Mr. Mac Carthy, Ms. Wong, Mr. Eddie Kwan, Mr.
Lo, Nawk Investment, LLT Investment, JMC Investment, and Eastville
Enterprises were deemed to be interested in shares of the Company as at
31 December 2024.

(2) The approximate percentages were calculated based on 1,000,000,000
shares in issue as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none
of the Directors nor chief executive of the Company has
registered an interests and short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) (i) which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(i) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed “Directors’
and Chief Executive’'s Interests and Short Positions in the
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company or
any other Associated Corporations” above, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2024 were there any rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or the chief
executive of the Company or any of their respective spouses
or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

Bt

1) ZEBRMBHBEIXS TERBRAR([HE
ERDEF - HEIERHENawk Investment Inc.
([Nawk Investment]) * LLT Investment Inc.
(TLLT Investment]) - JMC Investment Holdings
Limited([JMC Investment|) * Eastville Enterprises
Limited([ Eastville Enterprises |) %54 % Bl #
B27.5% * 27.5% *~ 17.5% » 22.0% % 5.5% ° Nawk
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY SPECIFIED
UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2024,
the following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of
the Company) had or were deemed or taken to have an interest
or short position in the Shares or the underlying Shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under

Section 336 of the SFO:
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FTERRRARDAREG - ARG R
BEIFIADAHEMH B EE
ZEMERAEHNERZR AR
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Percentage of
shareholding in
the Company’s

Number of issued share

Shares held in capital

Name of shareholders Nature of interests Long Position (Note 5)

RN

ERITRAZ

RET DL

REREW EEMtE FRFRNROEBE (K1aE5)

Trio Holding Beneficial owner 750,000,000 (Note 1) 75.00%
BEER EmEEA (B1zE1)

Ms. Wong Interest in a controlled corporation 750,000,000 (Note 1) 75.00%
G AP LB R (Kiz1)

Mr. Eddie Kwan Interest of spouse and interest 750,000,000 (Note 1) 75.00%

in a controlled corporation

o Pitas IR R Z IR EE R (B1aE1) 75.00%

Nawk Investment Interest in a controlled corporation 750,000,000 (Note 1) 75.00%
Nawk Investment RZ LB RS (Hiet1)

LLT Investment Interest in a controlled corporation 750,000,000 (Note 1) 75.00%
LLT Investment R A B R S (Ha1)

Eastville Enterprises Interest in a controlled corporation 750,000,000 (Note 1) 75.00%
Eastville Enterprises RE LB R S (Hiat1)

JMC Investment Interest in a controlled corporation 750,000,000 (Note 1) 75.00%
JMC Investment RZ LB RS (Biat1)

Mr. Mac Carthy Beneficiary of a trust 750,000,000 (Note 1) 75.00%
Mac Carthy4t 4 EEZmA (Hiat1)

Alpadis Trust Trustee and interest 750,000,000 (Notes 1 & 2) 75.00%

in a controlled corporation

Alpadis Trust RFEARRZ LB R (KizF1%2)

Alpadis Group Holding AG  Interest in a controlled corporation 750,000,000 (Note 2) 75.00%

(“Alpadis Group”)
Alpadis Group Holding AG
([ Alpadis Group |)

NSRRI RL=E F

(Baz2)
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Percentage of
shareholding in
the Company’s

Number of issued share
Shares held in capital
Name of shareholders Nature of interests Long Position (Note 5)
(RN
ERITRAZ
RET DL
BRER B REmME FrEsiF R R BB (K1L5)
Alain ESSEIVA Interest in a controlled corporation 750,000,000 (Note 2) 75.00%
Alain ESSEIVA NS AZNEN:OE Fi (Ktet2)
Vanessa Teo ESSEIVA Interest of spouse and interest 750,000,000 (Note 3) 75.00%
in a controlled corporation
Vanessa Teo ESSEIVA fo B e M N 24284 B M) i 2 (H7a£3)
RUAN David Ching Chi Interest of controlled corporation 79,548,000 (Note 4) 7.95%
RUAN David Ching Chi R EE R R (Hiat4)
RAYS Capital Partners Investment manager 79,548,000 (Note 4) 7.95%
Limited
RAYS Capital Partners TEKE (Hiat4)
Limited
Asian Equity Special Beneficial owner 79,548,000 (Note 4) 7.95%

Opportunities Portfolio
Master Fund Limited

Asian Equity Special

BEmEAA

Opportunities Portfolio
Master Fund Limited

Notes:

M

These shares were held by Trio Holding. Trio Holding was owned
as to 27.5%, 27.5%, 17.5%, 22.0% and 5.5% by Nawk Investment,
LLT Investment, JMC Investment, Eastville Enterprises and Mr. Lo,
respectively. Nawk Investment, LLT Investment, Eastville Enterprises
were directly and wholly owned by Mr. Stanley Kwan, Mr. Tai and Ms.
Wong, respectively. JMC Investment was wholly-owned by Alpadis Trust,
a company which acts as the trustee of a discretionary trust established
by Mr. Mac Carthy as a settlor. Because of their interests in Trio Holding,
Mr. Stanley Kwan, Mr. Tai, Mr. Mac Carthy, Ms. Wong, Mr. Eddie Kwan,
Mr. Lo, Nawk Investment, LLT Investment, JMC Investment, and Eastville
Enterprises were deemed to be interested in shares of the Company as at
31 December 2024.

Alpadis Trust was indirectly wholly-owned by Alpadis Group, which was in
turn owned as to 82% by Alain ESSEIVA.

Vanessa Teo ESSEIVA is the spouse of Alain ESSEIVA and was deemed
to be interested in shares of the Company.

(H1at4)

Bit -

ZEBRMBREERFER - HEERBANawk
Investment * LLT Investment + JMC Investment *
Eastville Enterprises R R ED RIHEE27.5% *
27.5% ~17.5% ~22.0% K% 5.5% ° Nawk
Investment * LLT Investment * Eastville Enterprises
ARIHAERREE  BEERBLLTEEZEHEES °
JMC Investmentfi Alpadis Trust(#&fEHMac Carthy
EEERVERTARINEEGRENIEAN
RAE)EEHE - HRBERSLE - BELE - Mac
Carthyse 4 ~ |4~ BRI KL - BRE - Nawk
Investment * LLT Investment + JMC Investment }z
Eastville Enterprisesi® 8 &% 2 iz - IR =Z =Y
F+_A=1+—H  BEEEARAARROTES

Bzt e

Alpadis TrustfAlpadis Group@ZE&&EH#A @ M
Alpadis Group 8l| i Alain ESSEIVAZEA82% °

Vanessa Teo ESSEIVAAAlain ESSEIVARIEZE - 3%
RIEHR A QBN KRS
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(4) Accordingly to the information available on the website of the Stock
Exchange, Asian Equity Special Opportunities Portfolio Master Fund
Limited is owned as to 100% by RAYS Capital Partners Limited, which in
turn is owned as to 45.60% by Mr. Ruan David Ching Chi.

(5) The approximate percentages were calculated based on 1,000,000,000
shares in issue as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the
Directors were not aware of any other persons who had any
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares
of the Company which would be recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the interests disclosed above in respect of the
substantial shareholders, as at 31 December 2024, no other
person is individually or collectively entitled to exercise or
control the exercise of 5% or more of the voting power at
the general meetings of the Company and are able, as a
practicable manner, to direct or influence the management of
the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of sales for the year ended 31 December 2024
generated from the Group’s major customers is as follows:

31.8%
79.9%

— The largest customer
- Five largest customers

The percentage of purchases for the year ended 31 December
2024 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers is as follows:

8.2%
27.1%

— The largest supplier
- Five largest suppliers

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) nor any shareholder (which to the knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had any beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five
largest customers or its five largest suppliers for the year ended
31 December 2024.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ExegE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
FY2024.

DIRECTOR’S SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Director’s securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the Model Code. Having been made a specific enquiry by
the Company, all Directors confirmed that they had complied
with the required standard of dealings and code of conduct
regarding securities transactions throughout the year ended 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date
of this annual report, none of the Directors nor the controlling
Shareholders nor substantial Shareholders (as defined in
the Listing Rules) of the Company or their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) were considered
to have any interests in a business which competed or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business
of the Group and/or caused, or was likely to cause any other
conflicts of interest with the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was conditionally approved and
adopted in compliance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
by written resolutions of the then shareholder on 27 October
2017. Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out
in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed
in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” above,
no equity-linked agreement that (i) will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or (ii) requires the Company enter
into any agreement that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares, was entered into by the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2024 or subsisted at the end of the
reporting period.
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
BRFIMBER

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”), under which the Board may declare dividends,
including special dividends, as it considers appropriate. The
dividend payout ratio may vary from year to year, and there
is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period. In determining/recommending the
frequency, amount and form of dividends for any financial year/
period, the Board shall consider the following factors:

- the actual and expected financial results of the Group;

- economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group;

- the Group’s business strategies, including future cash
commitments and investment needs to sustain long-
term growth;

- the current and future operations, liquidity position and
capital requirements of the Group; and

= any other factors that the Board deem appropriate.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has set up an Audit Committee on 27 October
2017 with written terms of reference. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee include, but are not limited to, the following:
(i) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and removal of the external auditor; (ii) reviewing the financial
statements of our Group and monitoring the integrity of such
financial statements; and (i) overseeing the financial reporting
system and internal control procedures. As at the date of this
annual report, the Audit Committee comprises three members,
namely Mr. Yip Wa Ming, Mr. Kan Pak Cheong and Mr. Wong
Kwok Kuen. The chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Yip
Wa Ming, who holds the appropriate professional qualifications
as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee,
which was of the opinion that the preparation of such results
complied with the applicable accounting standards, the Listing
Rules and legal requirements, and adequate disclosures have
been made.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ExegE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

From the information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company'’s total issued share capitals are held by the public at
all times throughout the year ended 31 December 2024 and up
to the date of latest practicable date prior to the publication of
this annual report for ascertaining certain information contained
herein.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to implementing good corporate
governance practices. Information on the principal corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 48 to 75 of this
annual report.

THE FORTHCOMING AGM

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held at Room
R2, United Conference Centre, 10/F., United Centre, 95
Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong on Tuesday, 27 May 2025
at 3:00 p.m. and the notice convening such meeting will be
published and despatched to the Shareholders together with
this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no significant events affecting the Group after
FY2024 and up to the date of this report.
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
BRFIMBER

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. The Board has taken the
Audit Committee’s recommendation that a resolution for their
re-appointment as independent auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the AGM.

There is no change of independent auditor for the past three
years.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Sze Chai
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B AR &

e
pwc

To the Members of Trio Industrial Electronics Group
Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Trio Industrial
Electronics Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”), which are set out on pages 110 to 187,
comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AR E

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to the net FH{FIER P HFNEREF FERENEFE
realisable value assessment of inventories. R A] B IR FE RS o

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

REEER BEMNEANAEEBRRETSHE

Net realisable value assessment of inventories Our procedures in relation to the net realisable value
assessment of inventories included:

Refer to notes 4(b) and 21 to the consolidated Understood and evaluated the management’s

financial statements. key internal controls in relation to inventory

costing and the net realisable value assessment,
As at 31 December 2024, the Group has inventories and assessed the inherent risk of material
of approximately HK$140 million, which were stated misstatement by considering the degree of
at lower of cost and net realisable value. estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent

risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias
or fraud;

e Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the
inventories aging profile used by the management
to estimate the appropriate provision for slow
moving and obsolete inventories;
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BITSER

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AR E

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BERETER BRANEFTNMEEEARETSE
The determination of net realisable value required e Assessed the reasonableness of estimated selling
judgment to be made by the management on the price determined by the management by testing,
estimated selling price, the estimated costs to on a sample basis, the sales subsequent to the
completion and the estimated costs necessary to year end. If subsequent sales were not available,
make the sale. we compared the estimated selling price against
the most latest selling price prior to the year end
We focused on this area because of the significance and assessed the impact of recent price trends
of the balances and the judgments and estimates for these inventories; and
involved.

e Assessed the reasonableness of: (i) the estimated
costs to completion by comparing to the latest
costs to completion prior to the year end; and (ii)
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale
by comparing to costs incurred during the year.

Based on the procedures performed, we considered
that the judgments and assumptions used by the
management in determining the net realisable value of
inventories were supported by the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBE RS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBE RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Li Ching Lap Bernard.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEEEBER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT &+ _-_A=+—HItFE

2024 2023
—SE-NE —E-=F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HiaE FETT FEIT
(Restated,
note 37)
(FEEZ -
Hii#37)
Revenue W as 6 1,007,545 1,160,211
Cost of sales SHE AR 7 (820,060) (930,421)
Gross profit EA 187,485 229,790
Other income H A A 6 4,395 4,596
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER 7 (20,129) (18,626)
Administrative expenses TEFEX 7 (165,195) (150,172)
Other operating income, net H A AL 2 WA S 58 8 6,834 1,694
Profit from operations K 13,390 67,282
Finance income U A 11 4,989 1,331
Finance expenses i piha 11 (11,032) (11,168)
Profit before income tax B PS5 A s 7 7,347 57,445
Income tax credit/(expense) Frig®ie, (Fx) 12 1,211 (10,296)
Profit for the year attributable to owners RARER ABIEFRA
ofthe Gompany ] B 8,558 .. 47,149
Other comprehensive expense, Hih2HEFAX (NHE)
net of tax
Items that will not be reclassified HEiETeEH 7 EE B
subsequently to profit or loss: BIEE -
Fair value (losses)/gains on revaluation of BT REFHAEE
land and building, net of tax (B18), W (F0Fi% ) (2,123) 946
Items that may be reclassified HErEF 7 EE B
subsequently to profit or loss: HAE -
Currency translation differences PEH Z%E 254 (1,337)
Other comprehensive expense FAEMEERS
_forthe year, netoftax . ... Gowte) o (1889 (391)
Total comprehensive income for the year KATHEB AELRFAZ
attributable to owners of the Company H 85 6,689 46,758
Earnings per share SRER
- Basic and diluted (HK cents) —EAR R #E (B(L) 13 0.86 4.71

The notes on pages 114 to 187 are an integral part of these

financial statements.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MisE R

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B RRE
As at 31 December 2024 —E-UF+-_A=+—H
2024 2023
—EMF —E-=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
iz FET FHET
(Restated,
note 37)
(4 EZ -
Hti£37)
Assets EE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - B kA 15 89,749 76,006
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 140,763 100,467
Prepayments and deposits ARt RIE kike 18 6,276 1,581
Financial assets at fair value through AT 1E? f]\?ﬁ SHRA S
profit or loss BEE 17 1,942 1,870
Intangible assets ELEE 1,465 =
Deferred tax assets EIEFIEE B 19 3,414 =
243,609 179,924
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 21 139,754 205,612
Trade and other receivables %%&ﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁﬂﬂlmlﬁ 22 255,810 202,564
Prepayments and deposits TRt RE kRS 18 14,681 15,241
Tax recoverable A Ui [B] 7 18 5,410 204
Financial assets at fair value through E/‘ﬁfﬁ STABRERENS
profit or loss WA 17 1,890 1,733
Restricted bank deposits %BE%‘J%E@@& 23 15,392 16,543
Cash and cash equivalents RehReEEY 23 141,144 60,949
574,081 502,846
Current liabilities nEBAE
Trade and other payables ‘é’%&ﬁﬁﬂﬂgﬁmlﬁ 24 194,434 123,498
Contract liabilities aNEaE 25 20,534 16,865
Borrowings %%k 26 21,250 20,657
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 10,915 7,116
Current income tax liabilities BNEAPT ST & & 9,734 4,730
256,867 172,866
Netcurrentassets === #*&BEERE 817,214 329,980
Total assets less current liabilites ~~ HEMERRBHEE® 560,823 509,904
Non-current liabilities FnBEMF
Lease liabilities HEEE 16 140,063 95,633
Deferred tax liabilities BETIEEE 19 3,223 3,536
oo 143,286 99,169
Net assets BEEFE 417,537 410,735
Equity s
Share capital % 27 281,507 281,507
Reserves i 28 136,030 129,228
Total equity fERYAEE 417,537 410,735

The financial statements on pages 110 to 187 were approved
by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 and were signed

on its behalf

Wong Sze Chai
Director

EZE

The notes on pages 114 to 187 are an integral part of these

financial statements.

Tai Leung Lam

HEM
Director
EZE

b2

F1I0R187TEZM B BREREBRETF TR T =
AE=ZA-+NBH#E THATEERXRE
E2RE

F114=187 AWM E AR HRE 0] 2 536
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT &+ _-_A=+—HItFE

Currency
Share Other  Statutory translation Revaluation  Retained
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
R HtfE  AERE S¥RERE  ERRGE  REER @zt
Note HK$000  HKS000  HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000  HKS000  HK$000
i TET 75T T TET T 75T TET
Balance at 1 January 2024 R=E-ME-F—B&# 281,507 (125,162) 16,570 161 20,455 217,204 410,735
Profit for the year EREA - - - - - 8,558 8,558
Other comprehensive E2ERY
expense - - - 254 (2,123) - (1,869)
Total comprehensive FRZANGER
income for the year - - - 254 (2,123) 8,558 6,689
Realisation of revaluation ~ EREfHEE (174
deficit, net of tax - - - - (682) 795 113
Appropriation of RVAE R
statutory reserve - - 1,141 - - (1,141) -
Balance at 31 December ~ R-Z-ME+-f
2024 “t-H&s 281507 (125,162 17,711 415 17,650 205416 417,537
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-E_=F—-A—-PB&H 281,507 (125,162) 14,705 1,498 20,182 191,135 383,865
Profit for the year EREH - - - - - 47,149 47,149
Other comprehensive Et2ERY
expense - - - (1,387) 946 - (391)
Total comprehensive income  £RZ AR AH
for the year = = = (1,337) 946 47,149 46,758
Realisation of revaluation ~ EREBMEEE (15
deficit, net of tax - - - - (673) 785 112
Appropriation of statutory  REVETE Fefis
reserve - - 1,865 - - (1,865) -
Dividends paid ERRE 14 - - - - - (20000 (20,000
Balance at 31 December ~ R-E-=%+-f
2023 e =F 281,507 (125,162) 16,570 161 20455 217204 410,735

The notes on pages 114 to 187 are
financial statements.

an integral part of these

o
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BT AP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

2024 2023
—S-NE —E-=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
HtaE FET FET
Cash flows from operating activities RETHHEESRE
Cash generated from operations KESIRE 32(a) 126,693 79,741
Interest and bank charges paid BENFERIBITFESR (11,032) (11,168)
Income tax paid EATFTFH (2,375) (16,530)
__Net cash generated from operating activities  EEEBPIEREFR 113,286 52,043
Cash flows from investing activities RETHHEERE
Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank Z R FIRITIER
deposits B, () 1,395 (10,107)
Interest received B U F & 4,745 1,051
Dividend income received B AR S A 141 167
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE  BERIE&E (32,266) (30,593)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE BERREN
plant and equipment FriS sk I8 32 19
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HEEAFEFTABSE
at fair value through profit or loss B & /A ERTSHIE - 7,610
Addition of intangible assets AERVEE (1,465) -
_Net cash used in investing activities BARBMAREFE (27,418) (31883
Cash flows from financing activities METBRERE
Proceeds from borrowings BRFTSRIE 32(b) 26,086 70,005
Repayments of borrowings EEER 32(b) (25,500) (70,327)
Dividends paid B E 14 - (20,000)
Principal elements of lease payments HENFHES IS 32(b) (6,549) (10,337)
_Net cash used in financing activities | RAZBMARSFE  (5:963)  (30.659)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RERBEEFED
cash equivalents #n, G ) 358 79,905 (10,469)
Effect of foreign currency rate change INEE IR R E B E 290 (1,378)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—HmMRBRE X
ReEEY 60,949 72,796
Cash and cash equivalents at R+=—B=+—HHRL
31 December FREEEY 23 141,144 60,949
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents HeERBESEEYIN
Time deposit with original maturity up to three REIEHE A=A T
months H9E HAfE 3K 23 94,589 —
Bank and cash balances SR1T IR 456k 23 46,555 60,949
141,144 60,949

The notes on pages 114 to 187 are an integral part of these % 114E187 MM T A A WK T Al 75 BB
financial statements. 7 e
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2.1

GENERAL INFORMATION

Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong
and listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
principal place of business and registered office of the
Company is at Block J, 5/F., Phase |l, Kaiser Estate, 51
Man Yue Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales
of electronic products. The immediate holding company
of the Company is Trio Industrial Electronics Holding
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$’000”), unless
otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the material accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) as issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”)
and requirements of the Companies Ordinance. HKFRSs
comprise the following authoritative literature:

° Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

o Hong Kong Accounting Standards

o Interpretations developed by HKICPA.

The consolidated financial statements also include

applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

2.1

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR M

—RER

HETXETREERAR(F2TNA
—KREBEBEAMKINERAR @ AEFR
BHAERZMABERAR ([BXF])ERLE
Me ARBET2LEMEREIMPEER
FENBRAMROES1RIIELEH L2
HISIBUE -

ARB/—HKEEERAT - ARARE
MEARE (AR ]) TZ2NERER
HEESFEM - AR ZEEERARR
HETXRETEREARAR  —HKRNER
REBSEMBINER AT -

(RBEBIEPAN - NRAMBRERTIAEE
T ((FETZ5 -

EXREHEREE

AR TE IR AR B ANAR A B 75 3R R B P BR A
MEXSFTHRBE - BRRBHRAI &
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ImELE A
HEPBRERNERESSHMAE ([F
BETMAS ) BONE M B REEL
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s FHAEGFEA

s BESIHMASHENRE -

A ARHRRTRAMRAES L H R
RIS AR 2 BB B R o
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2.1

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BT E R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of land and buildings, and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), which
are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires the management to exercise
its judgment in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements
are disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

2.1.1 New and amended standards adopted by the
Group
The Group has applied the following new
amendments for its annual reporting period
commencing 1 January 2024.

HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
(Amendment) Current or Non-current and
Non-current liabilities with
covenants
Hong Kong Presentation of Financial
Interpretation 5 Statements — Classification
(Revised) by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand
Clause
HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in Sale and
(Amendment) Leaseback

HKAS 7 and HKFRS Supplier Finance
7 (Amendment) Arrangements

The adoptions listed above did not have any impact
on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are
not expected to significantly affect the current or
future periods.

2.1

REMBHRRME

EXEEEBE(E)

RBERE (&)
REMBBRRIDRELKAEES - Wik
BRFESIRE i REFEMEA R
NFEFABER (ERAFEFAER
AR EREEFDLER -

BEREBVYBREENRHMBEHRRFTE
ERETHREN Gt TRETEER
ERAKE S BER B EL A - 5
kB SEER NSRBI MY
B HmRBEABRIMGEFOEE - 24
AR RIS R M R4 R o

211 FAEEERM T RAEETTER
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REVF RS HEER UL THEET
K o

BB SR BRESEAR
E15% B IEREB K
CHEN) B 75 22 5 ) I

REAE

HERE MBHREZE
FE55% 5 —fERA
(F&{E35T) BERENRE

B IR E A
= &40k

AN RS ERMAENEE
B 1658 aE
CHEN)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 EASHEHEMEZ)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 mBHEE(E)
2.1.2New and amended standards and 212 R MM FT RIS ER R 2R

interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards, amendments to
accounting standards and interpretation have been
published that are not mandatory for 31 December
2024 reporting period and have not been early
adopted by the Group. These amendments are not
expected to have a material impact on the entity in
the current or future reporting periods, except for
the following:

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements (effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2027)

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of
financial statements, introducing new requirements
that will help to achieve comparability of the financial
performance of similar entities and provide more
relevant information and transparency to users. Even
though HKFRS 18 will not impact the recognition or
measurement of items in the financial statements,
its impacts on presentation and disclosure are
expected to be pervasive, in particular those
related to the statement of financial performance
and providing management-defined performance
measures within the financial statements.

Management is currently assessing the detailed
implications of applying the new standard on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
The Group will apply the new standard from its
mandatory effective date of 1 January 2027.
Retrospective application is required, and so the
comparative information for the financial year ending
31 December 2026 will be restated in accordance
with HKFRS 18.

TRIO INDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED | &2 T¥EF &£@MAER A 7
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MisE R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented
in HK$, which is the functional and presentation
currency of the Company.

Transactions and balances in financial
statements

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

REMBHRRME

2 EXRSTHEHERBEGE)

2.2 HphEsE

(a)

(b)

TheE R 25K #
AEBEENMBRERABIENIE
B AZERLEEMETERRR
ENEE ([N EEFE - R4
PERERABITEY  EAAEXRQ
RINEERZFEE -

MBREROR S R

INERZIER 5 E B IEB EFAT
ENHERNRTERRERY
BEER HBEZERH NIRFRE
RMEIINEHENEBEERE
BEmEENIINERZ REBEEREZR
E At ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 EASHEHEMEZ)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Foreign currency translation (Continued) 2.2 HNEEBE(F)
(c) Group companies (c) &BEAFA
The results and financial position of all the group Mg EREZHNEBTRZAABEE
entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper- BEEE (B TP RhBERRSERE
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency HEE) ¥ E BB ARRIRIN A
different from the presentation currency are RIRE 5 25| .

translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i)  assets and liabilities for each statement of (i)
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the end of that reporting
period;

(i) income and expenses for each statement (il

of comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the rate on the
dates of the transactions); and

(i)  all resulting currency translation differences are (iii)
recognised in other comprehensive income.

BNEBRIMBRARAZE
ERAERZEBEHRZKH
PER]E

BHEEKRERAZWIZF
e R (BRIF UL F & X
Y ARERRZEHEREERZ
R REBZEENE  TE
AT WXEBERZABRZ
ExBE) : &

PIEMILEE ZELZRNE
o 2 E R FERR

2.3 Property, plant and equipment 23 ¥ BERRZE
Property, plant and equipment (except for land and WE - BRE MRS (i RAEFRIN R E
building) is stated at historical cost less depreciation. PR ITESEE o F R AN EZ
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly ZIHEEEEENRY -

attributable to the acquisition of the items.
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2.3

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BT E R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Land and buildings comprise mainly offices. Land and
buildings are carried at revalued amount, being its fair
value at the date of the revaluation on the basis of
periodic valuations by an external independent valuer
less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Any accumulated depreciation at the
date of valuation is eliminated against the gross carrying
amounts of the asset and the net amount is restated
to the revalued amount of the asset. Revaluations are
performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the
carrying amount does not differ materially from that which
would be determined using fair values at the end of the
reporting period.

Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation
of land and buildings are recognised, net of tax, in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation
reserve in equity. To the extent that the increase reverses
a decrease previously recognised in profit or loss, the
increase is first recognised in profit or loss. Decreases
that reverse previous increases of the same asset are first
recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent
of the remaining surplus attributable to the asset; all other
decreases are charged to profit or loss. Each year, the
difference between depreciation based on the revalued
carrying amount of the asset charged to profit or loss and
depreciation based on the asset’s original cost, net of
tax, is reclassified from the property, plant and equipment
revaluation surplus to retained profits.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost or
revalued amounts less their residual values over the
remaining useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
estimated useful lives are as follows:

Land and buildings 30 years
Plant and machinery 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Leasehold improvements shorter of

5-10 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if necessary, at each reporting
date.

2.3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

2.4

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

A lease is recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

2.4
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2.4

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BT E R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received; and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between the principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the lease period
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
follow:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct cost incurred by the lessee; and

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

While the Group revalues its land and buildings that are
presented within property, plant and equipment, it has
chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings held by
the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit
or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of
12 months or less without a purchase option.

2.4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

2.5

2.6

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour, an
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead
expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of
normal operating capacity, and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition, and is calculated using the weighted average
method. Net realisable value is determined based on
estimated selling price, less the estimated cost to
completion and the estimated cost necessary to make the
sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in
the period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, in which case they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

M5 E R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Financial assets

(a)

(b)

(c)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair
value through profit or loss, and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost are measured at FVPL.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will be recorded either in profit or loss or in other
comprehensive income. The Group reclassifies debt
instruments when and only when its business model
for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and de-recognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial asset are de-recognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
assets at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at FVPL, transaction cost that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at
FVPL are expensed in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. For initial recognition of
trade receivables, refer to note 2.6.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Financial assets (Continued)
(c) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments

There are two measurement categories into which
the Group classifies its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Interest income from these
financial assets is included in financial income
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in “Other operating income, net”
together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented in
profit or loss.

° FVPL: A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and presented net
within “Other operating income, net” in the
period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all investments in
equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss.
Dividends from such investments are recognised
in profit or loss as other income when the Group’s
right to receive payments is established.

Other changes in fair value are recognised in profit
or loss and presented within “Other operating
income, net”.

(d) Impairment
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables, see notes
3.1(b), 4(c) and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements for further details.
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2.8

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BT E R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition
Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to
the customers, the customers have full discretion over
the products, and there is no unfulfiled obligation that
could affect the customers’ acceptance of the products.
Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped
to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and
loss have been transferred to the customers, and either
the customers have accepted the products in accordance
with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have
lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence that all
criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

Cash collected from the customers before product
delivery is recognised as contract liabilities (see note 25
to the consolidated financial statements).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 EASHEHEMEZ)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Employee benefits 29 EEEA

(@) Pension obligations (a)

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to
publicly or privately administered pension insurance
plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund
does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees
the benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior years. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense when they
are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an
asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction
in the future payments is available.

For employees in Hong Kong, the Group
participates in both a defined contribution retirement
benefit scheme which is registered under the
Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance (the
“ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance in December
2000.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly
contributions from both employees and the Group
at rates ranging from 5% to 15% of the employee’s
basic salary, depending on the length of services
with the Group.

For employees under the MPF Scheme, the Group
contributes monthly the lower of HK$1,500 or 5%
of the employees’ relevant income to the MPF
Scheme, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BT E R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Employee benefits (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligations (Continued)

The Group in the PRC participates in defined
contribution retirement benefit plans organised by
relevant government authorities for its employees
in the PRC and contributes to these plans based
on certain percentages of the salaries of the
employees on a monthly basis, up to a maximum
fixed monetary amount, as stipulated by the
relevant government authorities. The government
authorities undertake to assume the retirement
benefit obligations payable to all existing and future
retired employees under these plans. There are no
forfeited contributions under these plans to reduce
the contributions payable by the Group.

Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of
the obligation can be made.

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the
cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
period in which the associated services are rendered
by employees.
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2.9
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 EASHEHEMEZ)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Taxation 2.10 $i1E
The tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Tax TRIER Y B FEEANE R EEFIIE - HiIENIE
is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that WAER  EERNEM eI E BN
it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive HHERZIBEHEBEBRIN c RIEEERLT » B
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also BN Bl A E b 2 T Uk 25 ok B 1 A KE 25 T
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 2 o

equity, respectively.

(@) Current income tax (a)

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period in the
countries where the Group operates and generates
taxable income. The management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

(b) Deferred income tax (b)
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is not accounted for if
it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MisE R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Taxation (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Deferred income tax (Continued)
Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, except for deferred
income tax liability where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary difference is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, only to the extent that
it is probable the temporary difference will reverse
in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit
available against which the temporary difference can
be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
where there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
where the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority. Current income tax assets and liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk,
cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 H&REAKREE£Z)

(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors 3.1 MBEMBEZE
(a) Market risk (a) TWEER
(i)  Foreign exchange risk (i) SMEEREE

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong,
the PRC, Thailand and Ireland. Entities within
the Group are exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to US$, RMB, THB and
EUR. Foreign exchange risk arises from export
sales, purchases, other future commercial
transactions and monetary assets and liabilities
that are denominated in a currency that is not
the entity’s functional currency.

The management has set up a policy to
require the group companies to manage their
foreign exchange risks against their functional
currencies. The group companies do not
adopt formal hedge accounting policy. They
manage their foreign currency risks by closely
monitoring the movement of foreign currency
rates and by considering to enter into foreign
exchange contracts to reduce the exposure
should the need arises.

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with the surplus funds placed with
banks, trade and other receivables, rental and
utility deposits, trade and other payables, and
lease liabilities denominated in EUR, RMB and
THB. Foreign exchange risk arises when future
commercial transactions or recognised assets
or liabilities are denominated in a currency that
is not the entity’s functional currency.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MisE R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(@) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continueq)

The table below summarises the foreign
exchange exposure on the net monetary
position of the above assets and liabilities,
expressed in the Group’'s presentation
currency of HK$:

REMBHRRME

3 HHEREE(E)

3.1 BBREBEE (&)
(a) THBE(E)
(i) SERE(E)
TR R EERAGBZE

WORBRNT 2 IMER R - AARE
Ez 25 EEABTIT

2024 2023
—ENE el = E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Net (liabilities)/assets (B8R BEFE
EUR BT 11,914 (4,965)
RMB AREE (176,502) (123,684)
THB Rk (9,440) (2,881)
GBP g (8,218) (327)
Total net exposure F R 4B e (182,246) (131,857)

As at 31 December, a 5% strengthening/
weakening of the currencies of the above
assets and liabilities against HK$ would have
decreased/increased (2023: decreased/
increased) post-tax profit for the year by
the amounts as shown below. This analysis

Rt+t-—A=+—8  Lt#&E
FBEzEEHEBTHE
B2 (B5% 18 B F WK T2 m
Memmd Ewm(===
F gD ) BT
FiR o o iR AT A £ A

assumes that all other variables remain ERE o
constant.

2024 2023
—E_-F —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FEIT
EUR BN TT (497) 207
RMB AR 7,369 5,164
THB Zik 394 120
GBP ESi 343 14
7,609 5,505
There is no significant foreign currency BMEBEENENINEZZRRS
transaction risk that would affect equity HESEBRNEEZE 5%
directly. The 5% movement represents B HEEEHES T —EF
management’s assessment of a reasonably EwmE BFINEERSIEA g8

possible change in foreign exchange rates
over the period until the next annual reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 H&REAKREE£Z)

(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HKRBEZEE)
(@) Market risk (Continued) (a) THBE(E)
(i)  Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) SrEREE(E)

Under the Linked Exchange Rate System
in Hong Kong, HK$ is pegged to US$, the
management therefore considers that there
is no significant foreign exchange risk with
respect to the US$.

As at 31 December 2024, the exposures to
foreign exchange risk arising from certain
currency exposures, such as Kazakhstani
tenge and Canadian dollars (20283: Singapore
dollar and Canadian dollars), are not
significant.

(ij) Cash flow interest rate risk

Borrowings obtained at variable rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk which
is partially offset by cash held in banks at
variable rates. The Group does not adopt any
interest hedging strategy.

Bank borrowings of the Group were arranged
at floating rates varied with prevailing market
condition.

As at 31 December 2024, if interest rates on
borrowings at variable rates had been 50 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 December 2024 would
have been approximately HK$89,000 (2023:
HK$86,000) lower/higher as a result of higher/
lower net interest expenses.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BT E R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Market risk (Continued)

(iii) Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity securities price
risk from investments in equity instruments
held by the Group which is classified in the
consolidated statement of financial position
as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss. Price risk is the risk of changes in fair
value of financial instruments from fluctuations,
whether such a change in price is caused by
factors specific to the individual instrument
or factors affecting all instruments traded in
the market. The Group mitigates its price risk
exposure by ensuring the investment portfolio
is frequently reviewed and monitored.

As at 31 December 2024, if the equity price
of the financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss had been higher/lower by 5
percent with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended
31 December 2024 would have increased/
decreased approximately by HK$79,000 (2023:
HK$72,000).

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to financial instruments, that are trade and other
receivables, deposits, time deposits and cash
deposited at banks. The management has credit
policy in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. In this
respect, the management considers the credit risk
is significantly reduced.

3.1

REMBHRRME

BEBREE (&)

MBEREE (F)

(a)

(b)

SRR (&)

(iii) 1E1EE R
AEBREREFENRATER
BASZBRAELFBRRAR %
ETERGEMBERARF D
HAEEAFEFABRZEZ
é@ﬁ? ERERESHT

AT EF R B i H IR 2 Y
H& EREEEREHRR
B TASENEERFEN
BEHAEE T ANREEAE
B AEEBEBEAREERS
MEEPG AR S o UREER
R o

%:;:E¢+*ﬂ:+*

R A ER ABRERD
iﬂQFMF*F%iﬂ/T
BR5%MmAT A EMEEREFT
# BE_Z-_MNE+_-_A=
+—HLLFE  KEENKH
183 FI 5 15 hn, % 2> 4979,000
BIL(ZE =4 :72,0008
JL) °

EERB
AEENEERRIERASWT
BCNBSREELKE - &
& EHERRERBAHRS -
EREDH TR S
REEERR - RLTS  BEE
BBEERREABRE -

Annual Report 2024 FE R &

153



134

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 H&REAKREE£Z)

(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HKRBEZEE)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) f=ERRE)

In respect of cash deposited at banks and time
deposits, the credit risk is considered to be low as
the counterparties are reputable financial institutions
with sound credit ratings assigned by international
credit rating agencies.

For deposits and other receivables, the management
makes periodic collective assessments as well as
individual assessments on the recoverability with no
significant credit risks identified.

Impairment allowance policies for trade
receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
in measuring expected credit losses which uses
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables. To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables has been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 24 months and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within this period. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
The Group has identified the relevant GDP of the
countries in which it sells its goods to be the most
relevant factor, and accordingly adjusts the historical
loss rates based on expected changes in these
factors.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

BITSER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment allowance policies for trade
receivables (Continued)

On that basis, the loss allowances for trade
receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were

3 HHEREE(E)

31 HXBRBREZEZ)
(b) FERKE)
BN B R ERER % (&)

BZEE R_BE_NFR_ZF =
=+ -_A=+—HHESEKX

determined as follows: HEEREETNT
2024
—EME
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FHHEER AREARE EiERE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Current BV EA 0.3% 198,492 677
1-30 days 1230k 1.3% 39,644 535
31-60 days 31 260X 6.6% 11,904 787
61-90 days 61290k 11.7% 1,183 138
91-120 days 91E120K 20.0% 5 1
Over 120 days 120 KA £ 100.0% 152 152
Total HEt 251,380 2,290
2023
—E =4
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TR ERE R X ARE4A%E E R
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current BVEA 0.1% 101,285 106
1-30 days 1E230K 0.4% 71,572 309
31-60 days 31E60K 2.7% 23,725 638
61-90 days 61290k 25.5% 2,699 688
91-120 days 91E120K 58.3% 12 7
Over 120 days 120 KA E 100.0% 2,065 2,065
Total #Et 201,358 3,813
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 H&REAKREE£Z)

(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HKRBEZEE)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) f=ERRE)

Impairment allowance policies for trade
receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within “Other
operating income, net”. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against
the same line item.

As at 31 December 2024, 45.6% (2023: 49.0%)
of the trade receivable was due from the Group’s
largest customer and 84.2% (2023: 81.0%) was due
from the five largest customers determined on the
same basis. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits and
credit approvals.

(c) Liquidity risk (c)
Cash flow forecasts are performed in the operating
entities of the Group. Such forecasts take into
consideration of the Group’s debt financing plans,
covenant compliance and, if applicable, external
regulatory or legal requirements — for example,
currency restrictions.

The Group maintains liquidity by a number of
sources including orderly realisation of short-term
financial assets and receivables; and long-term
financing including long-term borrowings. The Group
aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping
sufficient bank balances, committed credit lines
available and interest-bearing borrowings which
enable the Group to continue its business for the
foreseeable future.

TRIO INDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED | &2 T¥EF &£@MAER A 7

B 5 Wt IR 89 B E R 1 BR ()

85 R YGRIANES E R KR E
B 88 o 30 4R S I TR HA A U Bl 5RO
M REHE (K EHE) BB ARE
BB E RS -

B HREFIENRERBE A Et
REWNFRE AN RERBRFR -
H 1&g U [ml St B L 5H Y 2 BB RF AR
—IEH e

NR-ZE-_WME+-_F=+—RH &
SEW R IAN45.6%(—E =4 :
49.0% ) HEKMEAREBENHZEAE
B migR—ZEEETERIS4.2% (=
L= :81.0%) IEKERAAE
F-AE=REEERR  &~EH
EHEEELZk—EAEKAEEERE
EREREERE -

RBES R
RengBARAKRBENEEE
BET RFRADEERAEE
ZEBEERE - ReERE LINEB
ERTIAAEER(MEBRS]) (1@
R -

AEBEB RSN (BREFRF
IR BEE REWR) K
HpE (BRERBEREFRDE
T - AREEEBBRITITRIRT
R ATHBRAREEEE Kt
BEF #REcNEEENE =
RERBENA] RS R RS S H TS -



FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BT E R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into the applicable maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the end of
reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted

cash flows.

3.1

REMBHRRME

BEBREE (&)

MBEREE (F)

(c) RBEEZRMR(E)
TROMBHREMREANIH A
HRTIHARAB AN EENSRAES D
RBREISBAR - IRESER
BHARMRASRE -

Total In the
contractual  Withinone  second to
Carrying undiscounted year or on fifth years, Over five
amount  cash flow demand inclusive years
REZZ
BHAEE FAE
BENE (BRWE
REE 8% -FRAIEER BEER) RENE
HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSOOO  HK$O0D
FET FET FET T FET
At 31 December 2024 RZB-ME+-A=1-H
Trade and other payables (note) B 5 RAMENFE (B 187,398 187,398 187,398 - -
Borrowings B3 21,250 22,576 22,576 - -
Lease liabilities ERfE 150,978 194,842 17,612 68,127 109,103
359,626 404,816 227,586 68,127 109,103
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=£+-A=1-H
Trade and other payables (note) EUNELT RS 114,759 114,759 114,759 - -
Borrowings & 20,657 21,800 21,800 - -
Lease liabilities HEER 102,749 141,299 15,228 41,269 84,802
238,165 277,858 151,787 41,269 84,802
Note: Wizt -

The amount excluding from trade and other payables mainly
represents the accrual for salaries and other employee benefit

costs.

TEREBEZREMENFIRNEREIREFS

REMIEERAKAETER o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

3.2

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amounts of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt/
(cash) is calculated as borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents. Total capital is calculated as “total equity” as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position
plus net debt, where applicable.

The Group’s strategy was to maintain optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital. The gearing ratios
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

3.2

BBEBREE (&)

ELER
AEBEEEEAN B ZRRERNEB R
BIEE - DAARRERE R & AE AT &=
THEE 2R Az - W RIZEME RS
FELAPRIRE AR A o

RERFHABRBEARE  ARERERE
XA TFERORESHE RABRREDE
A BITHRIEEEEARDET ©

AEENEERBLRA/EEEREAN
HEMRE - - EERBLERLFER
FRIABA@BFHE - FER (RE)IRE
FRAE MR EEWAE - MELERE
AIRER & ISR KR AR [ s 4058 1 IN0%
&% (Em )t HE -

ARG ) SRS A5 e i SR A B AN IA
BREERAKER R-Z_WHFR-_T_=
F+-A=t—HBWBEERBLLEMT :

2024 2023

—E-ME —E=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Borrowings (note 26) B (FFzE26) 21,250 20,657
Less: cash and cash equivalents B ReRBEeEEY

(note 23) (FFE23) (141,144) (60,949)

Net cash FHE (119,894) (40,292)

Total equity EmARER (417,537) (410,735)

Total capital RN (537,431) (451,027)

Gearing ratio BEAGBLE N/ATiE A N/AZ i@ A
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BT E R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3

REMBHRRME

BEBREE (&)

(Continued)

Fair value estimation 3.3 ATEMHE

The table below analyses the Group’s assets and liabilities TXRILEE "i@ZﬁTﬁ?ﬁifﬁﬁﬁFﬁﬁm?\%ﬁ(

carried at fair value as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 BOER S ASER-_ZT-_NFER=

by level of the inputs to valuation techniques used to E_=F T+ A=+T—HRATFEIERD
measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised into three BERAE  -E@85H AZE IR T Xt
levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows: Mo EGEAANTFEREANN=EER :

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for ° HMAAEXRBEERREEN S
identical assets or liabilities (level 1). BE(CRERE) (F1E) -

e  Inputs other than quoted prices included within e KRIFIEMBREMNREIN ZEE
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, FEENAIBRNEMEA - AR
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, B# (ANfInfE) sk H% (ANREE
derived from prices) (level 2). %) (FE2fE) -

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based ° BEXEBETIEKREBEIERTIEE
on observable market data (that is, unobservable EHEg A (BNIEr B =g A ) (3
inputs) (level 3). B) o

As at 31 December 2024, assets measured at fair value RIZZBZWFTZA=1T—0 REEH

in the consolidated statement of financial position are BRAREBEAFEFENEETE D A

grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows: TAEEELR :

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1E F2[E F3E @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET FET FET

Assets &E

Land and buildings THRIEF - - 19,340 19,340

Financial assets at fair value BATEF ABRRA

through profit or loss SREE
- Listed equity investments — ERAERE 445 - - 445
- Unlisted fund investments —FEMEEKE 1,445 = = 1,445
- Unlisted keyman insurance —kLMESRRAEY
contracts - - 1,942 1,942
1,890 - 21,282 23,172

Annual Report 2024 F £ %5



140

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3

BBEBREE (&)

(Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 QAFEME (&)
As at 31 December 2023, assets measured at fair value RZZBZ=FF+=—A=1+—H R&xEHY
in the consolidated statement of financial position are BARAKIBE AT EFENBEETIED AN
grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows: TATFEER :
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
1 F2E F3E 5t
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Assets &E
Land and buildings THREF - - 22,900 22,900
Financial assets at fair value BATERH AERRD
through profit or loss SREE
- Listed equity investments — ERARE 258 - - 258
- Unlisted fund investments —FLEMEERE 1,475 = = 1,475
~ Unlisted keyman insurance - LEMESRREH
contracts - - 1,870 1,870
1,733 - 24,770 26,503

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the
use of observable market data where it is available and
rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level

3.

The following table presents the changes in the Group’s
assets and liabilities carried at fair value for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

BE_ T _NWNER-_FT-_=F+-A=

+—BIEFEHESE] - 2M3EZEHE
# o

WIHFRNERT S EXZNERTA (W5
ﬁl\?ﬁilﬁ)EI’J/“$TEJ’JT§FH1$TEE>‘£%

c RFHETEZREERAHRERZA
&ﬁ%% Mg TERERVERERETE

HE - Mt ERTANAFENMEZEE
WA ER - QB T AW
FIANFE2E -

5 — B |2 B B8 A RIS SRS
TRETSUEHE - ZTABEIAE
3 -

TREJNBE_FT_MOFR_FT_=FF
—A=1— Etifﬁ’%lﬁ?’ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁ
MEENMBENE
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BT E R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B HRRME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 H#¥EKREEE)
(Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 DR {EME(E)
Unlisted
Land and keyman  Unlisted Listed
building at insurance fund equity
fair value contracts investmentsinvestments Total
RAVE
dEMNLH FLTER ¥Ltm it
kgF RReY HEERE RARE @t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
FAT FAT FAT FET FET
Year ended 31 December 2024 Bz-E2-mE
TZRA=t-HLEE
Opening balance B 22,900 1,870 1,475 258 26,503
Gain/(loss) recognised in RERERN
profit or loss W/ (B8) - 72 (30) 187 229
Loss recognised in other WA 2 E R AR
comprehensive income B (2,355) - - - (2,355)
Depreciation & (1,205) - - - (1,205)
Closing balance HREH 19,340 1,942 1,445 445 23,172
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-2-z=H
TZRA=t-HLEE
Opening balance & 23,000 9,325 1,673 342 34,340
Gain/(loss) recognised in REBRERN
profit or loss W&/ (B8) - 155 (198) (84) (127)
Gain recognised in other REM 2 EKERRN
comprehensive income Wis 1,050 - - - 1,050
Disposal & - (7,610) - - (7,610)
Depreciation & (1,150) - - - (1,150)
Closing balance HiR A 22,900 1,870 1,475 258 26,503
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(@) Recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets

The Group’s revenue inflow is highly dependent
on its manufacturing operations on electronic
products. Judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an
event has incurred that may indicate that the related
asset values may not be recoverable; (2) whether
the carrying value of an asset can be supported
by the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair
value less costs of disposal or value-in-use, which
is the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of
the asset in the business; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash
flow projections including whether these cash flow
projections are discounted using an appropriate
rate. Any changes in key assumptions, including
the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions
in the cash flow projections, could materially affect
the net present value used in the impairment test
and as a result affect the Group’s financial results.
If there is a significant adverse change in the
projected performance and resulting future cash
flow projections, it may be necessary to take an
impairment charge to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

ERAAEEEBRNEZME
K #

fEaT RA B AR EETIE - LBER
BEREMAZ(BRYEAEEREERE
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EERIHEHRER
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(@ "% BERRE ERAEEENU
REFEE ] B WK IE
AREBEHWERARKIZE LKFE
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BEE - ERELHE - LERF
B ()BEHRANERTEHEE
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MisE R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
the estimated cost to completion and the estimated
cost necessary to make the sale. These estimates
are based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of selling products of similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of
changes in customer taste and competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycle. The management
reassesses these estimates at the end of each
statement of financial position date.

Impairment of trade receivables

The impairment of trade receivables is based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
settlement history, existing market conditions as
well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and
inputs used are disclosed in notes 2.7(d), 3.1(b) and
22.

REMBHRRME

ERAEESTTHRENETEMG

K (&)

ETEEAETREBR(E)

(b)

(c)

FENTERFE
FEMAZRFEREAEEHBE
) fih 5t & (B RUE BT AR b ETAK
AIEITIHEMBHMBARAE - &
FAETNERBR MR LEERU
HEERHBELRMIEL - P
ENNERBEFHTFREREBINITE
i HA T BREX B 17 &) A BE 2 % F A AT
BERNE - EBRERS MR
=~ B REH S & EF A

B 5 EWRIERE
BSRWAKBRENDEREBEN
B RIEAEEENRE - KK E
EERZEREINANREZRNEST
WETENEE (EERNAEE LG
HEES RAMAUERS®mSE
HAZR A AU RE M 51 ) BFER A AT © A
HANBERERI LB ASENFRE
WENRMHF2.7(d) » 3.1(b) K222 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(d) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant judgment is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the period in
which such determination is made.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are determined based on the
information reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker (“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segment, has been identified as the board of
directors (the “Board”).

Operating segments are reported in the manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
CODM. The Group is subject to similar business risk,
and resources are allocated based on what is beneficial
to the Group in enhancing the value as a whole. The
Board considers the performance assessment of the
Group should be based on the profit before income tax
of the Group as a whole and regards the Group as a
single operating segment, and reviews internal reporting
accordingly. Therefore, the Board considers there to be
only one operating segment under the requirements of
HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”.

The Group provides manufacturing and sales of electronic
products, which are carried out internationally, through
the production complexes located in the PRC, Thailand
and lreland during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

FERAEESTTHRENETEMG
K H i (4&5)

EFREF AT RER (E)

(d) FAEH

AEBEEABRNBERERTENHAE
B BEMSHRBRRAFELEX
HE - XRPBEERZ - MEEZXF
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REE -

REDHHERTAERETEELER
RENAME2HR—H - AEEEBRBUE
BRR  BERERHRITASEREE
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ERARRE - Bt - EFERA - RE
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T—HIEFE  AEESBURTEH - R
BENERBNEERGBRHEETFERR
ERHE (BREBRERS) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers

External customers contribute over 10% of total revenue
of the Group for the years ended 31 December are as

5 ZSHERE)
ETBEFHEN

BE+-_A=tT—"BLLFE REEEEL
WHBRBB10%WINEELIT

follows:
2024 2023
—EmEF —E =
HK$’000 HK$°000
F#ET FET
Customer A ZEA 320,481 403,793
Customer B ZFB 187,719 131,899
Customer C 2EC 145,431 N/A3E A
Customer D =FED 102,898 187,232

Geographical information

The table below summarises the geographical revenue
segment based on location of customers for the years

38 & 35 B R

TERBARNEBEE—ZT_MFER T _=F
+ A=t HUEFEREFPMNEDEDN

ended 31 December 2024 and 2023: Ho IR W 550 20
2024 2023
—E-F —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Europe B 885,793 1,034,228
North America ib3E 65,522 84,189
The PRC s 24,570 17,337
South-east Asia REgin 6,539 7,503
Hong Kong B 3,707 3,195
Others Efb 21,414 13,759
Total 4t 1,007,545 1,160,211
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 2WBERE)
Geographical information (Continued) WEEEER (F)
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, REBEE-_ZT-_NMFAN T -_=F+-"H=
majority of revenue was derived from customers in +—BHIEFE  AIPoWFKEBNEF
Europe (mainly the UK, Switzerland and Ireland), while the (FEARE  H+TLERBE)  Hepls
remaining revenue was derived from customers in the US, WEER  HE - Bigds - 6 REMM
the PRC, South-east Asia, Hong Kong and others (mainly B(XrEARNEERBEE o
Australia and Brazil).
In relation to non-current assets held by the Group RAEEMFENERBEE(EZERY
(primarily represented by property, plant and equipment ¥ BmENERE (K1) MEREEE
(note 15) and right-of-use assets (note 16)), land and (Mizx16))M=s r R—E=E-_WE+_-_A=
buildings with carrying values as at 31 December 2024 +—B ' BEEEA19,340,0008 7T (=F
of HK$19,340,000 (2023: HK$22,900,000) are located — =4 :22 900,000 )T RIES
in Hong Kong. Other property, plant and equipment and HRIAES - HihE  BERZERE
right-of-use assets are primarily located in the PRC and BAREEETSMNRRELER -
Thailand.
REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 6 WmRHEAMKA
2024 2023
—E-NmEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET
Revenue Weas
Sales of goods (note a) EmiEE (MizEa) 1,007,545 1,160,211
Other income HAp A
Commission income BEWA 104 181
Dividend income & BUA 141 167
Government grants (note b) BT B (M 5ED) 997 2,130
Scrap material sales income HREEVDRELEE WA 2,463 1,242
Rental income HEKA 15 158
Service income i3 PN - 58
Sundry income HIEUIA 675 660
4,395 4,596
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BT E R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at a point in time.
In 2024, the Group incurred costs of HK$1,996,000 (2023:
HK$2,986,000) in respect of sales commission paid to agents
which is the incremental cost of obtaining a contract. The Group
applied the practical expedient allowed by HKFRS 15 to recognise
such costs as an expense when incurred as the amortisation period
of the asset to be recognised is one year or less.

The government grants for the year ended 31 December
2024 mainly represented the subsidies received from the PRC
Government for export credit insurance premiums paid in prior
years.

The government grants for the year ended 31 December 2023
mainly represented the one-off vocational training subsidy
and reward for import trade promotion received from the PRC
Government.

There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching
to these grants.

EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included in “Cost of sales”, “Selling and
distribution expenses” and “Administrative expenses” are

6

7

REMBHRRME

5 R H AU A (48

Hikt -

(@)

HEEMAEKRENE —REER KT
P AEERRAIE N HEMSEERK
751,996,000 7T (ZZF = =4 : 2,986,000
T REBBEHKEERAN - R THER
WEEBHBA—FIUT *AEBEEAEE
BT RS ERIFE SRR R T THE B 7 A B A By
R ERKARER R

BE_ZT_NF+-A=+—BLFENBMN
#8B) = R AR P BB BN EY A B 4F R B4
AEMRRERHEL -

BE-_ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HLLEENRAF
b B 2 Z H5 1 R B BT W ER ) — M B TR
B O 5 (R SEE IR -

AR B8 A0 775 B <2 3 8 10 S 222 K A BT 5 R AR X LA
HAEHE -

BUME s EORX
HE BEHERA ] [HERHHEA
RITREZ ST :

analysed as follows:

2024 2023

—E_ME —E-=HF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

(Restated)

(#EEZ)

Cost of inventories FEKAR 711,408 806,564
Reversal of impairment loss on inventories 17 &8 (B &5 125 @ (MfzE21)

(note 21) (1,040) (8,251)
Obsolete inventories written off BREGFEMH 109 1,182
Employee benefit expenses EERAMAZ

(including directors’ remuneration) (BREEEFH)

(note 9) (Ft5£9) 183,071 192,644
Depreciation for property, plant and Y - BRERRETE

equipment (note 15) (FFEE15) 16,108 13,693
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FEREEENE (:E16()

(note 16(b)) 14,507 13,215
Freight and transportation expenses BEENREHMAYT 11,714 10,392
Utilities expenses UNZE S5 7,839 8,409
Auditors’ remuneration 1% B 37 B
— Audit services —BETARTS 2,261 2,395
- Non-audit services —IEBE RS 651 1,020
Expenses related to short-term leases HEHHEERENRY 1,184 1,416
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

8 OTHER OPERATING INCOME, NET 8 HRKEWANFEE
2024 2023
—B-NEF T =fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(#=&E%))
Gain on foreign exchange, net SINGE Ul 25 F BR 6,288 4,823
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at & A BT AEZEEEH
fair value through profit or loss TREENAFERS
(E8) 229 (127)
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME  BEX&
and equipment B 24 12
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment B 5N REBERR
loss on trade receivables (note 22(c)) (B15) (fitsE22(c)) 296 (1,466)
Others HAh (3) (1,548)
6,834 1,694
9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 REERAHAX(BEES=FHH)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION)
2024 2023
—EB-NEF —E=fF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET T8
Wages, salaries and allowances TE - #Hek=E0 157,603 165,697
Pension costs — defined benefit plans BIRE AR — ERRE F AT &l - (72)
Pension costs — defined contribution RN KA — E R G S
plans (note) D) 25,468 27,019
183,071 192,644

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no forfeited contributions were
used to reduce the contributions payable by the Group (2023: nil). No
forfeited contribution under the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme is
available to reduce the contribution payable in future years.

Bt

BE_Z_NMF+-_A=+—BLFE  HEEM
BRERBIEROARERMNNER(ZF==4F :
) - BUREMRERAR B RBESFHEET AR
AR AT R BA R A0 2R 2R 4R R B AN B 145K
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MisE R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 10 EENENRER

DIRECTORS
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the section R AE N BHE 5 55 383 151 52 Y = = H B an
383 of the Companies Ordinance is as follows: T
2024 2023
—EWE =%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect FH{EAEEEF K EEE
of a person’s services as a director, RAFHEH B A A
and other services in connection with E756 B89 E b AR 7%
the management of the affairs of the BTk ERE IS
company or its subsidiary undertaking:
Fees e 962 960
Basic salaries, allowances and EXFHE - RMR
benefits in kind EmE 12,351 14,066
Discretionary bonus BB TEAL 1,035 2,115
Employer’s contribution to RIREAIFT 2R
a retirement benefit scheme BEHK 1,606 1,802
Retirement benefits RIKEF - 3,000
Termination benefits BHR R 1,041 -
16,995 21,943
(a) Directors’ retirement benefits (a) EEZ2ERNRER

Retirement benefits of HK$3,000,000 was paid to
Mr. Lai Yiu Wah in respect of his other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company or its subsidiary undertaking during
the years ended 31 December 2023.

REE_ZE_=F+-_A=+—H
IEEE  BRERELLEFHEERER
NAEIRENE R R BHEAE MR
M Sz 43,000,000/& JL iR K@ A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

10 BENEFITS AND

INTERESTS OF

DIRECTORS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ termination benefits

On 28 May 2024, the Board made a resolution
to terminate the appointment of Mr. Joseph
Mac Carthy as the director of the Company and
certain subsidiaries. The Company made the
following payments to Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy
as compensation for the early termination of the
appointment:

10 EENEARERE)

(b)

EECHBET
R_Z-_mM&ERFA-_+/N\BH &=
2 ®iBKIFZ EJoseph Mac Carthy
EEBARRARETHBRARES
HRZZ - KA al[AJoseph Mac
Carthy e X AT HIBEARE
BRIFR(EREE

Paid by the
Company
PN R
HK$’000
FEIT
For the loss of office as a director EREREEERBEHME 1,041
For the loss of any other office EREREHER
in connection with NN Y
the management of HINBARIEH
the affairs of the Company B RN E R E R
and/or its subsidiaries K (8 =
1,041

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

Save as disclosed above, no other payment was
made to third parties for making available the
services of them as a director of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate
by and connected entities with such directors during
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Company’s business
to which the Company was a party and in which
a director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: nil).

(d)

(e)
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Z 8

BEXWEEN RBEE-_T M
FT-A=+—HLFE  #HEH®
F=HAARRREEZREMA
HEXMEMRIB(ZT_=F: &) -

EBNES HERESZHMNE
ErEAEHEENERRAISZAZ
BEX - EERRAMRZ Z2EH

REBEE_Z-_MF+=-_A=+—H
IEFE MESENESE - BHEH
BEEHNEEREEFHENE
BRASXZAZER  EERKEA
RP(ZEZ=F : &) o

EENRD REREHNPZEKR
R
ARAMEITVEEERNEFREE
DAL R RN E TN =R =
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EEMEEDATEEANRD R R
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BT E R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE M BHRRME
10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 10 EENGEARER (&)
DIRECTORS (Continued)
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments ) EERFTETHAEME
The emoluments of every director and the chief BHE_T_NER_ZFT_=F+=
executive for the years ended 31 December 2024 B=+—HIEERKEERIET
and 2023 are set out below: BAEHMEHT :
Basic Employer's
salaries, contribution
allowances to retirement
and benefits  Discretionary benefit
Fees in kind bonus scheme Total
ExEe . BIER
R FEN
fig BN WiERa RS gt
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
AT AT AT AT AT
2024 3
Executive directors #i7Es
Mr. Wong Sze Chai (note i BREAE (W) - 8,700 345 508 4,553
Mr. Tai Leung Lam BRIMEE - 4,434 465 558 5,457
Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy (note i Joseph Mac Carthy 7t (Fi i) - 1,793 - 228 2,021
Mr. Lo Ka Kei Jun BRLE - 2,064 225 297 2,586
Ms. Liu Yun (note v} HZ 5T (M) - 360 - 15 375
Non-executive director FUnES
Mr. Kian Tak Sum Stanley BERLE 240 - - - 240
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
Mr. Fung Chun Chung (note v) BERLE (k) 98 - - - 98
Mr. Hau Siu Laam (note v) RFEERE (W) 158 - - - 158
Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise (note vi) BEZh T (M) 198 - - - 198
Mr. Kan Pak Cheong (note vii) HRE % (W) 143 - - - 143
Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen (note ix) B (Fekn) 83 - - - 83
Mr. Yip Wa Ming (note ) 2B (W) 4 - - - 42
Chief executive TEAHAR
Mr. Kiwan Chan Kiwong (note x| Bt % (Hi) - 2,206 465 280 2,951
Ms. Znhang Jingjing (note i) Faa (i) - 1,254 - - 1,254
962 15,811 1,500 1,886 20,159
2023 “E-cE
Executive directors #i7Es
Mr. Lai Yiu Wah (note i P (W) - 352 1,200 46 1,598
Mr. Wong Sze Chai note i) ERELE (M) - 2,890 150 390 3,430
Mr. Tai Leung Lam RS - 4,430 310 558 5,298
Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy (note i Joseph Mac Carthy 524 (R £Fii) - 4,390 155 558 5,103
Mr. Lo Ka Kel Jun EEpinh - 2,004 300 250 2,554
Non-executive director FUnES
Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley BERLE 240 = - £ 240
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
Mr. Fung Chun Chung (note v) BEPEE (Mikv) 240 - - - 240
Mr. Hau Siu Laam (note vi) FEREE (Mik) 240 - - - 240
Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise (note vi) BLE0+ (Fehil) 240 - - - 240
Chief executive EXGON-|
Mr. Kwan Chan Kwong (note i Bt % (Hrix) - 4,406 310 558 5,274
960 18,472 2,425 2,360 4.7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

10 BENEFITS AND

INTERESTS OF

DIRECTORS (Continued)

(f) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(xi)

(xii)

Mr. Lai Yiu Wah resigned as chairman of the Board and
executive director of the Company on 31 January 2023.

Mr. Wong Sze Chai was re-designated as chairman of the
Board on 31 January 2023.

Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy was removed as executive director
of the Company on 28 May 2024.

Ms. Liu Yun was appointed as executive director of the
Company on 28 October 2024.

Mr. Fung Chun Chung was retired as independent non-
executive director of the Company on 28 May 2024.

Mr. Hau Siu Laam was resigned as independent non-
executive director of the Company on 28 August 2024.

Ms. Law Ying Wai Denise was resigned as independent
non-executive director of the Company on 28 October
2024.

Mr. Kan Pak Cheong was appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company on 28 May 2024.

Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen was appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company on 28 August 2024.

Mr. Yip Wa Ming was appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company on 28 October 2024.

Mr. Kwan Chan Kwong was resigned as the chief executive
officer of the Company on 2 July 2024.

Ms. Zhang Jingjing was appointed as the chief executive
officer of the Company on 2 July 2024 and resigned with
effect from 28 March 2025.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: nil).
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10 ESNERRER (F)

)

EERFBRTHRAEME (&)

Hisz -

(i)

(ii)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(vii)

(ix)

RRERER-F-=F—A=T—H
BEARAEFRERRATERL
B

HEERER-_T-_=F—A=+—AH
HEREERLE

Joseph Mac Carthysc R =% — 44
AAZTN\BHEBRRNARNTEEZ
B o

BELLR=_T-_WF+A=-+N\AE
ZEARRAATES -

BHEREER-_T-_NERA/-+/\H
RERRBBILIERITES ©

FEREER-_Z-_NENA=-+\H
BHIAR BB IEATES -

BULEBLTR-_T-_NE+/-+/\H
BHIARRBYIEATES -

MAEEER—ZE-—mMERA -+ N\H
EEEABARARBNIFNITES -

EREEEN - -_MENA=-+N\AH
BEEABAARBNIFNITES -

EERAREN_F_NFE+A=—TNR
BZERARABIUIENTES -

BRI EER T -WFE+ A = AEHE
ANRBNTRAEH, -

RESBUTN-_E_NEL A RS
FARNRIITRERRR_Z_AF=
A=+\BBT -

REBEE_ZT-_MF+=-_H=+—8H
IHEE BSEHEBTHRAELE
ZHREXRAEREETAEFH (=F
=4 ) e



FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BITSER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 10 EENEANRER (&)
DIRECTORS (Continued)

() Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (f) EZBERTETBRAEME (&)

(Continued)
2024 2023
“ENE —E-=fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Aggregate emoluments paid to or EEHEAESREERE
receivable by directors in respect RATHEM B A A
of their services as directors, and E156 e Bt RS E
other services in connection with XA 4258
the management of the affairs
of the company or its subsidiary
undertaking 15,954 18,943
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

10 BENEFITS AND

DIRECTORS (Continued)

(9)

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose remuneration were
the highest in the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 included 4 directors (2023: 4
directors) whose remuneration are reflected in the
analysis presented above. The remuneration payable
to the remaining 1 individual (2023: 1 individual)
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are as
follows:

INTERESTS OF 10

EENEARER (F)

(9) EEESHFMAL
HE_Z_WF+_A=+—H81
FE G AEERERSHFHALE
BEAOMRBEGHONZES
—EZF NEER)  cHEZ
E-ME+ZA=+—HBILtEE -
BT —R2ENALZ(ZE==
F o —ZEABAL)NFBOT

2024 2023
—ENEF T =F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHETT FET

Basic salaries, allowances and AR B2 R
benefits in kind EWER 2,206 4,406
Discretionary bonuses [l AN 465 310

Employer’s contribution to RINBHIG S

retirement benefit scheme BEEHRK 720 558
3,391 5,274

The number of non-director highest paid employee
whose remuneration fell within the following band is
as follow:

FHNFUTHRBENFESHRSFH
BEAZIT :

2024 2023

—E-MMF T
Nil — HK$1,500,000 T %1,500,000# 7T - -
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,500,000 2,500,001 7T 2 3,500,000% 7T 1 =
HK$5,000,001 — HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 % 7T, 2 5,500,000 7T = 1
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BITSER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SETBRRM T
FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES 11 BB ARBEX
2024 2023
—E-E SEE S
HK$’000 HK$000
FHET FET
Finance income R ON
_Bankinterestincome BIRBHA L 1,331
Finance expenses A=
Interest on bank borrowings IRITIE KA S (1,330) (1,621)
Interest on lease liabilities (note 16(b)) HEBEFE (FE16(0) (5,347) (4,671)
Bank charges RITUE (4,355) (4,876)
______________________________________________________________________________________ e R e
Finance expenses, net B 55 558 (6,043) (9,837)
INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) 12 FiBHiESR (BAX)
The amount of taxation in profit or loss represents: BmAHIBSREINT :
2024 2023
—EDONE —T_=fF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
ikza FET FET
Current income tax: BUEAFR 1S A -
- Hong Kong — & (a) (285) (5,799)
- The PRC — (2,896) (3,577)
Over/(under) provision BAFERRE
in prior years BB (BETR) 1,009 )
Deferred tax credit/(expense) EEFEE R, (FX) 19 3,383 (918)
Income tax credit/(expense) Frisfige,/ (Ax) 1,211 (10,296)
Note: Mat
(a) Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits (a) REEEMNEHROFESHMARG - 2EBE

Tax, the first HK$2 million of estimated assessable profits of the
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities in
Hong Kong not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%. The Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the
estimated assessable profits for the qualifying group entity and at
16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

= Z 88 & 2,000,000 7o &1 FE iR Bt i 7 16 &
8.25% * TMiB#H2,000,000 % JT K x Fl| 1 Ft =
516.5% ° TREGFIBRMAHNEEEEE
A EF S5 BIZ16.5% MG — R EBMH
B -BEZT-_NEER-ZT-_=F+=A=
+—HIEFE - AEREEEEE2,000,000
P& TG R FE R % B M BB S R 128.25% 7
E . MiBi82,000,000 % JT B fi 51 FE &R 51 ik )
WEBFIESHANILZ16.5%:1E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRERME

12
(Continued)

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the tax

rate applicable to profits as follows:

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)

12 Fifs

SHE SR (BAX) (&)

55 BB P15 5 A v A B TR B i P A 7
M RAE 2 BmBEERNT

2024 2023

—E-NE T =F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FETT FET

Profit before income tax bR PTAS 5 Al e A 7,347 57,445
Calculated at a tax rate of 16.5% R E16.5% (=T == :

(2023: 16.5%) 16.5%)5T & 2 Fi1E 1,212 9,478
Effect of progressive tax rate RETENZE (165) (1695)
Effect of different tax rates in EMH G EAER RN E

other tax jurisdictions HENE (786) 2,305
Income not subject to tax BAR A (1,493) (1,570)
Tax losses for which no deferred WEBERELMSHEEZ

tax asset was recognised IEEE 2,671 322
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes ~a] 1% 2 1,742 1,083
Utilisation of previously unrecognised FABARTHER

tax loss HIAEE - (337)
Recognition of previously unrecognised RBERTHERLZ

temporary differences Tt =R (3,383) =
(Over)/under provision BEFFE (BREEE),/

in prior years BHETR (1,009) 2
Concession tax rate (note b) WRBE (HaEb) - (822)
Income tax (credit)/expense FriSHi (38%), FxX (1,211) 10,296
Note: Mt -

(b) A subsidiary of the Group duly signed an agreement with the (b) AEEH—RHBQ ﬂ#:?:%i/\ﬂi

Board of Investment of Thailand on 3 August 2020 that the

subsidiary would be exempted from corporate income tax. The tax

exemption granted expires on 2 December 2024 and is capped

at approximately HK$20 million on a cumulative basis. Given

the subsidiary’s reported cumulative profit before tax amounting
to HK$11.8 million (2023: HK$11.8 million) were within the tax

exemption limit, no corporate income tax had been provided for

both years.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MisE R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share

The basic earnings per share is calculated on the
profit attributable to owners of the Company divided
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue during the years ended 31 December 2024

REMBHRRME

13 SRER
(a) SREXEF
i%%$ﬁﬂﬁﬁ$“ﬂ%ﬁAf
ERFIBRUABE S -_NER=

ANA BN E EIM:ifE%’E
T8 BN E

and 2023.
2024 2023
—EB-NEF =%
Profit attributable to owners of R RHER NG ST
the Company (HK$'000) (F#&T) 8,558 47,149
Weighted average number of B 31T mAR hnfE 19 AR 2L
ordinary shares in issue (F8%)
(thousand shares) 1,000,000 1,000,000
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) &FRXEZRZF] GEAL) 0.86 4.71

(b) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share was the same as basic
earnings per share due to the absence of dilutive
potential ordinary shares for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

(b) BREEERF
HREBEE_T_NER_T-_=F
+ - A=+—HItFETEEEEH
BEAER BLTRBERNEE
AREAR B AR o

DIVIDENDS 14 RE
2024 2023
—ENE T =F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Final dividend for 2023 of nil B =FREKREER
(final dividend for 2022: HK1.2 cents) TERAT (T ——
per ordinary share REAIRE : 1.2810) - 12,000
Interim dividend of nil (interim dividend HEHRESREBERAT
for 2023: HK0.8 cent) T —FRHRKE
per ordinary share 0.8781ll) - 8,000
= 20,000
Note: Kiat -
A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 of HK1.2 BRZZEZRFRAA -+ EABRITHARRBREESF
cents (2023: nil) per ordinary share, amounting to a total dividend of AL EREBR-T-NF+-A=+—HILFER

HK$12,000,000, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on 27 May 2025.

FREBR2EM(ZT==F : T)RBERHARE
#912,000,0007% T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 Y% BERRE

158

Land & Plant&  Furniture & Office Motor Leasehold  Construction
buildings ~ machinery fixtures  equipment vehicles improvements in progress Total
tHEEF  BEREE  GEREE  BOERE hE  AENEEE FRIE s
HKS 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
F&r 77 77 F&r 77 F&r 77 F&
Year ended HE-E-mE
31 December 2024 t=B=t-ALEE
Net book value at WZF-mE
1 January 2024 —A-BHERF 22,900 12,451 9,863 398 1,503 18,405 10,486 76,006
Exchange reaignment (5% - (53) (36) - () (24) 64 (52)
Additions hE - 6,717 8,076 241 522 4,000 12,710 32,266
Transfer & - 1,198 - - - 22,067 (23,260) -
Defict on revaluation ~ EfEE4 (2,355) - - - - - - (2,355)
Disposals it - - - @) - - - )
Depreciation i (1,205) (6,103) (3,125) (159) (546) (4,970) - (16,108)
Balance as at e
31 December 2024 TZAZT-BiES 19,340 14,205 14,778 41 1,476 30478 - 89,749
At31 December 2024 WZZZRE
+ZA=1-H
Cost or valuation RAF[fE 19,340 12,215 39,642 4,390 4,955 70,088 - 210,630
Accumulated depreciation  2tHTE - (58,010) (24,864) (3,918) (3,479) (30,610) - (120881)
Net book value at e L2
31 December 2024 +-A=1-A
WEAFE 19,340 14,205 14,778 4n 1,476 30,478 - 89,749
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BITSER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

AND EQUIPMENT

15 9% - BERRHE (&)

(Continued)
Land & Plnt&  Funiture & Office Motor Leasehold  Construction
buildings machinery fixtures  equipment vehicles  improvements in progress Total
HHEEF KRR GERRE  BLAZHE 8 REMERE FRIE 5]
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
FAT A7 FAT T A7 FAT FAT T
Year ended BE-8CcE
31 December 2023 TZA=T-BLEE
Net book value at WZ%5z=f
1 January 2023 —A-RNEEFE 23,000 16,051 3,950 460 668 3,170 10,678 57,997
Exchange realignment 3% - 75 32) - - 2 - 66
Additions hE - 1377 8,278 128 1,235 165 19,410 30,593
Transfer 117 - 1,819 - - - 17,783 (19,602 -
Surplus on revaluation  EfiE% 1,050 - = - - = = 1,050
Disposals k= - - @) 4 - - - m
Depreciation il (1,150) (6871) 2330) (186) (420) (2,736) - (13,693)
Balance as at WZ5z=F
31 December 2023 TZA=T-BfEsH 22,900 12,451 9,863 398 1,508 18,405 10,486 76,000
At31 December 2023 WZFZ=F
+2A=t+-H
Cost or valuation RAZ[(E 22,900 64,326 3,03 4,229 5,490 45,605 10,486 185,071
Accumulated depreciation  Et17E = (61,879) (22,172) (3,831) (3,987) (27,200) - (109,065)
Net book value at WZ%==f
31 December 2023 +-A=t+-H
HERE 22,900 12,451 9,863 39 1,603 18,405 10,486 76,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 Y%  BELR#E (&)

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, depreciation
expense of HK$6,193,000 and HK$9,915,000 (2023:
HK$6,871,000 and HK$6,822,000) was charged to “Cost
of sales” and “Administrative expenses” respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s land and
buildings are held under medium term leases (unexpired
period between 20 years to 50 years) and the carrying
amounts of land and buildings pledged as part of the
securities for banking facilities from a bank amounted to
HK$19,340,000 (2023: HK$22,900,000) (note 26(b)).

Carrying amounts that would have been recognised
if land and buildings were stated at cost

If land and buildings were stated on the historical cost
basis, the amounts would be as follows:

BE_Z-_NWE+-_A=1+—HIEE -
WEEM6,193,000% 7T 9,915,000
BIL(ZE=_=%F :6,871,0008 T K&
6,822,000 L) 7 AlEt AT SHE KA | &
[FTERBAS ] o

R-ZZT-_WFE+-_A=+—H KEEZ
T REF AP AN (RAaHE A
20 EH06)FHA  URKBER L LE
FHEABBRTRENRTRENIHIE
R)IREEA19,340,0008 Tt (T ==
£ 122,900,000 70) (MfzE26(b)) °

fisd T4 RABFREARTAR - AIAEEAN
fREE
L MIEFIRE R KAZERIR - ©8
LI

2024 2023

—ElEF T =F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Cost DN 5,014 5,014
Accumulated depreciation 25 E (5,014) (5,014)
Net book amount BRTEFRE - =

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s land and building was valued at 31
December 2024 and 2023 by an independent
professionally qualified valuer who holds a recognised
relevant professional qualification and has recent
experience in the locations and segments of the assets
valued. For land and building, the current use equates to
the highest and best use.

The Group’s chief financial officer (“CFO”) reviews the
valuations performed by the independent valuer for
financial reporting purposes. CFO reports directly to the
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”). Discussions
of valuation processes and results are held between the
CFO, the Chairman and the valuer annually. As at 31
December 2024, the fair values of the land and building
were determined by Ascent Partners Valuation Service
Limited (2023: Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited).

AEEMNEERRE
AEENTHEBTFR T _MOFR_-F
CEFT A=+t HHEXRAEBRBY
EEREE - ZFHEMAA R OEH
EXER  TEGEBEENR D7
EEANOLR - AL REFHE - B
AIAEEER RS R&ERE

AEENERVEE ((BERMBEDAR
BB EMAT RS ETHM-E -
BEFRVBEERNESSEIRE ((XF)H
HoBEMEE  TERAEMESFRE
ERENMERETHR R_T_MF+
“A=1T—H tHFEEFHRIFERAX
HHEBRABRAR (ZF=_=F : X7t
HERABERARDEE °
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MisE R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Valuation processes of the Group (Continued)

At each financial year end, the finance division:

o verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation
report;

° assesses property valuations movements when
compared to the prior year valuation report; and

° holds discussions with the independent valuers.

Valuation techniques

For land and building, the valuation was determined
using the sale comparison approach. Sales prices of
comparable properties in close proximity are adjusted
for differences in key attributes such as property size.
The most significant input into this valuation approach is
price per square foot, which is approximately amounted
to HK$4,854 per square foot for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: HK$5,748 per square foot).

LEASE

This note provides information for leases where the Group
is a lessee.

(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position

REMBHRRME

15 1% - BERRE (F)

FEBNMGEERRE (&)
REMBEREER - FH5E

s BREBY
iz

HERSZHEEIZHA

s RUEBBEFEZHERSE @ FF
HYELEES &

o  EBVEERGR °

RERD

SEREFME - HERBHEELEOR
BE  MHOLEBRYMENHEERSER

MENNEFHRBRBUEZEMAE - ZEE
EREZNBBEEFHRZER B2

—ENFE+-_A=+—BLEFEREF
TTRKA,84BT(ZFE_=F : 8FHTR

5,74877T) °
16 A=
RSB AABEA - BIAK IR HE SR

(@) RESHBRRREANEHE

HAEMBIRKREIIATERE

shows the following amounts relating to leases: R4S RE
2024 2023
—E-lmEF T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Right-of-use assets FEHEEE
Buildings BF 140,763 100,467
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current mE 10,915 7,116
Non-current FETRED 140,063 95,633
150,978 102,749

Additions to the right-of-use assets during year
ended 31 December 2024 were HK$54,829,000
(2023: HK$6,380,000).

HE_Z_W&+-_A=+—H81
FEFREEENESS,829,000%
T (ZZE =4 : 6,380,000/ 1) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

16 LEASE (Continued)

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of comprehensive

16 HE(#&)
(b) REA2EUBIEBRINSE

BARXEMFRBIINTREES

income shows the following amounts relating to RS EE
leases:
2024 2023
—EPE —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Depreciation charge of FREEENERS
right-of-use assets (note 7) (FFE7)
— Buildings —BF 14,507 13,215
Interest expenses FEFZ (GFARBFE)
(included in finance expenses) (BF5E11)
(note 11) 5,347 4,671

The total cash outflow for leases in 2024 was
HK$17,577,000 (2023: HK$16,425,000).

(c) The Group’s leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases various offices, warehouses,
factory, staff dormitory and car parking spaces.
Non-cancellable rental contracts are typically made
for periods of one to fifteen years. The Group
also leases various warehouses and factory under
cancellable rental contracts. The option to terminate
the leases are described in note (d) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants.

(d) Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in
a number of property leases across the Group.
These are used to maximise operational flexibility
in terms of managing the assets used in the
Group’s operations. The majority of extension and
termination options held are exercisable only by the
Group and not by the respective lessor.

—E_NFHERS R ERE A
17,577,000 L (ZE =4 :
16,425,000/ 7T ) °

(c) ZAEEHEEFHREHAEELRX

AEBREZRERAE AE- T
B BIEEREEMN - TAHEHE
HEAH—MAEH—Z=Z+REF - &
SENREUREREANTHEES
BRERIR - &R IEHEEMNERNR
B (d) Rt o

a’*ﬁiﬂ%?ﬂﬂ@l%ﬂ%ﬁ%tﬁﬁéﬁ I
BRETRAMIER GG - HE
mmIHMMEﬁﬂwo

(d) FEHRARLL#E
AEEZENFHESSTEHRK
JJ:’fE CHERAKREELMAEE

mE  BEARKRRCELER
T o FrAHRB D E B R iR (1A
A pAKEMIEBREHEAITE
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BITSER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

17 EAFEFTABR

REMBHRRME

RNERMEE

2024 2023

—EomEFE ZTZ=F

Note HK$’000 HK$°000

Htat FET FEIT

(Restated)

(#EEZ)

Unlisted keyman insurance contracts JE LT Z SRR E 4 (@) 1,942 1,870
Unlisted fund investments FELMESKRE (b) 1,445 1,475
Listed equity investments ETRAEE (c) 445 258
3,832 3,603

Less: non-current portion B FEMENE D (1,942) (1,870)
Current portion mENE D 1,890 1,733

Notes:

(a)

The amount represented the fair value of keyman insurance
purchased for an executive director of the Company. The
policyholder and the beneficiary is Trio Engineering Company
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank borrowings were
secured over keyman insurances with the carrying amounts of
HK$1,870,000 (note 26(b)).

The fund investments were classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss as they were held for trading. The fund
investments were valued at observable prices as of reporting date.

The equity investment was classified as a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss as it was held for trading.

Hiat -

HZEBERARFA —RRTEEMEERER
BEDFE - &1%)\)3‘4“‘/\}\7%21»( EES-1]
BRAREIRERR

#_2:—¢+:HE+—E'$%Eﬁﬁ%
FUABREE A1,870,000/8 LK 2 BRI AR
ﬁ (FfzE26(0)) °

ZEEGRECDBARATE ARERD
SREE  DHRNZSREARERZAR
HERSRENVRBERSE AR A EEER
e °

ZRAREE D BRI ATEFAR
REE - DARZBRESRKERZAE

BENE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRERME

18 PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS 18 FENFEREZEE
2024 2023
—ENEF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Prepayments TE{T FRIE 14,574 12,209
Rental, utility and other deposits MK AHEEREMES 6,383 4,613
20,957 16,822
Less: non-current portion o IEREE D
Prepayments TEfT IR (247) (251)
Rental, utility and other deposit % - AASEREMZS (6,029) (1,330)
Current portion MENER D 14,681 15,241
The carrying amounts of deposits of the Group AEEZSHNEEERER S -_NFR
approximate their fair values as at 31 December 2024 —E-=F+-_A=+—HZAFENR
and 2023. = o
19 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 19 EEFFEH
The movements on the deferred income tax assets and BEMSHEEREBEEZHNOT
liabilities are as follows:
(a) Deferred tax assets (a) EZEHEEE
Tax losses Lease liabilities Total
BEER HEEE st
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZBoME —To=F ZBOMF —To=F ZBIMF —T-=F
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January ®—H—H - 1,133 23,907 23,986 23,907 25,119
Credited/(charged) to SEA/ (108)
profit or loss 8% - (1,133 9,483 79 9483 (1,212
At 31 December RT=A=1—H - 33,390 23,907 33,390 23,907
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

(a)

Deferred tax assets (Continued)

Offset between deferred tax assets and deferred tax

REMBHRRME

19 EEEFREH (&)
(@) EEBEEE (&)
EERBEERRELEREARELZH

liabilities: FYHE8E ¢
2024 2023
—ENE —T_=fF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FHET
Balance as at 31 December Rt+t-A=+—H8%E% 33,390 23,907
Amount offset between deferred trE B S AR R R IR E R IR
tax assets and deferred tax BEMEERIAGE M
liabilities in the consolidated ry K SHER
statement of financial position (29,976) (23,907)
3,414 -
Note: HieF -

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carry forward to
the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefits through the

future taxable profits is probable.

The Group has unrecognised tax losses of approximately
THB40,970,000 (approximately HK$9,107,000) (2023:
THB13,819,000, approximately HK$3,118,000) at the balance
sheet date which can be carried forward and used to offset
against future taxable income, part of which subject to meeting
certain statutory requirements by a subsidiary in Thailand. The
tax losses expire in five years from the corresponding year of
taxable loss. Losses amounting to THB27,151,000 (approximately
HK$6,035,000) and THB13,819,000 (approximately HK$3,072,000)
expire in 2029 and 2026 respectively.

RIETFIRE ETY i i A T M L 75 B 1R T 1
R MEAABBA DTS R &2 1R AT BE 1B 1B R SR FE R Bt
mANBIRE DR o

AEBREEABRKRBNABRBEBEL
£40,970,000% & (479,107,000 7T) (=
T =4 :13,819,000F & (43,118,000
VEID)) C ARG BT A BN A RNIE
HARERB W HPHBHEAFE—REH
MEBARMEE TEAEEX - HEEIE S
EEIHEEFEERAFEER - BES
% /27,151,000 % £ (496,035,000 70) &
13,819,000 &k (#3,072,00078 7T ) 7 Bl =
ENER_T_NEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRERME

19 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

(b) Deferred tax liabilities

Accelerated tax
depreciation

MERENE

2023

“RCRE T2CF CRCRE CTSF CRORF

19 EERSH (&)
(b) ELEHEAE
Property revaluation
surplus Right-of-use assets Others Total
NEEHES fEpEeE At szt
2024 2028 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

“E--F ZECINE —F--F ZECIE —F--F

HK$'000  HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HK$000 HKSO00 HK$000 HKSO00 HKS000 HKS 000

7Ar  TEx  TEr  FEr  FEr  FEr  TEr  TEn TEr

At 1 January R-A-H 538 1,849 1,867 23907 23,986 1,194 1,364 27,443 27,745
(Credited)/charged o other  (3tA) /41

comprehensive income £ 2AME - (231) 104 - - - - (231) 104
Charged/(credited) to e/ GtA)

orofit o oss % (4 - S5 (9 (1004 (170 6100 (294

Credited to equity AR - (113 (112 - - - - (113 (112

At 31 December ’+-A
=t-A 493 1,505 1,849 31,061 23,907 190 1,194 33,199 27,443

Offset between deferred tax assets and deferred tax

EERBEERRELEREARBELZHE

liabilities: EyHE8E ¢
2024 2023
—ENE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Balance as at 31 December Rt+-—A=+—H0%E% 33,199 27,443
Amount offset between deferred tax 4348 B IEAR R R AR LR
assets and deferred tax liabilities HEERELEHIBEEE
in the consolidated statement 2 R S =8
of financial position (29,976) (28,907)
3,223 3,536

TRIO INDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED | {2 T¥EFEEAR AT



FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MisE R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

(c) Withholding tax on unremitted earnings

Deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
for the withholding tax that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries.
Unremitted earnings as at 31 December 2024 is

HK$131,644,000 (2023: HK$121,380,000).

20 SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December

2024 and 2023 are as follows:

19 EEEFREH (&)

REMBHRRME

(c) REHBFBFEMNHR

Ve H 2 7 & 131

A T B A 5K E L 2 F e 8
FEHHOELEHRIEES G M RER -
RZEBE-_WMF+_A=+—HHRK

,644,0008 L (=&

— =4 :121,380,000/87T) °

20 MiEA =

R-E_NER-_E-_=F+-_A=+—

BZEXENBARFENAT :

Place of incorporation Registered/
or establishment and Principal place of Issued and Effective interest held
Company name type of legal entity operation Principal activities paid-up capital by the Company
EMELARLLER it/ 2Rk
ARER FRRRER ITOEHY IEXH BikE  ADERECERER
2024 2023
it 1 St
Directly held:
EfRE:
Trio Engineering Company Limited ~ Hong Kong/Limited liability Hong Kong Sales of electronic products 200,000 shares 100% 100%
company HK$20,000,000
RETRARAA AR/ BRREAR 35 BESTER 200,000
20,000,000
Professional Electronics Hong Kong/Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Sales of electronic products 10,000 shares 100% 100%
Manufacturing Solutions Limited company HK$10,000
EARTIRRBARAA Bb/AREEAR B HESTER 10,000f {3
10,0007
Deltrix Limited Hong Kong/Limited fiability ~ Hong Kong Sales of new energy-related 10,000 shares 100% 100%
company products HK$10,000
EYHNERAT &4/ ERERLT B HEMEREBED 10,000/ {3
10,0007
Trio New Energy The PRC/Wholly foreign-owned The PRC Sales of new energy-related Paid-in capital 100% -
(Guangzhou) Co., Ltd enterprise products RMB2,000,000
LI REN ERAT hE/NEEELE hE HENREER EakA
AR%2,000,0007
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20 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

20 MIBATE (&)

Place of incorporation Registered/
or establishment and Principal place of Issuedand  Effective interest held
Company name type of legal entity operation Principal activities paid-up capital by the Company
EMAIRALRER it/ 2Rk
ARER ERRRER IESENY  IERE BaRE  ARARECERER
2024 2023
RIRE CE-CF
Indirectly held:
BiEsE:
Panyu Trio Microtronics Co., Ltd. ~ The PRC/Wholly foreign-owned The PRC Manufacturing of electronic Paid-in capital 100% 100%
enterprise products 1S$5,000,000
ENTEERENERARAR  TE/VEBALE hEl HESTER (e
5,000,000%7
Guangzhou Professional Electronics  The PRG/Wholly foreign-owned  The PRC Provision of information Paid-in capital 100% 100%
Manufacturing Solutions Limited enterprise technology services RMB500,000
BNEENRERARD hE/MEBELE lCH REEASHIRE EaRA
ARE500,0007T
Trio-tronics Manufacturing Global - Ireland/Limited liability company Ireland Global material sourcing, and 100,000 shares 100% 100%
Limited sales and marketing support EUR100,000
Trio-tronics Manufacturing B/ BREMAA ER# ARMHEEREENE TS 100,000 %47
Global Limited 100,0008( 70
Deltrix (Europe) Limited Ireland/Limited liability company  Ireland Sales of new energy-related 100,000 shares 100% 100%
products EUR100,000
Deltrx (Europg) Limited EBR/ARELLT EBW HEMRRBER 100,000 & {3
100,0008( 7T
Trio-tronics (Thailand) Limited Thailand/Limited liability Thailand Manufacturing of electronic Paid-in capital 100% 100%
company products THB60,000,000
Trio-tronics (Thailand) Limited 8/ BREFAH R HESTER BARA
60,000,000%
Deltrix (Kazakhstan) Limited Kazakhstan/Limited liabilty ~ Kazakhstan Provision of electric vehicle KZT1,000,000 100% 100%
company charging solution services
and trading of electric vehicle
chargers
Deltrx (Kazakhstan) Limited hERTR/ERAAA  WERNE RUSHAERSHANZRE - 1,000,0008%
HREEEHEREE
Deltrix Limited Liability Limited Uzbekistan/Limited liability Uzbekistan Provision of electric vehicle UZS390,000,000 100% -
company charging solution services
Dettrix Limited Liabilty Limited BUflRoE/BREALR  BEARGE  RESHAERSERSERE  390,000,00058
Trio Advertising New Media The PRC/Wholly foreign-owned The PRC Provision of digital advertising Paid-in capital 100% -
(Guangzhou) Co., Ltd enterprise services RMB650,000
HEREERENERAT hE/SNEEELE G RUBERSRE EaRA
ARE650,0007T
Trio-tronics Manufacturing UK Ltd  The UK/Limited liability The UK Manufacturing of GBP100 (Unpaid) 100% -
company electronic products
Trio-tronics Manufacturing UK Ltd 2B /BB EEAR &E HESTER 1008 (Rft)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SETBRRM T

INVENTORIES 21 ®E
2024 2023
—E-F S
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FETT
Raw materials R 92,057 119,473
Work in progress E& 30,255 55,580
Finished goods 2URK fh 15,446 20,200
Goods in transit EEEm 1,996 10,359
139,754 205,612

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and
included in “Cost of sales” amounted to HK$711,408,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$806,564,000). For the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group recognised a reversal of provision for
impairment loss on inventories of HK$1,040,000 (2023:
HK$8,251,000) and wrote off obsolete inventories of
HK$109,000 (2023: HK$1,182,000). These amounts
were recognised in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

BE_Z_MF+_A=+—HLFE
BRAERAZ W ATHEEKA |HFEK
KE711,408,000B T (ZE_=F :
806,564,000/57C) - BHEZZT —HF+
ZHA=T—HLEFE AEEBERERT
B EEIBEE1,040,0008 T (==
=4 :8,251,000% L) KR E&E T Bl
109,000/ L (ZF = =4 : 1,182,000/
TL) - ZESHERGEEANRERMNIEE
AN N ERERR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRERME

22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

22 BESREMEWRIE

2024 2023

—EomFE T =4F

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

it FET FEIT

Trade receivables B 5 W EIE (@) 251,380 201,358
Less: provision for impairment W B 5 EWRIE

loss on trade receivables BB E BRI (b) (2,290) (3,813)

Trade receivables — net B 5N — F58 249,090 197,545

Other receivables H fth B U TR IE 6,720 5,019

255,810 202,564

Under the factoring arrangements with banks, the Group
has legally transferred certain trade receivables to the

factor in exchange for cash.

(a) Trade receivables

Trade receivables arise from trading of electronic products.
The payment terms of trade receivables granted to third party
customers generally range from full payment before shipment to
75 days after the end of month. The aging analysis of the trade
receivables based on invoice date at the end of the reporting

period is as follows:

RIBERTZEARELHE - AEBEAE
WHSE T E 5 RRFAEE ZRIE AN
HEE -

(a)

B 5 EWRE

BORKFRRBETETER - BRTF=S
P HE 5 EUBGIRR N R EIR — AR R & AT
EENREABKRIOR - REZZAH - |E
R E 5 RUFIRN R DT AT -

2024 2023

—E-MNFE —To=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Below 30 days 30K 81,833 45,654
Between 31 and 60 days 31E60K 99,327 45,472
Over 60 days 60K A _E 70,220 110,232
251,380 201,358

Trade and other receivables are past due when a counterparty has

failed to make a payment when contractually due.

As at 31 December 2024, trade receivables of HK$198,492,000

(2023: HK$101,285,000) were not yet past due.

(b) Trade receivables by currency denomination

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are

denominated in the following currencies:

(b)

BEHF T TERENIBEINFTE  BH Rk
H At & WK AR AR A8

R-B-_NME+—_A=+—0 ' BFEKFE
198,492,000/ 7t (ZZF = =4F : 101,285,000
VETT) MR ER o

REBHENEZERRE

AEHE ZRBHIEZ REER T EET
B :

2024 2023
—EmF —T-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET FET

Us$ ETT 231,443 197,918
RMB AR 3,001 2,903
EUR BT 16,898 537
HKD BT 38 -
251,380 201,358
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BITSER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22 EZKHMEWIIE(Z)
(Continued)
(c)  Provision for impairment loss on trade receivables (c) ESRWRERBESRRE
The movements on provision for impairment loss on trade B 5 RUGIBREBEREEZSHNT
receivables are as follows:
2024 2023
—B-NF —2==
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FET
At 1 January m—A—H 3,813 2,347
(Reversal of)/provision for loss allowance, FARGE ZEARGERERLZ
net recognised in B8 (B E) Bt % e (MisEs)
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income during the year (note 8) (296) 1,466
Bad debts written off SRS (1,221) =
Exchange realignment bE 5, 58 2 (6) C
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 2,290 3,813

Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written
off when there is no expectation of recovering cash.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate
their fair values as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
the expected credit loss for all trade receivables. Information about
the impairment of trade receivables and the Group’s exposure to
credit risk and foreign currency risk can be found in note 3.1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

AR 2 B — BN TSR E S B

R-B-mWER-—_E-_=F+-A=+—1
BoREMBUHEZ REAEEL AT EE

s

H o

AEBERATEEMBREEUNEOSRMIEIE
BB ZEBFIA ERAEEEE - AH
B REFIRBENER EAREHERHNEER
[ RSN R 2 RAR S B T 3R AR P 5281 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRERME

23 RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH 23

ZERHEBITERERAERRESSE

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EY
2024 2023
—2omE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$000
F#ET FET
Restricted bank deposits (note) Z RS ERIT R (FEE) 15,392 16,543

Time deposit with original maturity up REEAE & =18 A=K

to three months AT E B3R 94,589 =
Bank and cash balances RIT IR ek 46,555 60,949
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY 141,144 60,949

Note:

The Group’s restricted bank deposits represented deposits pledged to
banks to secure banking facilities granted to a subsidiary of the Group as
set out in note 26(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

(a) Balance by currency denomination

The carrying amount of restricted bank deposits, time deposit with
original maturity up to three months, bank and cash balances of
the Group are denominated in the following currencies:

Bt

AEBRZRERITERBERRRITHOER - JAE
RIRE WIS RRHEE26(0)iE R T ARE —RME L
BIRERTTRIE 2B o

(a)

BREWHENEER

AEBEMZRGRTER  REHBAAH=EH
SATHESRFR  RITERSEHRNREE

ATHEEEHE

2024 2023
—ENF —B_=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET TFHET

HK$ BIT 12,845 17,567
USs$ eV 128,438 49,233
RMB AR 10,967 7,592
EUR BT 2,365 540
THB ES7S 1,713 2,546
Other currencies HipEw 208 14
156,536 77,492

(b) Interest rate range

(b)

S ]

The restricted deposits, time deposit with original maturity up to
three months and bank balances are at interest rate range from
0.001% to 4.08% per annum (2023: 0.001% to 4.57%) as at 31
December 2024 and therefore are subject to interest rate risk.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BITSER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

24 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24 B RHEMENRE

2024 2023
—EomFE ZT=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
it FHETT FET
Trade payables B 5 RIE (@) 174,487 102,959
Accruals FERTSRIE (c) 18,044 18,743
Other payables and provisions Fth B A FRIE R B (d) 1,903 1,796
194,434 123,498
Notes: HtaE -
(a)  Aging analysis of trade payables (a) g 5 TR IRER 2 AT

The credit terms of trade payables granted by the vendors BARTHNESENFENGEER —RALE

generally range from full payment before shipment to net 180 days.
The aging analysis of trade payables based on invoice date at the

AMEBNREWRERIBORTE - RIEFER
B REPROESENRARKSTAT :

(b)

(c)

(d)

end of reporting period is as follows:

2024 2023
—E g esTi=as
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Below 30 days 30K 36,686 36,688
Between 31 and 60 days 31E60K 80,452 25,201
Over 60 days B0KIA E 57,349 41,070
174,487 102,959

Trade payables by currency denomination (b) REMTENESESRE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are

AEBERSRNFAZEEENR TGRS

denominated in the following currencies: & :
2024 2023
—B_mE ===

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
HK$ BT 10,513 8,618
us$ e 90,615 44,815
RMB AR¥ 69,746 48,433
EUR BLT 2,259 760
Other currencies Hih g ¥ 1,354 333
174,487 102,959

Accruals (c) FEER

The amount mainly includes accruals for staff salaries and
employee benefit costs, sales commission, audit fee and other
operating expenses.

Other payables and provisions (d)

The amount mainly consists of refundable sales deposit received.

ZEBREIRBERIHSRERBHAA - 3
ERE  BIERAGKERINETER -

Htb e RIARBRE

FZHETRBEERAREHERD
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

25 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25 GHAE
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group R-E-_NER-_E-_=F+_A=+—
recognised the following liabilities related to contracts H "EBHBAUTEHZREEAEHENA
with customers: & :
2024 2023
“ENEF —E=fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FBT
Contract liabilities aHafk 20,534 16,865
(a) Change in contract liabilities (a) EBHEEEZEH
The Group receives payments from customers REBEBREBEAGHOBRTENHELZHR
based on billing schedule as established in BEWE R - BEREAS LIEA
contracts. Payments are usually received in advance WHNZE  FTERAEEESR o
under the contracts which are mainly from sales of BHBBEEMITHREBEESRSEH
goods. Contract liabilities have increased due to HETF IS RUEE TE =% IE
increase in prepayment received for goods to be A o
delivered as of the reporting date.
TR A 4L Bl E=
(b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract (b) HENRERILH RS
liabilities
The following table shows the amounts of the FTERBAEE_F_AFR=_F=
revenue recognised for the years ended 31 :TJVAH_;L*EJtiraTJE“
December 2024 and 2023 which relates to carried- HEBSNABERHNRESR -
forward contract liabilities.
2024 2023
—EBME —F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue recognised that was qu)\E/\i%ﬂ AafE
included in the contract liabilities ﬁ?ﬂ’]EﬁEa Hﬁlﬁ
balance at the beginning of the year
Sales of goods HEEm 6,906 28,672
(c) Unsatisfied contracts related to sales of goods (c) HEEEREBENABITEN

The Group has applied the practical expedient to
exempt the disclosure of unsatisfied, or partially
unsatisfied, performance obligations as of the end of
the reporting periods arising from its sales contracts
for electronic products, as they have original
expected durations of one year or less.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BT E R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMERERME
26 BORROWINGS 26 &
2024 2023
Note HK$’000 HK$ ‘000
it FETT FHET
Secured bank borrowings IR ITER (a) 21,250 20,657
The Group’s borrowings were repayable as follows REEREREEBRLDOT (RETRTX
(without taking into account the repayment on demand B 5E (@) Praf il i B SRE B IR ¢
clause as detailed in note (a) below):
2024 2023
—EF-mE b =
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Within 1 year 1FR 10,333 135157
Between 1 and 2 years 1EZR24 8,250 5,000
Between 2 and 5 years 2E R 2,667 2,500
21,250 20,657
(a) Repayment on demand clause (a) RERERERK
As these loans include a clause that gives the lender the HRZEERRE—BEIE FERAERK
unconditional right to call the loans at any times (‘Repayment on HREMECHNEREDER ([EREREEK
Demand Clause”). According to HK Interpretation 5 “Presentation &) IREBEBBREESH [ MBHRERNE2HR—
of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term ERALHEREKEEERZAHERZD
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause”, these loans ] ZEERORAARBEATSDARS -
were classified by the Company as current liabilities.
(b)  Pledge of assets (b) HEERERH
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the total borrowings were RZBZWER-ZE-=F+=-A=+—QH "
secured by the following assets and their carrying values were AT EEERBENAER N EREESN RN
shown below: TS ¢
2024 2023
—E_NE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FET
Property, plant and equipment (note 15) M - BB M (FisE15) 19,340 22,900
Financial assets at fair value through profit BAFEFABERENEREE
or loss (note 17) (PEEE17) - 1,870
Restricted bank deposits (note 23) ZRHIRITFR (Hi5E23) 15,392 16,543
34,732 259 8ik8!
The borrowings were also secured by the an indemnity for an Z S ERIN B AN A B KR SRR E R B E
unlimited amount executed by the Company (note 30). AER (M17E30) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

26 BORROWINGS (Continued) 26 B (E)
(c) Interest rate (c) Fil=Z
The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate changes RIS R - ANEEEREENNEZ SRR
and the contractual repricing dates at end of the reporting period REREHEEBHAT
are as follows:
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Variable rate BEHRE 21,250 20,657
The fair values of the borrowings approximates their carrying ARERERERIER  ERZAFERERER
amounts due to Repayment on Demand Clause. BEEE
The effective interest rate of bank borrowings is 6.23% per annum BE-_ZT-_WNF+-_A=+—HILFE ' &7
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 7.82% per annum). (EROBEREFNRE6.28%(ZT_=4F : £
F&7.82%) °
(d) Balance by currency denomination (d) REYTHEWNER
The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are denominated REBERZ REEL T EBHE :
in the following currencies:
2024 2023
—E_NE —TE_=fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
HK$ BT 21,250 14,800
us$ E - 5,857
21,250 20,657
(¢)  Undrawn borrowing facilities (e) 12 AR IRE A8 TR A S 2R
The Group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities which are ANE B A T 51 id R 52 BR AT % (6 10 8H 0 fE R
unconditionally revocable (note 30): R & EE (M13E30) -
2024 2023
—EBEMEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Expiring within one year R—EREH 161,456 220,376
27 SHARE CAPITAL 27 B
2024 2023
“ECmE —T_=F
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
RAHE 8 RHEE £
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Issued and fully paid ERTRAR
At the beginning and the end of the year RENRER 1,000,000,000 281,507  1,000,000,000 281,507

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

BERD B AR -
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MisE R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Other reserve

Other reserve as at 31 December 2024 and
2023 represent the aggregate paid-in capital of
the subsidiaries acquired, offset by investment
costs in subsidiaries of the Company during the
reorganisation.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the
articles of association of those group companies
incorporated in the PRC, the group companies are
required to appropriate 10% of their profits after
tax, as determined in accordance with Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises and the
Accounting System for Business Enterprises and
other regulations applicable to group companies,
to the statutory surplus reserve until such reserve
reaches 50% of the registered capital of the group
companies. The appropriation to the reserve must
be made before any distribution of dividends to
holders of the group companies. The statutory
surplus reserve can be used to offset previous
years’ losses, if any, and part of the statutory
surplus reserve can be capitalised as the group
companies’ capital provided that the amount of
such reserve remaining after the capitalisation shall
not be less than 25% of the capital of the group
companies.

Revaluation reserve

Revaluation reserve as at 31 December 2024 and
2023 represent the revaluation of land and buildings
held by the Group.

Currency translation reserve

The currency translation reserve comprises the
exchange differences arising for the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations.

28 f#fE

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

REMBHRRME

H s

RZE_WNEFR-_FT_=F+_A
=+—HB Hth#ERESHEPEN
A B RAHT B A B HY I E Ak AN I 8
RIFTULBE I B A Rl B A AN AR -

EERE

RIE B R BDE R BRI
MEBQRMNAKEREAR  £E
RAEARBEB G 2 10% (1RE
CESFEAREESHHEAR
HtERREE AR RPImE )
RATBRBFEE EERWHEEER
HEMBRAZ50% 415 - {7 H) 83
RBERREBRARFAAST IR
BHIEL < AEBBRFHEFH ARE
HBEFEBE(WE) MBI
FAREZEERRBRANES @ H
RERNERBTHBARBEBEZED
BORERAN26% °

B4 E
RZBE-_MER-_ETE_=F+=A
=1+—HB EHFEFEEEGLAEE
HHH T RET o

E¥BRERE

EEREREERRERINEHN
I mRELNELER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

29

30

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENT TRANSACTION

Pursuant to a written resolution of the then shareholder
passed on 27 October 2017, the Company adopted a
Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”).

The Scheme is a share incentive scheme established to
recognise and acknowledge the contributions eligible
participants have made to the Group. The Scheme is valid
and effective for a period of ten years commencing on the
date of the adoption of the Scheme, unless terminated
earlier by the shareholders in a general meeting.

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme was 70,000,000
(2023: 70,000,000 shares), representing 7% (2023: 7%)
of the issued share capital of the Company.

No share options were granted, exercised or lapsed
under the Scheme during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

No share-based compensation expenses was charged to
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

BANKING FACILITIES

At 31 December 2024, the Group had banking facilities
totalling HK$182,794,000 (2023: HK$261,180,000)
granted by two banks (2023: three banks). These facilities
were secured by the land and building, certain financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss and restricted
bank deposits of the Group, and an indemnity for an
unlimited amount executed by the Company.

29

30

UIREZEERRORBERIRE
X%
RER-F—tF+ A=+ BRERR
RBBMEERER - D AR R
Al (MatE)) -

it 8l R — R BEE S - IAREM
BERERSEEHAEEMERRMMR
o ZEFEIBFABRRERRAE LIZR
R BRIA AT SIRA B RE+FHME
BRREMA

RZZE_WNF+=—A=+—H ' BIEZT
AT B TR A% 0 48 E5 70,000,000 i
— T~ =% :70,000,0000%) ' &R
NEIBBEITRAT%(ZZE_=F :7%) o

BE-_Z-_NWER T -_=F+_-A=+
—BIFE  BEBEREREZTEER
o BB R -

BEAR D AEBORHFETEEE -
—WE+ A=+ HBLEENGEEHE
WHmRHBR (= =F : ) o

RITRLE
RZZ_WNFE+—_A=+—H  ~"EE#%#
EHMRBPT(ZE==F : =RBPT)E
H4 182,794,000 T (=T = =4 :
261,180,000 7T ) ZHRITEE - %5l
BRI RETF BETRAFEF AR
RMESmEERASERNZRHERITER
A K2 FB AN A B 85 37 A # PR BB R (8 1R 9 o

TRIO INDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED | 2 T2 EF B AR A T



FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BT E R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 COMMITMENTS 31

(a)

(b)

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the
reporting period but not yet incurred is as follows:

7
(a)

REMBHRRME

BRI
RBEPRRETNEREENER
FsXanT

2024 2023
—EmEF —F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Property, plant and equipment VI - R RS 139 4,823

Lease commitments - as a lessee

The Group has recognised right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for all leases, except for short-term
leases with original lease term of less than one year.

The total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable leases for which no lease liabilities
have been recognised by the Group as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

(b)

MEEE-FEREBEA
AEECHAEHERRERESR
ENHERE  EIEERREHD
R—FNEHES -

R-FB_OER-_F_=F1+_A
=t—H ETAHEIEEZ
T AEEYEBRIEEABZR
R EHEEHATRMT

2024 2023
—E_F T =F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Within one year —FR 362 152

Annual Report 2024 FE R &

179



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

32 NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH 32 R&REBRME
FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash (a) BRBIAIGAEZEEELE 2HESHRE
generated from operations:

2024 2023
—EIWEF T =F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Cash flows from operating activities E&;EFBHMEBEESRE
Profit before income tax B P45 15 B A 7,347 57,445
Adjustments for: R R IEFE
Interest income A EWA (4,989) (1,331)
Dividend income A& B UA (141) (167)
Depreciation for property, plant Y - BEREETE
and equipment 16,108 13,693
Depreciation for right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 14,507 13,215
Finance expenses B 52 11,032 11,168
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BERF
plant and equipment Was (24) (12)
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment & 5 f& Wk B R E
loss on trade receivables BB () B (296) 1,466
Reversal of impairment loss on FEREEIERE
inventories (1,040) (8,251)
Obsolete inventories written off PRE T &R 109 1,182
Fair value (gain)/loss on financial BAFERT ABREED
assets at fair value through SRMEENATE
profit or loss (M), K8 (229) 127
Operating profit before working LEESEBERIN
capital changes g ) 42,384 88,535
Decrease in inventories FERL 66,789 45,670
Increase in trade and other B 5 N CH b e MR IB 2 AN
receivables (52,950) (3,287)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayment FENFRIBERIZS
and deposits (), m (4,135) 5,770
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B 5 R H A FERFIR
other payables #hn, Crd) 70,936 (35,398)
Increase/(decrease) in contract aHB &N, CRL)
liabilities 3,669 (21,549)
Net cash generated from operations E&5E &R 126,693 79,741
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BITSER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

32 NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH 32 BR&REXRKT(Z)
FLOWS (Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) BMETBHEL-EEYE:
financing activities:
Lease
liabilities Borrowings Total
HEER EE st
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT AT AT
Balance at 1 January 2023 W=2-=%-f-H
i3 105,934 20,970 126,904
Cash flows Ben
- Inflow from financing activities -BEEYREN - 70,005 70,005
- Qutflow from financing activities -BEEYRLTL (10,337) (70,327) (80,664)
- Outflow from operating activities ~@EEHPRETML (4,671) (1,621) (6,292)
Non-cash changes FREEY
Interest expense MER 4,671 1,621 6,292
Exchange differences ERER 841 9 850
Other non-cash items AR LHE 6,311 - 6,311
Balance at 31 December 2023 and RIBZ=FE+ZA=+-AK
1 January 2024 Z-mE-F-RMER 102,749 20,657 123,406
Cash flows Ben
- Inflow from financing activities —~BEFPHRLTA - 26,086 26,086
- Outflow from financing activities -BEEPRLTML (6,549) (25,500) (32,049)
- Qutflow from operating activities ~EEETHRE R (5,347) (1,330) (6,677)
Non-cash changes FhReE
Interest expense MEZH 5,347 1,330 6,677
Exchange differences EXER (51) 7 (44)
Other non-cash items Bt IR 43R 54,829 - 54,829
Balance at 31 December 2024 RIB-ME+ZA=t-H
e 150,978 21,250 172,228
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33 BEHARS
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries RATEEWB AR CHORZEREGE
have been eliminated on consolidation and are not ARE RS EMITEN AN AR E - R4
disclosed in this note. Save for those disclosed elsewhere SEMBEHRREMTPTHENARARTIN - AN
in this consolidated financial statements, details of EEHEEMEBE A BN SEEEEN
transactions between the Group and other related parties T

are disclosed below:

(@) Transactions with related party (a)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group entered into the following transaction with the
related party:

HEBENRS
REBEE-_Z-_NMF+-_A=+—H
WHFE > AEBEBEH AT
X5

2024 2023

—B-NEF ZEZ=F

Relationship Nature of transaction HK$’000 HK$'000

2RES RIHE FHET FAT
The spouse of one of the controlling Consultancy fees

shareholders of the Company 2,011 -

AR B H B — B EBBIR AR B

The fees paid to the related party are made on
normal commercial terms and conditions.

(b) Key management compensation (b)

Members of key management during the year
comprised the directors and chief executive whose
remunerations are set out in note 10(f) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BITSER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 34 AATRMBEMRARKFEES
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE

COMPANY
2024 2023
“EolmE S
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
/13 FET FET
(Restatead, note 37)
(&5 - Mi237)
Assets BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries RITB A B MR E 20 147,372 145,182
Amount due from a subsidiary [EM—RKTB A RIFIA 96,873 121,001
244,245 266,183
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and deposits B FERES 345 219
Other receivable Efp A 8,002 2
Amount due from a subsidiary FEM—RKTB A RIFRIA 11,986 4,986
Tax recoverable A g E IR 190 204
Financial assets at fair value through BATER ABERL
profit or loss SREE 1,445 1,475
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBREEEY 41,149 27,291
________________________________________________________________________________________ L 11
Current liabilities BB E
Trade and other payables B REMENTUR 2,822 4,180
2,822 4,180
iEletwomesees  WRERN S0 2T
Net assets BEFE 304,540 296,180
Equity i
Share capital e 27 281,507 281,507
Reserve f#fE (@ 23,033 14,673
Total equity ERAE 304,540 296,180
The statement of financial position of the Company was AR BERAREAESTER T =
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 AF=A=+/\BH#E  WHUTESER
and was signed on its behalf REFTOHE
Wong Sze Chai Tai Leung Lam
EE2E HEM
Director Director
EE EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 34 XA G BURARXRREESD

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE (%)
COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Reserve movement of the Company (a) AATFFEEEE
Retained
profits
RE SRR
Note HK$ 000
Kzt FET
As 31 December 2023 R_E_=F+-_A=+—H 14,673
Profit for the year F N 8,360
As 31 December 2024 RZZE-_WF+=-A=+—H 23,033
As 31 December 2022 RZE-_—F+-A=+—H 33,058
Profit for the year FRE ) 1,615
Dividend paid Eﬁﬁ“ g 14 (20,000)
As 31 December 2023 —E-=F+-A=+—H 14,673
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BITSER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35 f£® I A-REFES

As at 31 December 2024 R-E-_MmME+=-_HA=+—H
Financial
assets at Financial
amortised assets
cost at FVPL Total
08 £ WIS BATE
sTEM sFAERE
EREE NeEMEE #mst
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Financial assets at fair value R A FEFT ABZERA
through the profit or loss CREE - 3,832 3,832
Trade and other receivables B 5 [ H fth FE I8 255,810 - 255,810
Deposits e 6,383 - 6,383
Restricted bank deposits R EIRITER 15,392 - 15,392
Cash and cash equivalents B & KRIREZED 141,144 - 141,144
Total f@st 418,729 3,832 422,561
Financial
liabilities at
Lease amortised
liabilities cost Total
RE R AR
SFEM
HESE cRAE st
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Trade and other B 5 REMER
payables (note) A (FFzE) - 187,398 187,398
Borrowings B - 21,250 21,250
Lease liabilities ME&E 150,978 - 150,978
Total HEET 150,978 208,648 359,626
Note: Biat -
The amount excluding from trade and other payables mainly represents THABS R EMENZIBNSCHEEEIEGTS MEM
the accrual for salaries and other employee benefit costs. EERAKANESER o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERME

35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2023

35 EMTA-RERES (F)

R=2==%t=A=t-—-AH

Financial
assets at Financial
amortised assets
cost at FVPL Total
24 5 A AR BAFE
FTER AR
TRIEE e EE HRET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Financial assets at fair value BAFERT ABEERD
through the profit or loss TREE - 3,603 3,603
Trade and other receivables B 5 I E th & WA 202,564 - 202,564
Deposits i 4,613 - 4,613
Restricted bank deposits ZPRHIRITER 16,543 - 16,543
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEEY 60,949 = 60,949
Total st 284,669 3,603 288,272
Financial
liabilities at
Lease amortised
liabilities cost Total
REESE A AR
L
REAE SRAE st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAFERFIA
(note) (FF5E) = 114,759 114,759
Borrowings B - 20,657 20,657
Lease liabilities HEBE 102,749 - 102,749
Total HEt 102,749 135,416 238,165
Note: Kia? -

The amount excluding from trade and other payables mainly represents

the accrual for salaries and other employee benefit costs.

THABZ R EMENFAN SR RETF R
RERARAHETEM
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BT E R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2024 in respect of:

A PRC subsidiary of the Company is currently involved in
labour disputes with certain former employees regarding
compensation for the termination of their employment
contracts. The Company has sought legal advice from
law firms in the PRC, which indicates that it is likely
the judgment will be in favour of the Group. Therefore,
no provision has been recognised in relation to these
disputes. The potential undiscounted amount of total
payments that the Group would be required to make in
the event of adverse decisions related to these lawsuits is
estimated to be approximately HK$6.0 million.

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities
as at 31 December 2023.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain amounts in the consolidated financial statements
of prior year have been reclassified to conform to current
year presentations:

o Reclassification of reversal of impairment loss on
inventories in the amount of HK$8,251,000 from
“Other operating income, net” to “Cost of sales” to
fairly present its nature.

o Reclassification of obsolete inventories written off in
the amount of HK$1,182,000 from “Other operating
income, net” to “Cost of sales” to fairly present its
nature.

o Reclassification of unlisted fund investments in the
amount of HK$1,475,000 from non-current portion
to current portion of “Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss” to fairly present its nature.

In the opinion of the Board, the reclassifications made to
the comparative figures have no significant impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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REMBHRRME

HAEE
R-ZZE-_WFE+-_A=+—H ' ~&EEH
ABENT :

ARE—RKFT KB AR B AT ERE T A
BERKLIEBANMBERLELSEY
9 o RRBE MR ENRMEEHAE
SOERRBR  WARBRRPHARGRR
AIREAMNAKE - Hitt - NEEIL K5
A E M TER R - MEBEEZFTRD
BRZAMRANEENER  AEEE

6,000,000/ 7T °

R-EBE-_=F+-"HA=+—H8 K&EBET
EEABEARARERE -

BB

BEFERAMBRRTNETEHECE
Mo WERNEREN2577 RE—
B o

s  HKEEREFIERES,251,000/8 7T
HIEMEERAFRIBERORE
[HERA]  URTF2HHEME -

o BIREFEMEE 1,182,000 7T A
[HithiE WA RE I ETo BRI
ERA| - URAF2F|HEE -

o WBIEEMESLIRE,475,0008 T
HIRAFEFABSEENSRE
EIRERBBOEN D AR R0
D ARAFEHNHEES -

EEER5 HUBEFETER RS

ERNEAMBRELBEALE -
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EFEMBHME
For the year ended 31 December
BE+t-HA=1+—-HLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EoNE —E-=F —E-—F —T-—F —T-TF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
Results E
Revenue Y zs 1,007,545 1,160,211 978,103 744,067 701,699
Profit/(loss) before income tax ~ BRFS R ANRFI/ (Ei8) 7,347 57,445 55,879 (15,495) 37,695
Income tax (expense)/credit FrisH (X)), #H& 1,211 (10,296) (10,461) 4,911 (8,814)
Profit/(loss) for the year FRmA,/ (EE) 8,558 47,149 45,418 (10,584) 28,881
Attributable to: 1 -
Owners of the Company ARREBA 8,558 47,149 45,418 (10,584) 28,881
As at 31 December
R+t=B=+—~H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EoME —T-o=F —E-—F —TE-—F —_TE-EF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FEr FEr FETL FEr
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Total assets BESE 817,690 682,770 723,516 601,614 543,717
Total liabilities BERHE (400,153)  (272,035)  (339,651) (256,947) (178,912)
Net assets BEFE 417,537 410,735 383,865 344,667 364,805
Equity attributable to owners RARIEA ANEGER
of the Company 417,537 410,735 383,865 344,667 364,805
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Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited

BETEXETFREARLF

BlockJ, 5/F., Phase Il, Kaiser Estate, 51 Man Yue Street,
Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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